This electronic thesis or dissertation has been downloaded from the King's Research Portal at https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/



Optimisation of Neonatal Ventilation

Shetty, Sandeep Krishnanand

Awarding institution: King's College London

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement.

END USER LICENCE AGREEMENT



Unless another licence is stated on the immediately following page this work is licensed

under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International

licence. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

You are free to copy, distribute and transmit the work

Under the following conditions:

- Attribution: You must attribute the work in the manner specified by the author (but not in any way that suggests that they endorse you or your use of the work).
- Non Commercial: You may not use this work for commercial purposes.
- No Derivative Works You may not alter, transform, or build upon this work.

Any of these conditions can be waived if you receive permission from the author. Your fair dealings and other rights are in no way affected by the above.

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact <u>librarypure@kcl.ac.uk</u> providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



Optimisation of Neonatal Ventilation

Thesis Submitted King's College London University of London

Dr Sandeep Krishnanand Shetty

KCL Student Number 1511669 Division of Asthma, Allergy and Lung Biology King's College London

Primary Supervisor

Professor Anne Greenough

Secondary Supervisor

Dr Gerrard Rafferty

Abstract

Background: Survival of neonates requiring respiratory support has improved over the last two decades, but unfortunately many suffer morbidity from ventilator related complications.

Aim: To undertake a series of studies using physiological measurements as outcomes in infants with evolving or established bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) to test the following hypotheses and carry out a national survey.

Hypotheses: Proportional assist ventilation (PAV) compared to assist control ventilation (ACV) would improve oxygenation as assessed by the oxygenation index (OI). Neurally adjusted ventilatory assist (NAVA) compared to ACV would improve oxygenation. Use of heated, humidified, high flow nasal cannula (HHFNC) would not have increased given the results of recent randomised trials. Continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) would reduce the work of breathing (WOB) and thoracoabdominal asynchrony (TAA) and improve oxygen saturation (SaO₂) compared to HHFNC.

Methods: Four studies were undertaken. The OI was calculated from measurement of blood gases and the level of respiratory support. A survey was undertaken of lead practitioners in all UK neonatal units. The WOB was assessed by measurement of the pressure time product of the diaphragm (PTPdi) and TAA using respiratory inductance plethysmography (RIP). Results: The OI was lower on PAV compared to ACV (p = 0.012) and on NAVA compared to ACV (p=0.0007). The survey demonstrated HHFNC was used in 56% of units in 2012 and 87% in 2015 (p=<0.001). There were no significant differences in the WOB, TAA or SaO₂ on CPAP versus HHFNC.

Conclusions: PAV and NAVA may be beneficial in infants with evolving or established BPD. Use of HHFNC has significantly increased in UK neonatal units. In infants with evolving or established BPD, CPAP compared to HHFNC offered no significant advantage and in infants who required respiratory support beyond 34 weeks post menstrual age (PMA).

Declaration

The statistical analysis for the RCT described in Chapters 3 and 4 was carried out by Professor Janet Peacock; I thank her for her assistance in this regard. Dr Katie Hunt provided assistance with measurement of three of the nine patients in Chapter 4 and helped with administration of the electronic survey described in Chapter 5. Dr Adesh Sunderesan provided assistance with some of the telephone calls in the survey described in Chapter 5. Otherwise, all the work described in this thesis is my own.

Acknowledgement

First of all, I am very grateful to my supervisor, Professor Anne Greenough, for being inspirational and supportive throughout this project. She was always there when I needed and provided invaluable guidance throughout my career even after I finished my research with her. I am extremely grateful to Dr Gerrard Rafferty, my second supervisor, who helped me understand the physiological measurements.

I would like to extend my special thanks to Professor Anthony Milner who has acted as my third supervisor. His exceptional knowledge in the field of respiratory physiology and his way of thinking are secondary to none. He has been a great inspiration.

I thank my family including my parents, especially my wife, Srinidhi, for all the understanding and for being patient with me throughout this endeavor.

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to the parents of the babies who participated in the studies and to the medical and nursing staff of King's College Hospital Neonatal Intensive Care Unit, for supporting this research.

Publications from this thesis (Appendix A3)

Proportional assist versus assist control ventilation

S Shetty, P Bhat, A Hickey, JL Peacock, AD Milner, A Greenough - Eur J Pediatr (2016) 175:57–61.

Crossover study of assist control ventilation and neutrally adjusted ventilatory assist

S Shetty, K Hunt, J Peacock, K Ali, A Greenough - Eur J Pediatr (2017)176:509-513.

Neurally adjusted ventilatory assist compared to other forms of triggered ventilation for neonatal respiratory support.

Rossor TE, Hunt KA, **Shetty S**, Greenough A - Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2017, Issue 10.

Changes in use of heated humidified high flow nasal cannula oxygen (HHFNC)

S Shetty, Sundaresan A, Hunt K, Desai P, A Greenough - Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2016; 101:F371-F372.

Work of breathing during CPAP and heated humidified high flow nasal cannula

S Shetty, A Hickey, GF Rafferty, JL Peacock, A Greenough - Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2016; 101:F404–F407.

Neonatal ventilation strategies and long-term respiratory outcomes

S Shetty, A Greenough. Early Hum Dev. 2014; 90(11):735-9.

Review finds insufficient evidence to support the routine use of heated, humidified high-flow nasal cannula use in neonates.

S Shetty, A Greenough. ActaPaediatr. 2014; 103(9):898-903.

Contents

1	Intro	duction	
	1.1	Background	
	1.1.1	Historical perspective	
	1.2	Bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD)	
	1.2.1	Introduction	
	1.2.2	Prevalence of BPD	21
	1.2.3	Pathogenesis of BPD	22
	1.2.4	Defining BPD	
	1.2.5	Risk Factors for BPD	
	1.2	2.5.1 Prenatal Risk Factors	
		1.2.5.1.1 Intrauterine growth restriction	29
		1.2.5.1.2 Chorioamnionitis	
		1.2.5.1.3 Genetics	
	1.2	2.5.2 Risk Factors At Birth	
		1.2.5.2.1 Gestational age	
		1.2.5.2.2 Gender	
	1.2	2.5.3 Postnatal Risk Factors	
		1.2.5.3.1 Supplementary oxygen	
		1.2.5.3.2 Permissive Hypercapnia	
		1.2.5.3.3 Patent ductus arteriosus	
		1.2.5.3.4 Infection and Inflammation	
		1.2.5.3.5 Postnatal corticosteroids	
	1.2.6	Long-term Outcome	40
	1.2	2.6.1 Re-hospitalisation	40
	1.2	2.6.2 Respiratory symptoms	41
	1.2	2.6.3 Pulmonary function	42
	1.2	2.6.1 Pulmonary Hypertension	
	1.3	Ventilator-induced lung injury (VILI)	46
	1.3.1	Barotrauma	46

1.3.2	Volutrauma	
1.3.3	Atelectotrauma	
1.3.4	Biotrauma	51
1.4 Neon	natal ventilation strategies	
1.4.1	Invasive ventilation	
1.4.1.1	Volume targeted ventilation	
1.4.1.2	High-Frequency Oscillation	55
1.4.1.3	Patient triggered ventilation (PTV)	57
1.4.1 SIV)	1.3.1 Assist control and synchronised intermittent ventilation	n (AC and 57
1.4.1	1.3.2 Pressure support ventilation (PSV)	
1.4.1	1.3.3 Proportional assist ventilation (PAV)	59
1.4.1	1.3.4 Neurally adjusted ventilatory assist (NAVA)	60
1.4.2	Non-invasive respiratory support	62
1.4.2.1	Continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP)	63
1.4.2	2.1.1 Methods of CPAP generation	65
1.4.2	2.1.2 CPAP delivery	66
1.4.2.2	Heated Humidified High Flow Nasal Cannula (HHFNC)	67
1.4.2	2.2.1 Distending pressures generated by HHFNC	68
1.4.2	2.2.2 Work of breathing (WOB) and HHFNC	70
1.4.2	2.2.3 The efficacy of HHFNC compared to CPAP	71
1.5 Outc	come measures	72
1.5.1	Assessment of work of breathing	73
1.5.2	Assessment of the diaphragmatic pressure time product	74
1.5.3	Thoracoabdominal asynchrony	75
1.5.4	Blood gases	
1.6 Нуро	otheses	79
1.7 Aim		80
2 Chapter 2	2: Methods	
2.1 Over	rview of protocols and ethical approval	
2.1.1	Randomised crossover study comparing PAV with ACV	
2.1.2	Randomised crossover study comparing NAVA with ACV	
2.1.3	Survey to evaluate current practice regarding the use of HHF	NC in all
United K	ingdom neonatal units	

	2.1.	4 Co	mparison of WOB between CPAP and HHFNC in infants with	
	evo	lving BP	D	84
2	2.2	Equipm	ent	85
	2.2.	1 Blo	od gas analysis	85
	2.2.	2 Con	mparison of WOB between CPAP and HHFNC in infants with	
	evo	lving BP	D	86
	2	.2.2.1	Measurement of airway flow and pressure	86
	2	.2.2.2	Linearity of the pneumotachograph	86
	2 tr	.2.2.4 ansdiaph	Measurement of intrathoraic, intra-abdominal and ragmatic pressure	89
	2	.2.2.5	Calibration	90
	2	.2.2.6	Frequency response	92
	2	.2.2.7	Data acquisition and storage	95
	2	.2.2.8	Measurement of thoraco-abdominal asynchrony	95
		2.2.2.8.	1 Analysis of TAA waveforms	96
	2	.2.2.9	Transdiaphragmatic pressure time product (PTPdi)	99
2	2.3	Statistic	al analysis	105
2	2.4	Random	lisation	105
3	Cha	pter 3: R	andomised crossover trial of PAV versus ACV	106
3	8.1	Introduc	ction	107
3	3.2	Method	s	108
	3.2.	1 Pro	tocol	108
	3.2.	2 Sar	nple size	111
	3.2.	3 Sta	tistical analysis	111
3	8.3	Results	-	112
3	8.4	Discuss	ion	118
4	Cha	pter 4: N	leurally adjusted ventilatory assist (NAVA) in very prematurely	y
bor	n infa	ants with	evolving BPD	120
4	.1	Introduc	ction	121
4	1.2	Method	s	122
	4.2.	1 Pro	tocol	122
	4.2.	2 Sar	nple size	124
	4.2.	3 Sta	tistical analysis	124
4	1.3	Results		125

4.4	Dis	scussion	
5 Ch (HHFN	apter	5: Changes in use of heated humidified high flow nasal ca	nnula oxygen 134
5.1	Inti	roduction	
5.2	Me	thods	
5.2	2.1	Statistical analysis	
5.3	Res	sults	
5.4	Dis	scussion	
6 Ch	apter	6: Work of breathing during CPAP and heated humidified	high flow
nasal ca	annul	a	
6.1	Inti	roduction:	
6.2	Me	thods	
6.2	2.1	Protocol	
6.2	2.2	Sample size	
6.2	2.3	Statistical Analysis	
6.2	2.4	Results	
6.3	Dis	scussion	147
7 Ch	apter	7: Discussion	
7.1	Sur	mmary and current literature	
7.1	.1	Invasive ventilation studies (PAV and NAVA)	
7.1	.2	Non-invasive ventilation studies	
7.2	Str	engths and weaknesses of the studies	
7.2	2.1	Invasive ventilation studies (PAV and NAVA)	
7.2	2.2	Non-invasive ventilation studies	
7.3	Fut	ure work	
7.4	Co	nclusions	
Refe	rence	s	
Appe	endice	es	
A1.1	Patie	ent information sheet and Consent form for Chapter 3	
A 1.2	2 Pati	ent information sheet and Consent form for Chapter 4	
A 1.3	3 Sur	vey Questionnaire in Chapter 5	
A 1.4	4 Pati	ent information sheet and Consent form for Chapter 6	
A3 F	Public	cations arising from this thesis	

List of tables

Table 1-1: Diagnostic classification of BPD into mild, moderate and sever	e based on
gestational age and respiratory support requirement	27
Table 3-1: Oxygenation index results by ventilator mode	113
Table 3-2: Comparison by ventilator mode (n=8)	116
Table 3-3: Comparison by PAV ventilator mode used first (n=5)	117
Table 3-4: Comparison by ACV ventilator mode used first (n=3)	117
Table 4-1: Results by ventilatory mode	127
Table 4-2: Results by ventilatory mode	130
Table 5-1: HHFNC practice in 2012 and 2015	137
Table 5-2: Preference for CPAP or HHFNC	138
Table 6-1: Demographic data	146
Table 6-2: Physiological assessment results by respiratory support mode	146

List of Figures

Figure 1-1 Histopathology of Old (A) and New (B) BPD	24
Figure 1-2: Stages of lung development, potentially damaging factors, and types of	of
lung injury.	28
Figure 1-3: Schematic representation of the gastric and oesophageal pressure char	nge
	74
Figure 1-4: Complete synchronous motion of the rib cage and the abdomen	76
Figure 1-5: Complete asynchronous motion of the rib cage and the abdomen	76
Figure 1-6: Lissajous figures demonstrating various degrees of asynchronous mot	ion
of the rib cage and the abdomen	77
Figure 2-1: Linearity of flow system	87
Figure 2-2: Linearity of Comark Pressure meter against a water manometer	
(mmH ₂ O)	88
Figure 2-3: Linearity of oesophageal transducer	90
Figure 2-4: Linearity of gastric transducer	91
Figure 2-5: The response to a sudden decrease in pressure associated with	94
Figure 2-6: A trace demonstrating an asynchronous motion of the rib cage (RC) a	nd
the abdomen (AB) wherein the RC and AB motion are out of phase by 45 degrees	5.
'm' is the width of the figure at mid RC excursion, and 's' is the width representing	ng
AB excursion	97
Figure 2-7: Lissajous figures and their respective phase angles (θ) demonstrating	
various degrees of asynchronous motion of the rib cage and the abdomen	98
Figure 2-8: Trace obtained from an infant showing Pgas, Pes, chest and abdomen	
signals obtained when infant was measured on CPAP mode. The shaded area dep	icts
calculation of PTPdi which was obtained from the area subtended by the Pdi trace	e
during inspiration.	100
Figure 2-9: A diagram representing the calculation of PTPdi during inspiration	100
Figure 2-10: NAVA - Edi Catheter	103
Figure 2-11: Edi catheter positioning screen. Correct placement of the nasogastric	2
tube shows the retrocardiac electrocardiogram (ECG) signal progressing from large	ge p
and QRS complexes in the upper leads to small or absent complexes in the lower	
leads	104
Figure 3-1: Box plot oxygenation index results by ventilator mode	114
Figure 3-2: Box plot Mean airway pressure results by ventilator mode	115
Figure 4-1: Individual OI data at the end of each mode	128
Figure 4-2 OI data when infants randomised to ACV mode first	129
Figure 4-3 OI data when infants randomised to NAVA mode first	129

Abbreviations used in this thesis

AC	Assist Control
ACV	Assist Control Ventilation
B/min	Beats per minute
BAL	Broncho alveolar Lavage
BAPM	British Association of Perinatal Medicine
BIPAP	Bi-level nasal CPAP
BOOST	Benefits of Oxygen Saturation Trials
BPD	Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia
BW	Birth Weight
CAP	Caffeine for Apnoea of Prematurity
Cdyn	Dynamic Compliance
CGA	Corrected Gestational Age
CI	Confidence Interval
CLD	Chronic Lung Disease
CMV	Continous Mandatory Ventilation
СОТ	Canadian Oxygen Trial
СР	Cerebral Palsy
СРАР	Continuous Positive Airway Pressure
CPS	Canadian Paediatric Society
Edi	Diaphragm Electrical Activity
EELV	End-Expiratory Lung Volumes
ELBW	Extremely Low Birth Weight
ELGAN	Extremely Low Gestational Age New born
ETT	Endotracheal Tube
FEV1	Forced expiratory volume in one second

FiO ₂	Fraction of inspired oxygen
FRC	Functional Residual Capacity
FVC	Forced Vital Capacity
g	grams
GA	Gestational Age
GWAS	Genome wide association studies
H2O	Water
HFOV	High Frequency Oscillatory Ventilation
HFV	High Frequency Ventilation
HHFNC	Heated, Humidified, High Flow Nasal Cannula
HR	Heart rate
Hz	Hertz
i.e.	id est (that is)
ICAM-1	Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1
IL	Interleukin
IVH	Intraventricular Haemorrhage
Kfc	Capillary Filtration Coefficient
Kg	Kilogram
L	Litre
LOS	Length of Hospital Stay
MAP	Mean Airway Pressure
MD	Mean Difference
μV	Microvolt
min	minute
mls	Millilitres
MV	Mechanical Ventilation

NAVA	Neurally Adjusted Ventilatory Assist
nCPAP	nasal CPAP
NEC	Necrotising Enterocolitis
NHLBI	National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute
NICHD	National Institute of Child Health and Human Development
NIH	National Institutes of Health
NIPPV	Non-invasive positive pressure ventilation
NIV	Non-invasive ventilation
NIV-NAVA	Non-invasive Neurally Adjusted Ventilator Assist
NNAP	National Neonatal Audit Programme
IO	Oxygenation Index
OR	Odds Ratio
ORD	Office of Rare Diseases
РАН	Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension
PAV	Proportional Assist Ventilation
PDA	Patent Ductus Arteriosus
Pdi	Trans-diaphragmatic pressure
PEEP	Positive End-Expiratory Pressure
Pes	Oesophageal Pressure
PFT's	Pulmonary Function Tests
Pgas	Gastric pressure
рН	Power of Hydrogen
РН	Pulmonary Hypertension
Pinf	Inflection Point
PIP	Peak Inflation Pressure

PLV	Pressure-limited ventilation
РМА	Postmenstrual age
PNA	Postnatal age
PS	Pressure Support
PSV	Pressure Support Ventilation
РТР	Pressure Time Product
PTPdi	Trans-diaphragmatic Pressure-Time Product
PTV	Patient triggered ventilation
PVL	Periventricular Leukomalacia
RCT	Randomised Controlled Trial
RDS	Respiratory Distress Syndrome
RIP	Respiratory Inductive Plethysmography
ROP	Retinopathy of prematurity
RR	Relative Risk
RR	Respiratory rate
RV	Residual Volume
SaO ₂	Oxygen Saturation
SD	Standard Deviation
SIMV	Synchronised Intermittent Mandatory Ventilation
SIV	Synchronised Intermittent Ventilation
SNP	Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms
SUPPORT	Surfactant, Positive Pressure and Oxygenation Randomisation Trial
TAA	Thoraco-Abdominal Asynchrony
TIPP	Trial of Indomethacin Prophylaxis in Preterm
TLC	Total Lung Capacity

Chapter 1: Introduction

Introduction

1.1 Background

1.1.1 Historical perspective

In the mid-sixteenth century the anatomist and physician, Andreas Vesalius, applied positive pressure ventilation to keep the lungs inflated during dissection of the thorax (Vesalius, 1543). It had become evident to the anatomist that it was only necessary now and then to blow a little air into the lung of an animal with an opened thorax to keep it alive for some time. Robert Hooke went on to describe (Davis, 1665), the prolonged preservation of life in an open-chested dog by artificial ventilation. He showed that a dog could be allowed to 'die' and be revived repeatedly by continually inflating the lungs with bellows attached to the trachea.

In 1889, Alexander Graham Bell designed and built a body-type respirator for use in new born infants (Stern et al., 1970), but this was met with little enthusiasm and the apparatus was probably never used. The tank-type respirator designed by Drinker in 1929 was used successfully in twenty-one of thirty-five new born infants for resuscitation of asphyxia at birth by Murphy and his colleagues in 1931(Shaw et al., 1931). Most of the unsuccessful attempts were in premature babies. In 1950 Alan Bloxsom invented the Bloxsom air-lock for new born resuscitation in which the infant was enclosed and the box filled with oxygen. The pressure inside was slowly cycled (Bloxsom, 1950). There followed 60 years of experimental work with individuals designing their own home-made apparatus to assist in the artificial ventilation of new born infants. Examples include the work of Ian Donald and his

18

collaborators. In a series of articles (Donald and Lord, 1953, Donald, 1954), they described early models of the servo-controlled respirator, designed to augment the ventilation of new born infants both acutely and over a period of time (Donald and Lord, 1953, Donald, 1954). During this era poliomyelitis was epidemic, and the resultant respiratory muscle weakness and bulbar respiratory failure was often successfully treated with tank-type negative pressure ventilators of the Drinker design or by manually delivered continuous positive pressure through an endotracheal tube or tracheostomy. Many polio patients were weaned to a negative pressure chest cuirass or to a foot-tilt rocking bed as they improved (Lassen, 1953). By 1957, Professor Donald reported treatment of 151 new born infants with his successive respirator models, and 50 survived, "A large number of which were under three pounds, and even under two pounds" (Donald et al., 1958).

It was not until 1971 that Gregory (Gregory et al., 1971), an anaesthesiologist, developed a method of delivering constant distending airway pressure to the new born lung through an endotracheal tube. This system had the possibility of maintaining open terminal airways at end expiration, thereby avoiding atelectasis when surfactant was deficient and maximising ventilation-to-perfusion ratios. The risks of prolonged use of high inspired oxygen concentrations and high peak airway pressures were thereby often averted. This concept was added to both positive and negative ventilator use, and was further modified by Bancalari who designed a constant distending negative pressure chest cuirass (Bancalari et al., 1973) and by Kattwinkle who developed nasal prongs to avoid the use of an endotracheal tube when a ventilator was not needed (Kattwinkel et al., 1973). Ventilators have now been successively modified and designed to support even in very prematurely born infants.

19

1.2 Bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD)

1.2.1 Introduction

Recent estimates of preterm birth rates (all live births before 37 completed weeks) for 184 countries in 2010 and a time series for 65 countries with sufficient data suggest that 14.9 million (uncertainty range: 12.3 - 18.1 million) babies were born preterm in 2010 (Blencowe et al., 2012). Bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) is a chronic lung disease (CLD) that most commonly occurs in premature infants who have needed mechanical ventilation (MV) and oxygen therapy for acute respiratory distress (Northway et al., 1967, Jobe and Bancalari, 2001, Bancalari et al., 1979), but can also occur in immature infants who have had few signs of initial lung disease (Jobe, 2011). The clinical, radiological, and pathological features of BPD were first described more than five decades ago (Northway et al., 1967). BPD was then seen in moderately prematurely born infants with severe respiratory distress syndrome who had been treated with high inspired oxygen concentrations (Northway et al., 1967). Despite advances in the prevention and management of respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) (including the widespread use of antenatal steroids and surfactant treatment), BPD is the most common adverse outcome of extreme prematurity and hence the prime focus in my thesis involving preterm infants only.

1.2.2 Prevalence of BPD

BPD in the United States occurs in 10,000 to 15,000 infants annually, including approximately 50% of infants with birth weight less than 1000 g (Stoll et al., 2010, Martin et al., 2013). The Israeli Neonatal Network reported outcomes for all very low birth weight infants (VLBW; birth weight < 1500 g) born in Israel between 2000 and 2010 who survived to 36 weeks PMA (n =12,139) (Klinger et al., 2013). Based on the need for supplemental oxygen at 36 weeks PMA, 13.7% of VLBW and 31% of Extremely low birth weight (ELBW) infants met the diagnostic criteria (Klinger et al., 2013). In the Canadian and Japanese Neonatal Networks, rates of BPD by NICHD criteria for surviving VLBW infants were 12.3% and 14.6% between 2006 and 2008 respectively (Isayama et al., 2012).

In the Vermont Oxford Network (VON), yearly rates of BPD for VLBW infants ranged from 26.2% to 30.4% between 2000 and 2009 (n=305,770) (Horbar et al., 2012). In ten European regions, rates of BPD ranged between 10.5% and 21.5% for infants born less than 32 weeks gestation in 2003 (Zeitlin et al., 2008). While some reports indicate BPD rates are beginning to decline, the majority of studies suggest that rates remained stable or are even increasing, possibly due to increased survival of the highest risk infants (Smith et al., 2005, Fanaroff et al., 2007, Stoll et al., 2010, Stroustrup and Trasande, 2010, Botet et al., 2012, Horbar et al., 2012). Results of the EPICure study indicated no change in rates of BPD between 1995 and 2006 for infants born between 22 and 26 weeks gestation (Costeloe et al., 2012). Hence, this is an important group to study to see if newer strategies have indeed made a difference.

1.2.3 Pathogenesis of BPD

BPD, as it was initially described by Northway in the 1960s, was based on clinical and radiographic evidence of pulmonary disease in moderately to late premature infants with a history of RDS prior to utilisation of surfactant-replacement therapy (Northway et al., 1967). Radiography of these infants showed areas of heterogeneity throughout the lung fields and coarse scattered opacities in the most severely affected of infants (Bancalari and Gerhardt, 1986). Classic BPD was characterised by lung inflammation, airway injury secondary to interstitial and alveolar fluid overload, lung parenchyma fibrosis due to hyperinflation and the development of small airways disease, smooth-muscle hypertrophy, and oxidative stress (Baraldi and Filippone, 2007, Cerny et al., 2008). High ventilator pressures and inspired oxygen levels in addition to lack of antenatal steroids and postnatal surfactant, were largely responsible for the development of classic BPD (Figure1-1).

There is now growing recognition that infants with BPD after premature birth have a different clinical course and pathology than had been recorded before surfactant was used (Charafeddine et al., 1999, Rojas et al., 1995). The classic progressive stages with prominent fibroproliferation that first characterised BPD are generally less striking now and the disease is now predominantly defined by a disruption of distal lung growth, and has been termed the "new BPD"(Jobe, 1999) (Figure1-1). Unlike the original form of the disease, this "new" form often develops in preterm newborns who may have needed little or no ventilatory support, and have had low inspired oxygen concentrations during the early postnatal days (Charafeddine et al., 1999, Rojas et al., 1995). Animal studies suggest that the histology of "new" BPD shows more diffuse disease, fewer areas of hyperinflation, a reduction in alveoli and

22

capillaries, but little fibrosis (Coalson et al., 1995, Jobe, 1999). At autopsy, the lung histology of these infants with the new form has regions of more uniform and milder injury, but impaired alveolar and vascular growth remain prominent (Coalson, 2006) (Figure1-1). The chest radiograph appearance of new BPD, that is small volume, hazy lung fields, is very different from the cystic abnormalities and interstitial fibrosis seen in "old" BPD. As a consequence, lung function abnormalities are likely to differ according to whether an infant is developing old or new BPD.

Although the pathogenesis of the 'new BPD' remains unclear, much evidence suggests that this form of chronic respiratory failure reflects abnormal growth and repair of the immature lung exposed to the continuous stress of repetitive inflation with oxygen rich gas in a setting of chronic inflammation, often aggravated by recurrent infection (Pierce and Bancalari, 1995, Zimmerman, 1995). Studies have shown an increase in the number of neutrophils, macrophages and neutrophil-derived elastase activity in liquid suctioned from the airways of infants with acute RDS who later acquire BPD (Ferreira et al., 2000). Studies have also showed that elastase inhibitory capacity and 1-protease inhibitor activity are reduced, as is secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor (Watterberg et al., 1994), in infants with evolving BPD compared to infants without BPD. The reported association of maternal chorioamnionitis and early lung inflammation in infants with subsequent BPD (Watterberg et al., 1996) led to the notion that BPD sometimes may have a prenatal inflammatory origin (Yoon et al., 1997, Gomez et al., 1998, Jobe, 1999).

23



Figure 1-1 Histopathology of Old (A) and New (B) BPD

(Figure adapted from The New BPD: an arrest of lung development, (Jobe, 1999))

1.2.4 Defining BPD

The definition of BPD has continued to evolve since Northway et al. (Northway et al., 1967) reported lung damage as a result of prolonged mechanical ventilation in premature infants with severe RDS. In 1969 (Pusey et al., 1969), Pusey et al described diffuse interstitial fibroplasia associated with mechanical ventilation in newborns including patients without RDS. There was no clear relationship demonstrated between the use of high oxygen concentration and BPD, thus suggesting barotrauma as the primary cause (Pusey et al., 1969). Further definitions of clinical BPD have included supplemental oxygen requirement at 28 days postnatal age (Kraybill et al., 1989, Sinkin et al., 1990) and 36 weeks postmenstrual age (PMA) (Shennan et al., 1988, Marshall et al., 1999).

In 2000, a workshop sponsored by the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD), National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI), and Office of Rare Diseases (ORD) proposed the current National Institutes of Health (NIH) consensus definition of BPD (Jobe and Bancalari, 2001). This definition used supplemental oxygen requirement for 28 days and then identified three grades of severity, dependent on the respiratory support required at either 36 weeks postmenstrual age (PMA) or at discharge for those born at less than 32 weeks gestation or at 56 days of life or discharge for those born at more than 32 weeks gestation (Jobe and Bancalari, 2001) (Table 1-1). This definition was validated preliminarily with the NICHD Neonatal Network database and data from Palta et al. (Palta et al., 2000) and is thought to more accurately identify the risk of adverse outcomes than previous definitions (Jobe and Bancalari, 2001). The definition includes a few additional features. First, a day of treatment with supplemental oxygen was defined as 12 hours or more of supplementary oxygen exposure. Second, infants must require supplemental oxygen for a cumulative of 28 days or more before the assessment at 36 weeks PMA. Finally, respiratory support at the time of assessment should reflect the infant's usual therapy in the days surrounding assessment and not an "acute" event. Studies that rely on a simple "snapshot" of respiratory support at 28 days or 36 weeks PMA may therefore incompletely assess BPD rates based on those criteria (Bancalari et al., 2003). To decrease variability in BPD diagnosis, Walsh et al. (Walsh et al., 2003) proposed a "physiologic" definition which required an oxygen reduction test to determine oxygen dependency. To conduct the test, the fraction of administered oxygen was reduced in a stepwise manner over a defined timed interval. Infants who are unable to maintain saturations \geq 90% during that time were diagnosed with BPD. Ehrenkranz et al. (Ehrenkranz et al., 2005) attempted to validate the accuracy of the NIH consensus definition of BPD in a cohort of extremely low birth weight (ELBW; birth weight<1000 g) infants followed in the NICHD Neonatal Research Network's very low birth weight registry. The Jobe and Banclari (Jobe and Bancalari, 2001) definition was more accurate in predicting outcome than previous definitions and hence used in this thesis.

 Table 1-1: Diagnostic classification of BPD into mild, moderate and severe based on gestational age and respiratory support requirement.

(Adapted from the National Institutes of Health Consensus Definition of Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia (Jobe and Bancalari, 2001))

	BPD classification			
Gestational age	Mild	Moderate	Severe	
< 32 weeks	Treatment with > 21% oxygen for 28 days plus no respiratory support at 36 weeks PMA or discharge home	Need for < 30% oxygen at 36weeks PMA or discharge home	Need for ≥ 30% oxygen and/ or positive pressure ventilation or CPAP at 36 weeks PMA or discharge home	
≥ 32 weeks	Treatment with > 21% oxygen for 28 days plus no respiratory support at 56 days Postnatal age (PNA) or discharge home	Need for < 30% oxygen at 56 days PNA or discharge home	Need for ≥ 30% oxygen and/or positive pressure ventilation or CPAP at 56 days PNA or discharge home	

1.2.5 Risk Factors for BPD

The aetiology of BPD is multifactorial and involves exposure to prenatal and/or postnatal factors, which disrupt pulmonary development, and may cause inflammation and damage to the highly vulnerable premature lung (Jensen and Schmidt, 2014).



Figure 1-2: Stages of lung development, potentially damaging factors, and types of lung injury.

Adapted from From Eugenio Baraldi, M.D.; Marco Filippone, M.D. Chronic Lung Disease after Premature Birth (Baraldi and Filippone, 2007). *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2007, 357, 1946–1955.

1.2.5.1 Prenatal Risk Factors

1.2.5.1.1 Intrauterine growth restriction

Fetal growth restriction in infants with a gestational age below 28 weeks appears to be an independent risk factor for BPD (Bose et al., 2009, Torchin et al., 2016). The extremely low gestational age newborn (ELGAN) study found a strong association between fetal growth restriction and BPD in infants born less than 29 weeks gestation (Bose et al., 2009). Odds of BPD in that cohort were over threefold higher for infants with birth weight more than one standard deviation below the mean (Bose et al., 2009). In a case-control study that included 2255 infants less than 33 weeks gestation, infants born small for gestational age had more than twice the risk of BPD (Odds ratio (OR) 2.73, 95% Confidence Interval (CI) 2.11-3.55) (Eriksson et al., 2015). Klinger et al. (Klinger et al., 2013) reported the risk-adjusted odds for BPD of 2.65 (95% CI, 2.24–3.12) in VLBW infants with birth weight (BW) less than the 10% for gestational age (GA).

1.2.5.1.2 Chorioamnionitis

Whether maternal chorioamnionitis increases BPD risk remains controversial. A study (Van Marter et al., 2002), reported decreased rates of BPD in VLBW infants exposed to chorioamnionitis, except in those who subsequently developed sepsis. Odds of BPD in those cases were nearly threefold higher (OR, 2.9; 95% CI, 1.1 7.4). Similar decrease in BPD with histologic chorioamnionitis alone was also present in another study but an increase when postnatal sepsis (Lahra et al., 2009). The unreliability of both clinical and histologic diagnoses of chorioamnionitis make the interpretation of available data difficult (Redline et al., 2003, Jobe, 2012). The

ELGAN study which aimed to identify factors that contribute to brain damage, reported that while 51% of placental cultures obtained from 1119 extremely preterm deliveries yielded positive results (Bose et al., 2009). Chorioamnionitis in fetal mice stimulated angiogenesis and produced an inflammatory profile comparable to the inflamed lungs of infants developing BPD (Miller et al., 2010). Infants exposed to severe chorioamnionitis had lower clinical responses to surfactant treatment and those lower responses correlated with longer mechanical ventilation and more BPD (Been et al., 2010). A meta-analysis of studies involving 13,583 infants found that histologically but not clinically diagnosed chorioamnionitis was associated with higher odds (OR 1.89, 95% CI 1.56 to 2.3) of BPD (Hartling et al., 2012).

1.2.5.1.3 Genetics

Several investigators have attempted to identify associations with BPD of molecules or pathways that are known to be associated with lung development, maturation, inflammation, fibrosis, angiogenesis, oxidative stress, or tissue injury and repair. In general, many of these studies have focused on single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in relatively few genes or pathways, and have had limited sample sizes from one or a few centres (Hallman and Haataja, 2006, Lahti et al., 2004, Sorensen et al., 2014). A limitation of these approaches is that we currently do not have a good understanding of the regulation of the transition from the saccular to the alveolar stage of lung development. Hence, we do not know all the molecules or pathways of critical importance to distal lung development (and therefore to BPD pathogenesis) that can be targeted for analysis. Twin studies provide insight into genetic predispositions as monozygotic twins share 100% of their genetic information while

30

dizygotic twins are 50% concordant (Shaw and O'Brodovich, 2013). A total of 450 twin pairs were analysed using mixed-effects logistic-regression and a latent variable probit model in a multicentre retrospective study. This analysis concluded that 65% of the variances in BPD susceptibility could be accounted for by genetic and shared environmental factors (Bhandari et al., 2006). Subsequent multicentre studies confirmed the heritability of BPD by way of data identifying greater similarity in monozygotic as compared to dizygotic twins. One series of over 300 twins reported that genetics contributed to approximately 80% of the observed variance in rates of BPD (Lavoie et al., 2008). More recently, several genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have been conducted to identify candidate SNP's associated with BPD. The largest study evaluated over 1700 infants and failed to identify genomic loci or pathways that accounted for the previously described heritability for BPD (Wang et al., 2013). A second, smaller analysis (n=418) concluded that the SPOCK2 gene may represent a possible candidate susceptibility gene and a key regulator of alveolarisation (Hadchouel et al., 2011).

1.2.5.2 Risk Factors At Birth

1.2.5.2.1 Gestational age

GA is inversely proportional to the incidence of BPD, as well as the severity of the disease. Among infants meeting the physiological definition of BPD at 36 weeks postmenstrual age (PMA), 95% were very-low-birth-weight (VLBW) (Walsh et al., 2004). In the NICHD network, the incidence of BPD at 23 weeks PMA (as defined as oxygen at 36 weeks PMA) was 73% with 56% of infants having severe BPD. In comparison, at 28 weeks PMA the incidence of BPD was 23% with only 8% of infants with severe BPD (Stoll et al., 2010). In the NICHD Neonatal Research Network, the incidence of BPD in infants born at 23 weeks gestation was 73%, 56% of whom developed severe disease (Stoll et al., 2010). At 28 weeks gestation, 23% develop BPD, with severe disease found in only 8% (Stoll et al., 2010).

The Canadian Neonatal Network reported that 28.1% of surviving infants born less than 25 weeks gestation developed BPD (defined as oxygen use at 36 weeks PMA following oxygen use on the 28th day after birth) compared with only 4% of infants born at 29 to 32 weeks gestation (Isayama et al., 2012). In an Israeli national cohort, 50.1% of surviving infants born at 24 to 25 weeks gestation developed BPD diagnosed by oxygen requirement at 36 weeks PMA compared with only 4.1% born between 30 and 32 weeks) (Klinger et al., 2013).

1.2.5.2.2 Gender

Male infants are at increased risk of BPD compared with females of similar GA and BW (Palta et al., 1991, Rojas et al., 1995, Ambalavanan et al., 2008, Costeloe et al., 2012). Among VLBW infants enrolled in the NICHD trial of inhaled nitric oxide, the adjusted odds of BPD or death were nearly five times greater for males than females (Ambalavanan et al., 2008). Surviving males in the EPICure studies were over twice more likely to develop BPD than similar females (Costeloe et al., 2012).

1.2.5.3 Postnatal Risk Factors

1.2.5.3.1 Supplementary oxygen

1.2.5.3.1.1 Delivery room resuscitation

Several studies of delivery room resuscitation and early respiratory management evaluated whether interventions aimed at reducing mechanical ventilation and supplemental oxygen exposure result in improved respiratory outcomes. In a small randomised control trial (RCT), (Vento et al., 2009), infants born between 24 to 28 weeks gestation those, resuscitated in the delivery room with 30% (n=37) and compared to those with 90% (n=41) supplemental oxygen had a lower incidence of BPD (31.7% vs 15.4%; p < 0.05). The Room Air versus Oxygen Administration During Resuscitation of Preterm Infants (ROAR) study (Rabi et al., 2011), however, found no difference in BPD rates between preterm infants treated with room air (n=34), titrated oxygen (n=34), or 100% supplemental oxygen (n=38) (Rabi et al., 2011). In another study (Kapadia et al., 2013), BPD in infants with gestational age of 24 to 34 weeks were randomised to two different delivery room resuscitation strategies. In one arm (n=44), resuscitation was initiated with room air and supplemental oxygen was titrated to achieve the neonatal resuscitation program (Kattwinkel et al., 2010) recommended saturation levels. The alternate arm (n=44) titrated from 100% supplemental oxygen to achieve a saturation of 85 to 94%. BPD rates were lower in the infants initially resuscitated without supplemental oxygen (7% vs. 25%; p=0.04) (Kapadia et al., 2013).

1.2.5.3.1.2 Target oxygen saturation

Extensive efforts have been made to define optimal saturation targets for premature infants (Manja et al., 2015). A meta-analysis including five separate trials did not identify significant differences in the outcomes of visual disability following retinopathy of prematurity or BPD but raised concerns for increased risk of mortality at 18 - 22 month corrected gestational age (CGA) with lower saturation targets (low 85%-89% versus high 91% - 95%) as well as higher rates of necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC) (Stenson, 2016, Saugstad and Aune, 2014). Specific to the outcome of BPD, the Surfactant, Positive Pressure and Oxygenation Randomization Trial (SUPPORT) found non-significant lower rates of BPD (38% versus 41.7%) in the low-saturation group (Network et al., 2010a). The Canadian Oxygen Trial (COT) identified a similar trend with BPD rates of 31.8% and 33.1% in the low- and highsaturation groups, respectively (Schmidt et al., 2013). Finally, the three trials conducted in New Zealand, the UK and Australia combined as the Benefits of Oxygen Saturation Trials (BOOST II) found similar non-significant trends with rates of 39.5% and 44.7% in the low- and high-saturation groups respectively (Group et al., 2013, Stenson et al., 2011). Use of higher saturation targets will inherently increase documented rates of BPD as infants cannot be weaned until they can maintain these higher goals. Nonetheless, the meta-analysis including all five studies still failed to identify a significant difference in rates of oxygen requirement at 36 weeks (Saugstad and Aune, 2014). Despite the theoretical concerns for increased risk of oxidative lung injury and pulmonary vascular remodelling, many units now use higher saturation limits of 91%-95% based upon the collective finding of improved
survival in these five trials. Some suggest that higher targets of 93% - 97% should be considered with established BPD to reduce risks of subsequent pulmonary hypertension (Cummings et al., 2016).

1.2.5.3.2 Permissive Hypercapnia

Permissive hypercapnia is a ventilatory strategy that permits relatively high levels of partial pressure of arterial carbon dioxide (PaCO₂) and always used to avoid lung injury and BPD (Miller and Carlo, 2007). Four studies that enrolled a total of 693 participants selected to a meta-analysis (Mariani et al., 1999, Carlo et al., 2002, Thome et al., 2006, Thome et al., 2015), revealed no effect of permissive hypercapnia on decreasing rates of bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD). Permissive hypercapnia also had no significant effect on mortality, intraventricular haemorrhage (IVH), IVH (grade 3–4), periventricular leukomalacia (PVL), necrotising enterocolitis (NEC), and retinopathy of prematurity (ROP) or air leaks in extremely low birth weight infants (Ma and Ye, 2016).

1.2.5.3.3 Patent ductus arteriosus

The role of a patent ductus arteriosus (PDA) in the development of BPD is muchdebated. There is evidence to support an association but not a causal relationship between persistent PDA and BPD (Benitz, 2010, Benitz, 2012, Trzaski et al., 2012). Studies of prophylactic closure of PDA showed no benefit for prevention of BPD and some suggest that treatment may increase BPD risk (Cooke et al., 2003, Fowlie et al., 2010, Ohlsson et al., 2013). In the Trial of Indomethacin Prophylaxis in Preterm (TIPP) (Schmidt et al., 2001), Indomethacin reduced the incidence of PDA (24% vs. 50% in the placebo group; odds ratio, 0.3; p<0.001) and severe Periventricular Haemorrhage (PVH) and IVH (9%, vs. 13% in the placebo group; odds ratio, 0.6; p = 0.02). No other outcomes were altered by the prophylactic administration of indomethacin. In a follow-up to the TIPP study, the treatment did not prevent BPD, although it reduced the frequency of PDA (Schmidt et al., 2006). BPD rates were considerably lower (30% vs. 43%) in infants in whom PDAs closed spontaneously without indomethacin compared with those with closure following indomethacin (Schmidt et al., 2006). A recent Cochrane Review found no difference in the incidence of BPD following medical versus surgical closure of PDA in preterm infants, but the analysis contained only a single small RCT (Malviya et al., 2013). In a subsequent systematic review of all RCTs evaluating both surgical and pharmacologic methods of PDA closure, Benitz (Benitz, 2010) found no reduction in BPD or the combined outcome of death or BPD with any therapy.

1.2.5.3.4 Infection and Inflammation

There exists controversy regarding the contribution of postnatal inflammation or nosocomial infection to the increased risk of developing BPD (Oh et al., 2005, Lahra et al., 2009, Klinger et al., 2010). Novitsky et al. identified that premature infants with BPD were more likely to receive prolonged courses of antibiotics in the first week after birth and to have evidence of resistant gram-negative bacilli in their endotracheal tube (Novitsky et al., 2015). Those data raises concerns that the presence of resistant organisms may result in more severe infection, advocating for judicious use of prophylactic or prolonged antibiotics in premature infants at risk. Non-infectious exposures, including oxygen and mechanical ventilation, cause further injury to the preterm lung resulting in secondary insult via inflammatory mediated responses. Increased pro-inflammatory cytokines found in tracheal aspirates and blood samples from premature infants, including tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α), IL-8, IL-1 β and IL-6, have been shown to correlate with increased risk of BPD (Tullus et al., 1996, Jonsson et al., 1997, D'Angio et al., 2016).

1.2.5.3.5 Postnatal corticosteroids

The potential benefits of systemic steroids are often outweighed by concerns for long-term neurodevelopmental sequelae including increased risk of cerebral palsy (CP) (Halliday, 2002, Halliday et al., 2009). Rates of use of systemic steroids for prevention of BPD have markedly decreased following American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) and Canadian Pediatric Society (CPS) recommendations in 2002 against routine use (Jarreau et al., 2010, Yoder et al., 2009). Specifically, rates of postnatal corticosteroids use declined from 20% in 1997 – 2000 to only 12% in 2001 – 2002 and then again to 8% in 2004 with no significant change thereafter (Fanaroff et al., 2007, Stoll et al., 2015).

1.2.6 Long-term Outcome

1.2.6.1 Re-hospitalisation

In a study of 238 infants who were born at less than 33 weeks gestation, 49% of infants with BPD required readmission during the first year after birth compared with 23% of non-BPD infants (Smith et al., 2004). The mean number of readmissions and length of stay were also greater for infants with BPD (Smith et al., 2004). During the first two years, Greenough et al. (Greenough et al., 2001) reported that 57% of infants with BPD required re-hospitalisation for respiratory problems. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in particular was associated with higher readmission rates (Greenough et al., 2001, Drysdale et al., 2011). In the NICHD Neonatal Research Network, rates of rehospitalisation and pulmonary medication use at 18 to 22 months increased with increasing severity of BPD (Ehrenkranz et al., 2005). During the second and third year of life, re-hospitalisation rates decline, although BPD survivors may remain at increased risk for respiratory related hospitalisations well into adulthood (Walter et al., 2009).

1.2.6.2 Respiratory symptoms

Many survivors of BPD demonstrate a component of reactive airway disease. Problematic respiratory symptoms, such as wheezing and coughing, can continue into preschool years (2-5 years) (Greenough et al., 2006). In a cohort of 308 extremely preterm infants followed through six years of life, wheezing, coughing, and use of inhaled medications were significantly more common in those with than without BPD (Hennessy et al., 2008). At 11-year follow-up of infants from the same cohort, 28% with a history of BPD were diagnosed with asthma, 24% suffered exercise induced wheezing, and 22% experienced nocturnal cough (Fawke et al., 2010). Cough, wheeze, and dyspnoea are also common in young adult survivors with BPD (Gough et al., 2012). Lung function abnormalities and respiratory symptoms can continue into adulthood. A study of 690 adults who had developed BPD as infants (Vrijlandt et al., 2005) highlighted that compared to controls, wheezing without a cold, asthma diagnosis and shortness of breath on exercise were more common, but only in the female population.

Long-term follow-up of infants born less than 26 weeks of gestation identified that 25% had an asthma diagnosis at 11 years of age while over twice this percentage (56%) had evidence of abnormal spirometry (Fawke et al., 2010). Cohort studies show a significantly greater prevalence of asthma like symptoms and the use of inhaled asthma medication among persons 8 to 19 years old who were born prematurely regardless of whether they had BPD than among persons born at term (Doyle et al., 2006, Anand et al., 2003, Halvorsen et al., 2004). A trend toward clinical improvement is usually seen over time, however; symptoms progressively

subside, respiratory exacerbations become uncommon, and most persons lead apparently normal lives (Kinsella et al., 2006).

While children with BPD have asthma-like symptoms, they are also less likely to demonstrate airway hyper-responsiveness or response to bronchodilators as they may suffer a fixed peripheral airway narrowing (Joshi et al., 2013). In addition, co-morbid bronchomalacia or other central airway disease in ex-premature infants can result in exacerbated wheezing with use of bronchodilator therapy (Allen et al., 2003). Benefits from inhaled corticosteroids are also thought to be less consistent for children with BPD as compared to those with asthma (Allen et al., 2003). The reversibility and impact of this asthma - like phenotype on late adult pulmonary morbidity remains unknown.

1.2.6.3 Pulmonary function

In most infants with BPD, lung growth and remodelling during infancy results in progressive improvement of pulmonary function and weaning from oxygen therapy; few BPD patients remain oxygen-dependent beyond two years of age (Greenough et al., 2004). Several studies in infants (aged 6 to 12 months) with BPD have demonstrated evidence of small airway disease and impaired alveolar growth. Lung function is usually in the low-to-normal range by age two to three years, but airflow abnormalities can remain. In another study, sequential measurements during the first two to three years following hospital discharge demonstrated gradual increases in FRC (mL/kg) from initial low levels to more normal levels, but with persistent limitations of maximum flow at FRC

 $(V_{max}FRC)$ (Fakhoury et al., 2010). Approximately one-third of those patients responded to bronchodilators (Fakhoury et al., 2010).

Although clinical symptoms in individuals with BPD often improve during childhood, pulmonary function tests (PFTs) often remain abnormal, particularly in those with more severe disease (Baraldi and Filippone, 2007, Ronkainen et al., 2015). One study (Filippone et al., 2003), reported a strong correlation between VmaxFRC at two years of age and FEV₁ at school age (mean 8.8 years), suggesting persistent airflow limitation in some patients with BPD. Another study compared preschool children with healthy controls and found decreased forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁), increased FRC, residual volume (RV), and the ratio of RV to total lung capacity (RV/TLC) in the BPD group consistent with obstructive lung disease (Robin et al., 2004). Those findings are consistent with persistent airflow obstruction and gas trapping. A retrospective review of 322 preterm infants with BPD (Landry et al., 2011) demonstrated that lung function as assessed by forced expiratory volume, forced vital capacity and forced expiratory fraction was significantly reduced at seven years of age compared to controls. They also observed that lung function abnormalities and health-care utilisation during childhood was significantly associated with the initial severity of BPD. In many patients, especially those with mild disease, pulmonary function tests (PFTs) gradually improved over time, possibly in conjunction with new alveolar development and improvement in small airway flow limitation (Baraldi et al., 1997, Fakhoury et al., 2010, Gerhardt et al., 1987).

There are few data on the pulmonary function of adult patients with a history of premature birth and old BPD. Long-term respiratory morbidity is not limited to BPD survivors born before routine surfactant use. BPD survivors from the EPICure cohort, 89% of whom received surfactant, suffered significantly

decreased lung function at 11 years of age compared with extremely preterm and term controls without BPD (Fawke et al., 2010). Abnormalities in PFTs are commonly found in children and adults with BPD (Doyle et al., 2006, Landry et al., 2011, Doyle and Anderson, 2009). PFTs frequently show decreased FEV₁ and decreased ratios of FEV₁ to forced vital capacity (FEV₁/FVC), consistent with airflow limitation and small airway obstruction (Doyle et al., 2006, Landry et al., 2011).

A recent systematic review of adults born during the pre-surfactant era found higher rates of pulmonary function abnormalities and radiographic evidence of persistent structural changes in the lungs of those with a history of BPD (Gough et al., 2012). Another study compared lung function at eighteen years of age in two cohorts of ELBW infants, one born before and the other after availability of surfactant. Significant airway obstruction was found in preterm survivors from both cohorts, with airflow limitations most pronounced in those with a history of BPD (Vollsaeter et al., 2013).

1.2.6.1 Pulmonary Hypertension

Complications of BPD include pulmonary hypertension (PH), due to anatomical and physiological abnormalities in lung circulation in BPD patients, which contributes significant mortality and morbidity in BPD patients (Kim, 2010). While the true incidence of pulmonary arterial hypertension in infants with BPD is unknown, several small retrospective reports estimate rates at 25% to 37% (An et al., 2010, Slaughter et al., 2011, Kim et al., 2012, Check et al., 2013). Fortyfive percent of infants who required supplemental oxygen at 36 weeks PMA were diagnosed with PH. The incidence of PAH increased with increasing BPD severity. Only 2% of infants with mild BPD had evidence of pulmonary arterial hypertension compared with 36% with moderate and 50% with severe BPD (Bhat et al., 2012). In a series of 42 VLBW infants with BPD and PAH, mortality was 38% during a median follow-up period of 10.9 months and only 25% with severe PH and BPD survived to two to three years of age (Khemani et al., 2007). Among all survivors with BPD and pulmonary arterial hypertension, however, 89% demonstrated improvement in pulmonary arterial hypertension during the followup period (Khemani et al., 2007).

1.3 Ventilator-induced lung injury (VILI)

Ventilator-induced lung injury (VILI) is a common complication of MV in premature infants and may predispose the infant to abnormal lung growth and development and BPD (Attar and Donn, 2002). Several mechanisms may contribute to the lung injury that is associated with MV. These mechanisms are not mutually exclusive and may act synergistically. Understanding these mechanisms may have therapeutic implications.

1.3.1 Barotrauma

Barotrauma occurs when high pressures are used in ventilation, thus increasing the risk of air leak syndromes, such as interstitial emphysema, pneumothorax, and pneumomediastinum (Morisot et al., 1990), which in turn activate the inflammatory cascade (Carvalho et al., 2013). In a study (Webb and Tierney, 1974), anaesthetised rats were ventilated with room air at peak inspiratory pressures of 14, 30 or 45 cmH₂O without any added PEEP, while other rats were ventilated with the same inspiratory pressures but with an added PEEP of 10 cmH₂O. The results showed that the control group of rats that were not ventilated and the group of rats ventilated with pressures of 14/0 showed no pathological lung changes while the group of rats ventilated on 30/0 and 30/10 had perivascular oedema but no alveolar oedema. Similarly, rats ventilated on 45/10 had no alveolar oedema and survived (Webb and Tierney, 1974). On the contrary, rats ventilated with higher pressures of 45/0 cmH₂O had alveolar and perivascular oedema, severe hypoxemia, and decreased compliance

and died within one hour concluding that that interstitial perivascular oedema develops from ventilation with high tidal volumes generated by high distending pressures (Webb and Tierney, 1974).

Several investigators questioned whether VILI was caused by the ventilatory pressures per se (i.e. barotrauma), or the resultant ventilatory volumes (i.e. volume trauma) (Dreyfuss and Saumon, 1993, Hernandez et al., 1989, Carlton et al., 1990, Dreyfuss et al., 1988). Hernandez and coworkers (Hernandez et al., 1989) addressed this question by comparing the effect of ventilation with 15, 30, or 45 cm H₂O PIP on normal rabbits, rabbits encased in plaster casts to limit chest excursions, and excised rabbit lungs. No significant changes in capillary filtration coefficient (Kfc) or any signs of macroscopic lung injury were found in the rabbits encased in plaster. However, significant increases in Kfc were found in the other two groups (i.e. normal rabbits or ex vivo lungs). Therefore, they concluded that it was the large lung volumes (volutrauma), rather than the high airway pressures, which produced lung injury. A similar conclusion was reached by Dreyfuss et al., based on their findings of pulmonary oedema when rats were ventilated with either high tidal volumes and high airway pressures (high pressure conventional mechanical ventilation) or high tidal volumes and low airway pressures (negative pressure ventilation). In contrast, no pulmonary oedema was found with normal tidal volume ventilation at high airway pressures (positive pressure ventilation with thoraco-abdominal strapping) (Dreyfuss et al., 1988).

1.3.2 Volutrauma

Whilst pressure and volume are inextricably linked, over expansion of lung parenchyma, rather than the absolute pressure, leads to lung injury (Dreyfuss and Saumon, 1992). The importance of volutrauma has been demonstrated in animal models. Young rabbits were exposed to peak inspiratory pressures (PIP) of 15, 30, and 45 cmH₂O, in isolated lung preparations, intact rabbits, and rabbits in which the chest and abdomen were encased in plaster of Paris, limiting expansion. The lungs of the restricted expansion rabbits appeared macroscopically normal, and measurements of capillary permeability, increased in lung injury, remained static at each of the pressure intervals. In contrast, the lungs from uncasted rabbits showed progressive macroscopic damage as the pressure to which they were exposed increased, with increasing capillary permeability. The isolated lung preparations, with no restriction to expansion, were worst affected (Hernandez et al., 1989). This study demonstrates that volutrauma was more important than the absolute pressure applied in provoking this aspect of lung injury. This is particularly significant in premature neonates, whose compliant chest walls offer little protection against over-distension.

Another animal study has shown that even a small number of large inflations soon after birth can adversely affect surfactant-deficient lungs (Bjorklund et al., 1997). In this study of new born lambs, one lamb of each of five pairs was randomly assigned to receive six large manual inflations ("bagging") after preterm delivery and before starting MV and receiving artificial surfactant. At four hours, the bagged animals compared with controls had lower inspiratory capacity and maximal deflation, were more difficult to ventilate, and had less well expanded alveoli and more widespread

lung injury on histologic examination. Injury caused by mechanical ventilation primarily is due to large tidal volumes (volutrauma) that over distended airways and airspaces, rather than increased airway pressures (Hernandez et al., 1989, Carlton et al., 1990).

1.3.3 Atelectotrauma

Atelectorauma results from regionally or totally reduced lung parenchyma expansion. Pulmonary injury is associated with alveolar instability: the successive collapsing and reopening of the alveolar walls cause the lysis of the structural elements that compose the lung interstitium, triggering local and systemic inflammation. Experimental models of surfactant deficiency showed that lowvolume MV induces cytokine release and initiates the inflammatory cascade, which also occurs in volutrauma (Froese et al., 1993). Studies performed during conventional MV of surfactant-depleted lungs with various levels of Peak end expiratory pressure (PEEP) provide support to the concept that the repeated opening and closing of terminal units causes additional injury (Sandhar et al., 1988, Muscedere et al., 1994). Muscedere et al. ventilated isolated, nonperfused, lavaged rat lungs at different end-expiratory pressures above and below the inflection point (Pinf) of the inspiratory pressure-volume curve. In the group ventilated with PEEP below Pinf, compliance fell dramatically after ventilation, and lung injury assessed morphologically was significantly greater (Muscedere et al., 1994). Another benefit of setting PEEP above this inflection point is that it usually results in a very abrupt decrease in shunt fractions and increase in PaO₂ (Falke et al., 1972). It seems likely that unstable lung units may be damaged by repeated opening and closing during

tidal ventilation. PEEP may prevent diffuse alveolar damage during prolonged ventilation at high lung volume by stabilising distal units. This may explain in part the preservation of alveolar epithelium integrity and the decrease in oedema during high tidal volume mechanical ventilation in the presence of PEEP in a ventilated rat model (Dreyfuss et al., 1988), and minimisation of injury to ventilated surfactantdeficient rabbit lungs by recruiting lung volumes and then maintaining a higher than normal FRC by high frequency oscillatory ventilation (McCulloch et al., 1988). Keeping end-expiratory lung volumes (EELV) high enough to prevent atelectasis, and using small tidal volumes to prevent over distension improved surfactant efficacy in premature rabbits (Gattinoni et al., 1987). Therefore, the lung apparently also has a low volume injury zone (Jobe and Ikegami, 1998). If both high and low volume lung injury concepts are clinically relevant, the logical inference is that MV of acutely injured lungs should be placed on the linear portion of the pressurevolume curve (Dreyfuss and Saumon, 1994), above the lower inflection point but below the upper inflection (or 'deflection' point). This linear portion may be very short. In such case, a tidal volume (Vt) that would not be deleterious in normal lungs may lead to excessive end-inspiratory volume when the PEEP is set high enough to be above the lower inflection point.

1.3.4 Biotrauma

Numerous studies over the past twenty years have demonstrated that there can be release of various mediators into the lung, pulmonary recruitment of leukocytes, and local initiation of inflammatory processes. This biological response to mechanical forces has been called biotrauma (Tremblay and Slutsky, 1998). The biotrauma hypothesis postulates that the circulating mediators can cause local lung injury, and if they translocate into the systemic circulation, they may lead to distal organ dysfunction and death (Slutsky and Tremblay, 1998).

Tremblay et al (Tremblay et al., 1997) found that isolated non-perfused rat lungs ventilated for two hours with large tidal volumes without PEEP had large increases in lavage concentrations of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, and macrophage inflammatory peptide 2. High Vt ventilation also increased expression of c-fos mRNA, a transcription factor important in the early stress response (Tremblay et al., 1997).

The potential for ventilation-induced inflammation in humans was examined in forty-four patients with ARDS who were randomised to receive traditional or lungprotective ventilation (Ranieri et al., 1999). Broncho-alevolar lavage (BAL) and plasma concentrations of several proinflammatory cytokines were lower in patients receiving protective ventilation, as were other indices of plasma and alveolar fluid inflammation, compared with patients receiving traditional tidal volumes and lower PEEP.

Inflammation is a process that is a vital response to injury that needs to be triggered to bring about recruitment of blood leucocytes, activation of tissue macrophages, and production of a series of mediators. The inflammatory response to injury may include activation of macrophages that generate 'early response cytokines' like TNFa and IL-1. These cytokines stimulate vascular endothelial cells to express vascular adhesion molecules, such as intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), and Eselectin. Blood neutrophils adhere to endothelial cells and transmigrate into the interstitial and alveolar compartments (Ward and Lentsch, 1999). The entry of neutrophils into the alveolar compartment together with tissue-activated macrophages sets the stage for injury of both lung cells and matrix glycoproteins (e.g., collagens, elastin). Injury is related to generation of oxidants by phagocytic cells and the release of proteases. The activation of NF-kB in phagocytic cells is central to the generation of inflammatory mediators. NF- kB has the ability to bind with promoter sequence in DNA and to inaugurate transcription (generation of messenger RNA) for many inflammatory peptides. The NF- kB is held in check by inhibitors, which bind to the NF-kB complex and prevent its entry into the nucleus (translocation) and subsequent binding to DNA. In the rat model of immune complex-induced alveolitis, several interleukins were found to have a strong antiinflammatory response, with IL-10=IL-13>IL-4>IL-6>IL-12 (Ward and Lentsch, 1999).

MV provokes the release of cytokines, both pro-inflammatory (IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, TNF- α) and anti-inflammatory (IL-10), and other mediators from the cells. In vitro studies suggest that this release is caused by mechanical stretch to the tissue, leading both to disruption of the contact between individual cells and also to transduction of the forces intracellularly via the cytoskeleton (Halbertsma et al., 2005). The pro-

inflammatory response, increased in preterm neonates due to reduced antiinflammatory cytokine release (Oei et al., 2002), attracts neutrophils and other inflammatory cells to the airways, and also increases vascular permeability (Munshi et al., 1997, Groneck et al., 1994). Surfactant dysfunction, either due to a direct cytokine effect or due to increased alveolar capillary leak of proteins, increases the propensity for lung damage. It has been shown that preterm neonates who go on to develop BPD have higher levels of inflammatory cytokines and that these persist longer than those infants who do not develop BPD (Jonsson et al., 1997, Arnon et al., 1993, Tullus et al., 1996). This inflammatory cascade can induce apoptosis in pulmonary epithelial cells and is also implicated in the alteration of gene expression in injured lung tissue, both sustaining inflammatory responses and also modifying pathways involved in tissue repair and remodelling (Denervaud et al., 2015). Animal studies have demonstrated that lung injury induced by MV and associated with increased pro-inflammatory cytokine release leads to delayed alveolarisation and saccular wall fibrosis, similar to the histological changes found in neonates with BPD (Ratner et al., 2013, Coalson et al., 1999).

The mechanical factors that lead to barotrauma, volutrauma and atelectrauma have been associated with inflammatory mediator-related injury which has been termed biotrauma. MV promotes inflammation and direct damage to the lungs in premature infants. For that reason, ventilator strategies which are least harmful are needed for preventing ventilator-induced injuries and in turn prevent BPD.

1.4 Neonatal ventilation strategies

Management strategies are aimed at protecting against lung injury and the development of BPD. As the pathogenesis of disease is multifactorial, diverse approaches have been adopted including both ventilation and medical strategies. Interestingly, both antenatal steroids and surfactant reduce rates of RDS and improve survival; however, neither has been shown to reduce incidence of BPD (Stoll et al., 2015). It is important to determine the impact of different modes of ventilation on respiratory morbidity in order to optimise neonatal ventilation. There are a number of modes of ventilation currently used to support prematurely born infants, including invasive and non-invasive methods.

1.4.1 Invasive ventilation

1.4.1.1 Volume targeted ventilation

During VTV, a constant volume set by the practitioner is delivered to the infant regardless of changes in the infant's lung function. At least eighteen randomised or quasi-randomised trials have been undertaken comparing VTV to pressure-limited ventilation in prematurely born infants. Meta-analysis (Peng et al., 2014) demonstrated that VTV was associated with a reduction in BPD (nine trials) and significant reductions in all IVH, grades 3–4 IVH, PVL and pneumothorax. In addition, the durations of MV and supplementary oxygen were shorter with VTV.

There was, however, no significant reduction in mortality and no long-term outcomes were reported. Difficulties in generalising the results of the meta-analysis are that different ventilators were used in the two arms of some trials and different volume targeting ventilators were used. A variety of mechanisms are used to achieve volume targeting and, as a consequence, there are differences in the airway pressure waveform and mean airway pressure at apparently the same Vt setting according to ventilator type (Sharma et al., 2007). In addition, different levels of volume targeting used in the various trials and the VT level used significantly affects the WOB in infants with acute respiratory distress (Patel et al., 2010b) and in the recovery stage (Patel et al., 2009b).

1.4.1.2 High-Frequency Oscillation

During high-frequency oscillatory ventilation (HFOV), small tidal volumes are delivered at fast rates, usually in the range of 10 – 15 Hz. The performance of high frequency oscillators varies, but for all, the delivered volume is affected primarily by the oscillatory pressure and less by the frequency (Laubscher et al 1996). Volume delivery, however, was reduced as frequency was increased (Laubscher et al 1996). Randomised clinical trials have demonstrated that HFOV have potential to reduce risk of BPD (Sun et al., 2014, Henderson-Smart et al., 2007); however, a Cochrane review of elective HFOV revealed only a small reduction in the incidence of chronic lung disease with notable inconsistency across the nineteen studies included (Cools et al., 2015). As many infants require more sedation with high frequency ventilation (HFV), prophylactic use of HFV remains controversial.

In the United Kingdom Oscillation Study (UKOS) (Johnson et al., 2002), 797 infants born prior to 29 weeks of gestation from 25 centres, were randomised uniquely within an hour of birth to HFOV or conventional ventilation (Johnson et al., 2002); no significant differences in short-term outcomes were demonstrated. There were also no significant differences in lung function results at one year of age (Thomas et al., 2004), but the results were only from a subset who lived close to the London centre and small airway function was only assessed by measurement of gas trapping. In another study (Hofhuis et al., 2002) demonstrated small airway function, as assessed by maximal flow at functional residual capacity (V' max FRC) at 12 months corrected, was significantly better in infants who had been supported by HFOV rather than CMV. Those results (Hofhuis et al., 2002) were not from a randomised trial, but suggested that HFOV might preserve small airway function. That hypothesis was proven by an assessment of 320 "UKOS" children when aged 11 to 14 years, which demonstrated significant differences in small airway function in favour of HFOV (Zivanovic et al., 2014).

1.4.1.3 Patient triggered ventilation (PTV)

1.4.1.3.1 Assist control and synchronised intermittent ventilation (AC and SIV)

PTV was introduced into neonatal intensive care in the 1980s, initially as assist/control (A/C, inflations triggered by every spontaneous breath that exceeded the critical trigger threshold) and synchronised intermittent mandatory ventilation (SIMV), only the preset number of inflations is triggered regardless of the infant's spontaneous respiratory rate). It was hoped that these ventilation modes would be more likely to promote synchrony between the infant and ventilator inflations and hence reduce air leaks and BPD. The recent Cochrane review (Greenough et al., 2016) of randomised trials comparing AC/SIMV to pressure limited ventilation (PLV) demonstrated that ACV/SIMV compared to CMV was associated with a shorter duration of ventilation (mean difference (MD) 38.3 hours, 95% CI - 53.90 to -22.69). SIMV or SIMV + Pressure Support (PS) was associated with a greater risk of moderate/severe BPD compared to HFO (Relative Risk (RR) 1.33, 95% CI 1.07 to 1.65) and a longer duration of mechanical ventilation compared to HFO (MD 1.89 days, 95% CI 1.04 to 2.74). ACV compared to SIMV was associated with a trend to a shorter duration of weaning (MD – 42.38 hours, 95% CI –94.35 to 9.60). Neither ACV nor SIMV was associated with a significant reduction in the incidence of BPD.

1.4.1.3.2 Pressure support ventilation (PSV)

During pressure support ventilation (PSV), the infant's inspiratory efforts determine both the initiation and termination of ventilator inflation. Ventilator inflation is terminated when the infant's inspiratory flow declines to a predefined level, which varies according to the type of ventilator. A randomised trial (Reyes et al., 2006) showed that the use of PSV in addition to SIMV during the first week after birth facilitated weaning in infants of birth weight ≤ 1000 g compared to SIMV alone. This was associated with a shorter oxygen dependency in infants of BW 700–1000 g. The likely benefits were explained by the results of a crossover study (Patel et al., 2009a), where one hour periods of SIMV and SIMV with pressure support were compared (n=20 infants, mean GA of 31 weeks). They found that the addition of pressure support to SIMV reduce the WOB in infants being weaned from the ventilator. The likely explanation for the success of PSV with SIMV versus SIMV alone is that, in the former ventilator strategy, all the infant's breaths are supported and this reduces their WOB (Patel et al., 2009a).

1.4.1.3.3 Proportional assist ventilation (PAV)

During proportional assist ventilation (PAV), the applied pressure is servo controlled, based on continuous input from the infant's breathing throughout each spontaneous breath. In addition, the ventilator can provide inflation pressure in phase with the Vt change in order to reduce the compliance load (i.e. the load due to the stiffness of infant's lungs) and in phase with the flow change to reduce the resistance load (i.e. the load due to airflow obstruction), termed elastic and resistive unloading, respectively (Schulze, 2002). Very prematurely born infants developing or with established BPD will have stiff lungs (that is non-compliant) despite a very compliant chest wall, so may be particularly likely to benefit from elastic unloading.

PAV, however, has only been assessed in neonates in a few studies. In prematurely born infants with acute respiratory disease, PAV was associated with maintenance of gas exchange with lower transpulmonary pressure swings compared to continuous mandatory ventilation (CMV) and ACV in a crossover study (Schulze et al., 1999). In evolving CLD in prematurely born infants, PAV was shown to provide satisfactory gas exchange at lower mean airway pressures compared to SIMV and ACV in a crossover study (Schulze et al., 2007), but PAV was demonstrated to reduce TAA and chest wall distortion in preterm infants (Musante et al., 2001).

In a crossover study, infants with evolving or established BPD supported on PAV compared ACV had better oxygenation indices, a lower WOB and better respiratory muscle strength. The infants, however, were only studied on each ventilator mode for one hour (Bhat et al., 2015). The longest infants have been reported to be studied on PAV was four hours (Schulze et al., 2007), but during that study, only changes in

pulse oximetry results were assessed. During PAV, a trigger delay of 60 milliseconds was demonstrated using an in vitro model (Patel et al., 2010a); hence, it is important to assess blood gases over a longer period than previously studied.

1.4.1.3.4 Neurally adjusted ventilatory assist (NAVA)

In 1987 Daubenspeck et al. described a new technique to evaluate the diaphragmatic EMG using an array of seven sequential electrode pairs on an oesophageal catheter (Daubenspeck et al., 1989). In the 1990's Sinderby and Beck expanded this concept with the introduction of embedded electrodes in a nasogastric tube that detected a reliable diaphragmatic EMG signal. The signal reflected the patient's neural respiratory drive in real time, and minimised artefacts (Sinderby, 2002, Beck et al., 1998, Beck et al., 1995). The technology was integrated into a commercially available mechanical ventilator (Servo-I and Servo-N; Maquet, Solna, Sweden) that converted the electrical activity into a synchronised breath known as NAVA (Sinderby, 2002, Beck et al., 2015).

NAVA is a mode of ventilation where the patient's neural respiratory drive controls the timing and amount of assist provided (Sinderby et al., 1999, Sinderby C, 2012). The neural respiratory drive is interpreted from the diaphragm electrical activity (Edi), measured with small sensors on the patient's Edi catheter at the level of the gastroesophageal junction. Measuring the Edi in the oesophagus removes potential contamination from changes in lung volume, body position, intra-abdominal pressure, postural and expiratory muscles, the subcutaneous layers, and applied PEEP (Beck et al., 1998, Beck et al., 1995, Sinderby et al., 1999, Barwing et al., 2011, Barwing et al., 2009). Signal integrity also does not seem to be influenced when receiving bolus versus continuous nasogastric feeds (Ng E, 2010) or with milk influx during oral feeding (Stein et al., 2012). Edi has been shown to correlate with transdiaphragmatic pressure (Beck et al., 1998, Beck et al., 2001, Fauroux et al., 2003) and with the pressure generated by the respiratory muscles and inspiratory effort (Bellani et al., 2013).

There are few studies of NAVA and they address short-term outcomes, but available data are encouraging. In a retrospective analysis of the results of fifty-two neonates changed to NAVA from conventional ventilation, peak inflation pressures and supplementary oxygen levels were lower and the partial pressure of carbon dioxide improved during NAVA (Stein and Howard, 2012). Those results were subsequently confirmed in a prospective study of five infants each exposed to four hourly cycles of pressure controlled ventilation and NAVA, despite lower peak inflation pressures the partial pressure of carbon dioxide was lower during NAVA (Stein et al., 2013a). In a four hour crossover comparison between NAVA and SIMV with PS, in twenty-six preterm infants, the WOB was lower on NAVA and blood gases were maintained despite lower peak pressures (Lee et al., 2012). NAVA compared to pressure regulated-volume control has also been associated with less asynchrony and need for sedation (Longhini et al., 2015).

Infants with evolving or established BPD have a high resistance which means flow triggering can be challenging. In addition, the severity of their lung function abnormalities likely means that supporting each breath throughout the inspiratory cycle ie with a small trigger delay would be advantageous. This thesis will test the hypothesis that NAVA compared to ACV would result in a lower oxygenation index (OI) in infants with evolving or established BPD.

1.4.2 Non-invasive respiratory support

Significant efforts have been made to move away from use of invasive ventilation over the past two decades (Stoll et al., 2015). In a secondary analysis from the Caffeine for Apnea of Prematurity (CAP) trial, higher rates of BPD in infants who were intubated at birth compared with those who were stabilised with non-invasive CPAP were found (DeMauro et al., 2011). A recent meta-analysis of four RCTs with a total of 2782 very preterm infants compared early use of CPAP to intubation and MV (Morley et al., 2008, Network et al., 2010b, Sandri et al., 2010, Dunn et al., 2011, Schmolzer et al., 2013). BPD rates were only modestly reduced with early CPAP (32.4% vs.34.0%), and the results failed to meet statistical significance (RR, 0.91; 95% CI, 0.82 – 1.01) (Schmolzer et al., 2013). Use of alternative non-invasive modalities including non-invasive positive pressure ventilation (NIPPV), bi-level nasal CPAP (biPAP) and HHFNC is also increasing with some evidence to suggest these modes may also be effective in managing neonatal respiratory disease (Hutchison and Bignall, 2008, Kugelman et al., 2007, Yoder et al., 2013). Studies have identified that an early attempt at extubation alone may decrease the risk of BPD, regardless of need for reintubation or duration of ventilation (Jensen et al., 2015, Robbins et al., 2015).

The optimal approach, impact on BPD and long-term outcomes with use of noninvasive ventilation (NIV) remain to be defined. Studies above suggest a need for additional prospective trials.

1.4.2.1 Continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP)

CPAP has been used since the 1970's as a modality to prevent alveolar collapse by maintaining mean airway pressure (Gregory et al., 1971). A survey of eight tertiary neonatal centres in the United States of America (USA) (Avery et al., 1987) demonstrated the centre which used CPAP as initial respiratory support had the lowest rate of BPD with similar survival rates; the other centres used intubation and ventilation as their initial ventilatory mode. Other observational studies highlighted that use of early CPAP was associated with significantly less need for intubation and ventilation (Aly et al., 2004, Miksch et al., 2008, Narendran et al., 2003) and BPD (Aly et al., 2004, Miksch et al., 2008, Ammari et al., 2005, Birenbaum et al., 2009). There have subsequently been randomised trials which have yielded differing results. The COIN trial (Continuous Positive Airway Pressure or Intubation at Birth) (Morely et al., 2008) showed that the use of early CPAP in the delivery suite in very preterm infants (25 - 28 weeks) compared to intubation and ventilation was associated with lower risk of the combined outcome of death or need for oxygen therapy at 28 days, but there was no significant difference in oxygen dependency at 36 weeks post menstrual age. The trial however highlighted that the CPAP group had a higher incidence of pneumothorax, which might relate to the CPAP pressure of 8 cm H₂O or the lower use of prophylactic surfactant. In the SUPPORT trial (intubation and early surfactant followed by CPAP versus early CPAP) (Finer et al., 2010), there was no significant difference in the primary outcome of death or BPD, although there was higher postnatal steroid use in the intubation-surfactant group (13.2% vs. 7.2%, p < 0.001). The CPAP group required significantly less days of

mechanical ventilation (p = 0.03) and had a significantly higher rate of survival free of mechanical ventilation at seven days (RR 1.14, 95% CI, 1.03-1.25). A prospective follow up study to SUPPORT, the breathing outcomes study (Stevens et al., 2014), assessed respiratory morbidity at 6-month intervals from hospital discharge to 18 - 22 months corrected age. The study found that infants randomised to early CPAP rather than intubation and early surfactant had fewer episodes of wheezing without a cold, fewer respiratory illnesses diagnosed by a doctor, and fewer physician or emergency room visits for breathing problems. In the CURPAP trial (prophylactic surfactant followed by CPAP versus early CPAP) (Sandri et al., 2010), no significant difference was found in the primary outcome, the need for MV in the first 5 days or in the secondary outcomes including death, BPD, air leaks, grades 3-4 IVH, sepsis, retinopathy of prematurity and pulmonary haemorrhage. A subsequent Randomised controlled trial (RCT) randomised 648 infants to one of three arms: initial management to prophylactic surfactant followed by a period of mechanical ventilation, prophylactic surfactant followed by rapid extubation to bubble CPAP or bubble CPAP and selective surfactant (Dunn et al., 2011). The study was terminated early because of declining recruitment. There were no significant differences between the groups with regard to mortality or other complications of prematurity (Dunn et al., 2011). A meta-analysis of four RCT's, (Morely et al., 2008, Dunn et al., 2011, Network et al., 2010b, Sandri et al., 2010) comparing use of nCPAP to intubation in infants born at less than 32 weeks of gestation demonstrated nCPAP was associated with a significant reduction in BPD or death (Schmolzer et al., 2013). Thus, early CPAP therapy for preterm infants compared to invasive ventilation has been demonstrated to be associated with less respiratory morbidity.

1.4.2.1.1 Methods of CPAP generation

There are a number of methods of CPAP generation and delivery. Devices which generate CPAP can broadly be divided into two categories, continuous flow or variable flow devices. Continuous flow devices include conventional ventilators, jet ventilation systems and bubble CPAP. Conventional ventilators provide a constant flow of gas and the pressure is controlled by the exhalation valve. With a jet system, a small jet is produced either at the nostrils or in a prechamber in front of the nasal prongs. During bubble CPAP, a variable flow device, the pressure is set by immersing the expiratory limb of the CPAP device in an underwater chamber to a depth equal to the desired CPAP level. The gas flows through the system causing bubbling in the chamber; this causes variability in the mean CPAP pressure. Using a variable flow device, the CPAP level is dependent on the flow of gas. There have been few randomised trials comparing methods of CPAP generation, the results of those studies have suggested that variable-flow CPAP has advantages over ventilator-delivered CPAP being associated with lower duration of supplementary oxygen, length of stay (LOS) and WOB and greater stability of flow and tidal volume (Huckstadt et al., 2003, Pandit et al., 2001, Stefanescu et al., 2003). In subgroup analysis of infants ventilated for less than two weeks, bubble CPAP compared to variable-flow CPAP was associated with a significantly lower rate of extubation failure, as well as a significantly reduced duration of CPAP, but overall, there were no significant differences in the rates of successful extubation (Gupta et al., 2009).

1.4.2.1.2 CPAP delivery

Short binasal prongs and nasal masks are two of the most commonly used interfaces for delivering CPAP (Kieran et al., 2011). Other methods include a nasopharyngeal prong, an endotracheal tube and a helmet. In a short-term randomised crossover study, 'helmet' CPAP was found to be as effective as nasal CPAP with respect to oxygen requirement, oxygen saturation (SaO₂), heart rate (HR), respiratory rate (RR), mean arterial blood pressure (MAP), and transcutaneous carbon dioxide. In addition, helmet CPAP use was associated with a significant increase in infant comfort assessed by the Neonatal Infant Pain Scale (Trevisanuto et al., 2005). There are, however, concerns that it may adversely affect cerebral blood flow (Zaramella et al., 2006) and it is associated with significantly higher noise levels than nasal CPAP (Trevisanuto et al., 2011).

Short binasal prongs are associated with a lower WOB compared to nasopharyngeal prongs (De Paoli et al., 2002). The results of a meta-analysis highlighted that binasal prongs were more effective in preventing reintubation in prematurely born infants when compared to either single nasal or nasopharyngeal prongs (De Paoli et al., 2008). Nasal injury has been described using short nasal prongs. In a randomised study which included eighty-nine very low-birthweight infants, no significant difference in the incidence of nasal injury was demonstrated between nasal prongs and nasal mask, but the incidence of nasal injury was significantly associated with CPAP duration (Yong et al., 2005). Continuous method of CPAP with nasal mask would be used for studies in this thesis.

1.4.2.2 Heated Humidified High Flow Nasal Cannula (HHFNC)

During humidified, high flow nasal cannula (HHFNC), heated and humidified gas is delivered at flow rates between 2 - 8 L/min via nasal cannulae. It has been suggested that HHFNC may be effective by eliminating the dead space (Dysart et al., 2009), reducing the WOB (Saslow et al., 2006), improving lung compliance at higher flow rates (Saslow et al., 2006) and delivering some degree of continuous positive airway pressure (Dysart et al., 2009, Spence et al., 2007). There are, however, concerns about the unpredictability of the positive airway pressures generated (Kubicka et al., 2008, Lampland et al., 2009, Finer and Mannino, 2009) and the possibility of increased risk of infection, particularly due to Ralstonia species (CDC, 2005) and gram-negative organisms (Shoemaker et al., 2007) resulting from contaminated humidifier cartridges in the Vapotherm 2000i device in 2005 (Jhung et al., 2007). Following the introduction of stricter infection control guidance by the manufacturer, there have been no further infection concerns since. Nevertheless, the technique has become popular, HHFNC has gained popularity in many countries (Ojha et al., 2013, Hochwald O, 2010, Hough et al., 2012, Manley et al., 2013, Roehr et al., 2007, Manley et al., 2012). Sixty three percent of units in Australia and New Zealand were reported to be using HHFNC in 2010 (Manley et al., 2012). A survey of fifty-seven level two or three neonatal units in the UK reported in 2013 that HHFNC was used in 77% of units (Ojha et al., 2013). In addition, infants were perceived to be more comfortable and more easily handled on HHFNC compared to nCPAP (Ojha et al., 2013).

1.4.2.2.1 Distending pressures generated by HHFNC

The distending pressure delivered by HHFNC is dependent on prong size. There have been several attempts to produce a formula to calculate the pressure generation during HHFNC at different flow rates on the basis of infant weight, but inconsistent results have been produced (Dysart et al., 2009, Sreenan et al., 2001). Airway pressure increases with the nasal prong to nares ratio (Sivieri et al., 2013). In an in vitro system (Lampland et al., 2009), and in eighteen infants (Wilkinson et al., 2008), the pressure increased with increased flow (Lampland et al., 2009). In 15 patients with RDS, the presence of a leak as small as 30% reduced the pressure to less than 3 cm H₂O (Lampland et al., 2009). Among infants with a postmenstrual age of between 29 and 44 weeks, and a birth weight of 835–3735 g, no pressure was generated when the infants' mouths were open, regardless of whether flow rates of up to 5 L/min were used (Kubicka et al., 2008). When the infants' mouths were closed, the oral cavity pressure was related to both flow rate and weight. For the subgroup of infants with birth weights ≤ 1500 g, there was a linear relationship between flow rate and oral cavity pressure (Kubicka et al., 2008). In a model, small, medium and large nares were simulated by holes drilled in a plastic fixture, which was connected to a lung simulator that simulated spontaneous breathing (Volsko et al., 2011). Nasal cannulae were inserted in the nares of the model, ensuring that the occlusion of the nares did not exceed 50%. Flow was adjusted from 2 to 6 L/min in 1 L/min increments. Not surprisingly, the greatest effects on Vt and pressure change as flow was increased, occurred with the smallest cannula. Another study (Collins et al., 2013b), compared pharyngeal pressures using two commonly used HHFNC devices,

the Fisher & Paykel Healthcare HHFNC (Auckland, New Zealand) and the Vapotherm 2000 (Vapotherm Inc., Stevensville, MD,USA), in nine infants at flow rates of 2 - 8 L/min. There was no difference in pharyngeal pressures recorded between devices at flow rates of 2 - 6 L/min. At flow rates of 7 L/min, the Vapotherm delivered a mean pharyngeal pressure of 4.7, with a standard deviation (SD) of 2.2 cm H₂O, compared with a mean of 4.23 (SD 2.2) cm H₂O by the Fisher & Paykel device (p = 0.04). At a flow of 8 L/min, the mean pharyngeal pressure via the Vapotherm was 4.9 (SD 2.2) cm H₂O, compared with 4.1 (SD 2.3) cm H₂O with the Fisher & Paykel device (p = 0.05). Whether such differences are clinically important remains to be determined and further studies are required to assess the relationship between flow and pressure in a variety of patient groups.

Flow rates needed to generate significant positive airway pressure remain unclear. Lampland et al. (2009) found that end-expiratory oesophageal pressure increased linearly with flow rate (1-6L/min), however there was large inter-patient and intrapatient variability, therefore delivered pressure for a given flow rate could not be predicted. Lavizarri et al. (2014) randomised twenty preterm infants with mildmoderate respiratory distress to receive CPAP (at 2, 4 or 6cm H₂O) and HHFNC (at 2, 4 or 6L/min). Retropharyngeal pressure was measured between periods of CPAP and HHFNC. It was found that the retropharyngeal pressures achieved during HHFNC were very variable. Retropharyngeal pressures of 2cm H₂O was achieved in four infants with 2 L/min and in eleven infants with 4L/min, whilst pressures of 4cm H₂O was reached in four infants with 4L/min and in eleven infants supported with HHFNC, whereas 6cm H₂O of CPAP achieved pressures of 6cm H₂O in all twenty infants. This study highlights the variability in airway pressures achieved

during HHFNC, and thus confirms the unpredictability of the pressures generated by HHFNC.

1.4.2.2.2 Work of breathing (WOB) and HHFNC

In a crossover study (Saslow et al., 2006), 18 infants with a birth weight <2 kg and a mean gestational age (GA) of 28 weeks were randomised to 6 cm H₂O nCPAP or HHFNC delivered at 3, 4 and 5 L/min. No significant differences in the WOB on the two respiratory support modes were reported. Measurements of tidal oesophageal pressure were used to approximate pleural pressures using an oesophageal balloon catheter (Viasys Healthcare Inc., Palm Springs, CA). In another study (de Jongh et al., 2014), the WOB was compared in a crossover study involving twenty infants (mean GA 28 weeks and BW 1.5 kg) at two levels of nCPAP settings 5 and 6 cm H₂O and two levels of HFNC settings 3 and 5 L/min. The WOB was assessed using respiratory inductive plethysmography (RIP). They found that infants on nCPAP had significant greater chest and abdomen synchrony on CPAP compared with HHFNC, but there was overlap of the confidence intervals; hence, the authors suggested the results were unlikely to be of clinical significance. In a third study (Lavizzari et al., 2014), twenty infants with mild or moderate RDS less than 96 hour old were studied, no significant differences were found in the WOB and lung mechanics during periods of support on nasal CPAP (nCPAP) (2, 4 cm H₂O) and HHFNC (2, 4 L/min). Tidal volume by RIP, pleural pressure estimated by oesophageal pressure, and gas exchange were evaluated at each setting and used to compute breathing pattern parameters, lung mechanics and WOB.

None of the above studies looked into WOB of infants with evolving or established BPD, and hence the need for the study in the thesis comparing WOB between HHFNC and CPAP in evolving or established BPD.

1.4.2.2.3 The efficacy of HHFNC compared to CPAP

Four studies, including three post-extubation studies, were considered in a Cochrane review, which concluded that, post-extubation, HHFNC may be associated with a higher rate of intubation than nCPAP. In addition, the review highlighted that there was insufficient evidence to establish the safety or efficacy of HHFNC as a form of respiratory support for prematurely born infants ie infants born less than twenty eight weeks gestation (Wilkinson et al., 2011). In a multicentre trial, infants randomised to HHFNC compared with those randomised to nCPAP did not differ significantly with regard to the primary outcome, which was treatment failure within seven days. If HHFNC failed, the infants could then be transferred to nCPAP and if nCPAP failed, infants were reintubated. Almost half of the infants not successfully supported by HHFNC were subsequently successfully treated with CPAP without reintubation. The incidence of nasal trauma was lower in the HHFNC group than in the CPAP group (p=0.01). There were no significant differences in the rates of death before discharge, need for oxygen supplementation at 36 weeks of PMA, pneumothorax, PDA, requiring treatment, NEC, retinopathy of prematurity (ROP) or intraventricular haemorrhage (IVH) (Manley et al., 2013).

In a randomised trial of 432 infants of 28–42 weeks of GA, no significant difference was seen in early (<72 h) extubation failure between infants on HHFNC (10.8%) compared with nCPAP (8.2%) (Yoder et al., 2013). There was also no significant
difference in the subsequent need for intubation or in adverse outcomes including air leak between the two groups. Infants remained on HHFNC longer than on nCPAP (median 4 versus 2 days, p = 0.01). There were no significant differences with regard to days on supplemental oxygen (median: 10 versus 8 days) or the incidence of BPD (20% versus 16%).

Collins et al. (Collins et al., 2013a) randomly assigned 132 infants less than 32 weeks of gestational age to receive either HHFNC or nCPAP post-extubation. The primary outcome of extubation failure in the subsequent seven days was defined as at least one of the following: apnoea (respiratory pause more than 20 seconds), more than six episodes in 6 hours or one requiring intermittent positive pressure ventilation, acidosis, pH<7.25 and arterial carbon dioxide levels more than 66 mmHg and more than a 15% sustained increase in the inspired oxygen concentration. No significant differences were found in the primary outcome or in the number of infants reintubated in the first week. The mean nasal trauma score, however, was lower in the HHFNC group (3.1 versus 7.4, p < 0.001).

1.5 Outcome measures

This thesis will utilise physiological measurements and oxygenation indices as outcome measures. The physiological outcome measures will be work of breathing (WOB), thoraco-abdominal asynchrony (TAA) and assessment of oxygenation indices (OI). In addition, time to achieve full oral feeds will be determined for the oral feeding study.

1.5.1 Assessment of work of breathing

Infants with BPD may be compromised by several factors, which include respiratory limitations and increased energy needs. The work of breathing gives an indication as to how much energy the infant is expending to inhale and exhale (Cabello and Mancebo, 2006), and thus a low WOB suggests lower respiratory muscle work. The work of the respiratory muscles may be assessed by either calculating the mechanical work or by evaluating the oxygen cost of breathing (Milic-Emili et al., 1999). A method of quantifying the effort expended by the respiratory muscles is the pressure time product (PTP) (Cabello and Mancebo, 2006).

Work in a two-dimensional system is equal to the force applied to an object multiplied by the distance the object travels. That is,

Work = force \times distance, or W = F \times D

However, in the three-dimensions that apply in the respiratory system, work now becomes the pressure applied to yield a change in the volume of the system, or

$$\mathbf{W} = \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{V} = \int_0^v \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{dv}$$

in which $\int_0^v P$ is the integral of the pressure across the respiratory system, as a function of volume, and dv is the change in the volume of the respiratory system.

1.5.2 Assessment of the diaphragmatic pressure time product

Pressure time product (PTP) is defined as the pressure developed by the respiratory muscles integrated to the time taken for the contraction (Cabello and Mancebo, 2006). The pressure time product of the diaphragm (PTPdi) can be calculated from the time integral of the transdiaphragmatic pressure (Pdi) (Brochard, 1991), where Pdi is the difference between pressures in the thoracic (pleural) and abdominal compartments, which are represented by the oesophageal (Poes) and gastric (Pgas) pressures respectively. In this thesis PTPdi will be used as a measure of WOB.

 $PTPdi = \int_0^{Ti} Pdi. dt$ Where Pdi = Pgas - Poes



Figure 1-3: Schematic representation of the gastric and oesophageal pressure change

1.5.3 Thoracoabdominal asynchrony

Asynchrony between the motion of the chest wall (ribcage) and abdomen occurs in respiratory distress (Hammer and Newth, 2009). Asynchrony occurs frequently in prematurely born infants as they have a predominantly cartilaginous ribcage that is highly compliant (Gerhardt and Bancalari, 1980). In infants with BPD, the degree of asynchrony has been shown to be directly proportional to airways resistance and inversely proportional to lung compliance (Allen et al., 1991). The increased negative pleural pressure generated during inspiration in infants with a high airways resistance is transmitted to the highly compliant chest wall, uncoupling rib cage and abdominal wall motion (Allen et al., 1990). The degree of asynchrony between the ribcage and abdominal motion is related to the inspiratory load which in turn may lead to fatigue (Tobin et al., 1987).

Thoracoabdominal motion may be assessed using a Respiratory inductance plethysmography (RIP) to map the magnitude and duration of both ribcage and abdominal motion. The two signals are mapped on an XY plot to form a Lissajous figure from which a phase angle can be calculated (Figure 1-4, 1-5 and 1-6). Once the Lissajous figures are constructed, an index of asynchrony was then calculated as described Allen et al (Allen et al., 1990), by dividing the width of the loop at mid ribcage excursion (m) by the width at the extremes of abdominal 90 excursion (s). Degrees of motion (φ) was calculated from the radian, where sin φ (in radians) = m/s, where φ is < 90 and where φ is > 180, then φ =180 –sin (m/s) (Allen et al., 1990, Mayer et al., 2003). This is done using the Excel spreadsheet (Microsoft corporation, USA). Completely synchronous motion has a phase angle of zero degrees (figure 1-4) and paradoxical motion an angle of 180 degrees (figure 1-5) (Allen et al., 1990). In this thesis, RIP will be used to measure TAA due to the relative ease of interpretation and non-invasive nature.



Figure 1-4: Complete synchronous motion of the rib cage and the abdomen



Figure 1-5: Complete asynchronous motion of the rib cage and the abdomen



Figure 1-6: Lissajous figures demonstrating various degrees of asynchronous motion of the rib cage and the abdomen.

Figures 1-4 to 1-6: Reprinted with permission of the American Thoracic Society. Copyright © 2014 American Thoracic Society (Allen et al., 1990).

1.5.4 Blood gases

:

The oxygenation index will be used to assess the intensity of ventilatory support required to maintain oxygenation. A lower OI is better.

Oxygen Index (OI) =
$$\frac{\text{FiO}_2 \text{ x MAP x 100}}{\text{PaO}_2}$$

_. _

FiO₂: Fraction of inspired oxygen in percentage

MAP: Mean Airway Pressure (mmHg)

PaO2: Partial pressure of arterial oxygen (mmHg)

Weaning of FiO₂ in the clinical studies was done by the bed-side nurse to avoid any potential bias.

1.6 Hypotheses

- PAV compared to ACV will improve oxygenation as assessed by the oxygen index (OI).
- NAVA compared to ACV will improve oxygenation as assessed by the OI.
- Current use of HHFNC will not have increased in view of the results of recent randomised trials.
- HHFNC will reduce the WOB and the degree of TAA compared to CPAP.

1.7 Aim

Overall aim is to undertake series of studies involving invasive and non-invasive ventilation using physiological measurements as outcomes in infants with evolving or established bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD), and to carry out a national survey.

- To determine if PAV compared to ACV will improve oxygenation as assessed by the OI.
- To determine if NAVA compared to ACV reduces the WOB and asynchrony with improvements in oxygenation.
- To conduct a survey to evaluate current practice regarding the use of HHFNC in all United Kingdom neonatal units.
- To determine in infants who are chronically CPAP dependent i.e. they are receiving CPAP two weeks after birth, whether HHFNC reduces the WOB and the degree of TAA compared to CPAP.

Chapter 2: Methods

2.1 Overview of protocols and ethical approval

2.1.1 Randomised crossover study comparing PAV with ACV

Recruited infants were randomly assigned to receive either PAV or ACV. Each infant was exposed to each mode for four hours, at the end of which an arterial blood sample was obtained, the ventilator settings were noted and the OI was calculated. The infant was then switched over to receive the other mode. Mean respiratory rate (RR), tidal volume (Vt) and mean airway pressure (MAP) was calculated over the last five minutes of the four hour study period. All the infants had continuous oxygen saturation monitoring. The data were obtained from the nursing chart taken each hour and mean calculated.

The South East London Research Ethics Committee approved the study (REC reference number: 07/H0808/147). Infants were entered into the study if their parents gave informed written consent. The study was undertaken at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, London.

2.1.2 Randomised crossover study comparing NAVA with ACV

A randomised crossover study comparing NAVA to ACV was undertaken in prematurely born infants. Infants were studied for one hour each on NAVA and ACV in random order. At the end of each hour the Edi Peak and Edi min, MAP and dynamic compliance (Cdyn) were measured and the oxygenation index (OI) calculated. In addition, the HR, RR and oxygen saturation were noted. Data obtained by the Edi catheter was downloaded from the ventilator into Excel via USB stick.

The study was approved by the West Midlands - Solihull Research Ethics Committee (REC reference number: REC15/WH/0330). Infants were entered into the study if their parents gave informed written consent. The study was undertaken at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, London.

2.1.3 Survey to evaluate current practice regarding the use of HHFNC in all United Kingdom neonatal units.

In 2015, clinicians in all UK neonatal units, identified from the National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP) Report, British Association of Perinatal Medicine (BAPM) directory and a departmental database from previous audits, were sent an email inviting them to complete an electronic web-based survey using Survey Monkey. Non-responders were sent email reminders and then contacted by telephone. In 2012, practitioners from the then 203 UK neonatal units had been contacted.

2.1.4 Comparison of WOB between CPAP and HHFNC in infants with evolving BPD

A randomised crossover study comparing the WOB between CPAP and HHFNC was undertaken in prematurely born infants with evolving BPD. Infants were studied on two consecutive days. On each study day infants received CPAP and HHFNC each for two hours, the order of which was randomised. The order in which the modes were delivered was reversed on the second day. The WOB was assessed by measuring the pressure time product of the diaphragm (PTPdi). PTPdi, TAA and SaO₂ were assessed during the final five minutes of each two hour period and average values calculated.

The study was approved by the London – Westminster Research Ethics Committee (REC reference number: REC 14/LO/0202). Infants were entered into the study if their parents gave informed written consent. The study was undertaken at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, London.

2.2 Equipment

2.2.1 Blood gas analysis

Measurement of blood pH, pCO₂ and pO₂ and the calculation of OI were performed using the blood gas equipment available on the NICU at King's College Hospital (ABL 700 series, Radiometer, Copenhagen, Denmark). In the randomised crossover studies of PAV versus ACV 0.2 - 0.3 millilitres of blood was withdrawn from an infants' indwelling arterial line, inserted by the clinical team for clinical reasons prior to commencing the study. For NAVA versus ACV study, capillary blood samples were taken via a heel prick. The blood gas machine was automatically calibrated four times in each 24-hour period. In addition, the blood gas analyser underwent a quality control (QC) check with the bioengineer at least once every 24 hours as per the trust and the neonatal unit standard operating procedure.

2.2.2 Comparison of WOB between CPAP and HHFNC in infants with evolving BPD

2.2.2.1 Measurement of airway flow and pressure

Respiratory flow was measured using a pneumotachograph (F10L, GM Instruments, Kilwinning, Scotland) and associated differential pressure transducer (MP45 range +/- 2 cmH₂O, Validyne, Northridge CA, USA). The pneumotachograph was calibrated prior to each study using a rotameter (10 L/min KDG Mobrey®, England). Airway pressure was measured using a differential pressure transducer (MP45 range +/-100 cmH₂O, Validyne, Northridge CA, USA) attached to a side arm on the pneumotachograph via a fine bore catheter. The flow and pressure signals from were amplified (CD 280, Validyne Northridge CA, USA) prior to acquisition.

2.2.2.2 Linearity of the pneumotachograph

The linearity of the pneumotachograph / transducer / amplifier / system was tested by passing air at known flows through the pneumotachograph and plotting the amplified electrical output against actual flow delivered by the rotameter. The pneumotachograph / transducer / amplifier / system were linear across the range ± 8 L/min.



Figure 2-1: Linearity of flow system

2.2.2.3 Linearity of the airway pressure transducer

The linearity of the airway pressure transducer was tested using a digital pressure meter (C950315/IS, Comark Limited, Welwyn Garden City, UK). The transducer was connected to the pressure meter using a three way tap and pressures were applied using a hand held syringe in 10 cmH₂O increments from -150 to 150 cmH₂O. The linearity of the Comark pressure meter was tested against a water manometer (Figure 2-2).The applied pressures measured by the digital pressure meter were plotted against the corresponding amplified output voltage from the transducer converted to digital units by the acquisition system software. The transducer had a linear response over a range \pm 150 cmH₂O. The pressures measured and reported in this thesis lie within this range.



Figure 2-2: Linearity of Comark Pressure meter against a water manometer (mmH₂O)

2.2.2.4 Measurement of intrathoraic, intra-abdominal and transdiaphragmatic pressure

Intrathoracic and intraabdominal pressures were obtained by measuring the pressures in the lower third of the oesophagus (Poes) and stomach (gastric pressure (Pgas)) respectively, using a dual pressure transducer tipped catheter (Gaeltec CTO - 2, Gaeltec Ltd, Isle of Sky, Scotland) and its associated amplifier (model type S7b/2, Gaeltec Ltd, Isle of Skye, Scotland). The catheter was 120 cm in length, and mounted with two miniature strain gauge transducers (5 x 2 mm). The gastric transducer was mounted at the tip of the catheter and the oesphageal transducer was mounted five cm proximal from the gastric transducer. The external diameter of the catheter was 2.1 mm. Prior to insertion, the catheter was lubricated with sterile aqueous gel (Aquagel, Williams Medical Supplies, Gwent, Wales, UK) and either inserted nasally or orally and advanced until the distal transducer was located in the stomach and the proximal transducer in the lower third of the oesophagus which was indicated by a positive deflection in Pgas and a negative deflection in Poes. Correct positioning of the Poes transducer was checked by comparing oesophageal to airway pressure during an occluded breath. Agreement between Poes oesophageal and mouth pressures within 90% and 110% (Beardsmore et al., 1980, Baydur et al., 1982) indicated that the transducer was correctly located in the thoracic oesophagus and hence pleural pressure could be reliably estimated.

2.2.2.5 Calibration

To calibrate the pressure transducer-amplifier system, the catheter was placed inside an airtight calibration tube and the amplifier zeroed at ambient pressure. A known pressure was then applied to the catheter using the digital pressure meter and the gain of the amplifier was set to 50 cmH₂0/V. Prior to each study, the dual tipped pressure transducer catheter-amplifier-computer system was calibrated with a two point calibration. The lower, zero point being atmospheric pressure and the upper, either negative or positive pressure, applied using the calibration tube and measured using the digital pressure meter. The linearity of the dual tipped pressure transducer catheter-amplifier-computer system was tested as described above for the differential pressure transducer across the range ± 150 cmH₂O using the digital pressure meter.



Figure 2-3: Linearity of oesophageal transducer

1



Figure 2-4: Linearity of gastric transducer

2.2.2.6 Frequency response

The respiratory rate of a neonate is between 60 to 120 breaths per minute. The fundamental frequency (the first harmonic) is therefore 1-2 Hz. The first ten harmonics contribute to the pressure waveform. Ideally the frequency response of the measuring system should be at least ten times the frequency of the infant's respiratory efforts, i.e. 20 Hz, to enable it to reproduce the first ten harmonics of the pressure wave without distortion.

The frequency response was determined by creating a quasi-instantaneous change in pressure using a 'pop test' in which an inflated balloon was fitted over the signal input site and then burst, producing an instantaneous negative step input to the system. The frequency response of the system (f3db) was calculated using the equation f3db = 1/3 x Tr, where Tr (response time in seconds) is defined as the time taken for pressure to fall from 90% to 10% of the initial pressure (Figure2-5).

The frequency response of each system used was determined using the pop test method, with the change in pressure against time recorded on a computer (MacBook, Apple Computer Corp, Cupertino, California, USA) using Chart software (Version 5.0, ADInstruments Pty Ltd, Bella Vista, NSW Australia) with analogue-to-digital sampling at 40KHz (Powerlab, ADInstruments Pty Ltd, Bella Vista, NSW, Australia). The frequency response of the airway pressure transducer system (consisting of the pressure transducer, connecting tubing, amplifier and computer) was determined by placing the tubing which connected the transducer to the pneumotachograph sideport inside an inflated balloon which was then burst. The response time was 8 milliseconds (0.008s), giving a calculated frequency response of 41.6 Hz.

The frequency response of the flow measurement system (consisting of the pneumotachograph, connecting tubing, pressure transducer for flow, amplifier and computer) was determined by attaching one end of the pneumotachograph to an inflated balloon. Partial occlusion of the other end of the pneumotachograph, allowed a constant background flow to be produced. Once flow through the pneumotachograph had been established at a constant rate, the balloon was burst resulting in an immediate fall in airflow to zero. The response time was 9 milliseconds (0.009s), giving a calculated frequency response of 37 Hz.

The frequency response of the oesophageal and gastric pressure transducing system (consisting of the dual microtransducer-tipped catheter, amplifier and computer) was tested by placing the catheter inside an inflated balloon which was then burst. The response time was 3.6 milliseconds for the oesophageal pressure transducer and 3 milliseconds for the gastric pressure transducer, giving frequency responses of 92.5 Hz and 111 Hz respectively.



Figure 2-5: The response to a sudden decrease in pressure associated with the bursting of a balloon on the measurement of pressure

2.2.2.7 Data acquisition and storage

Amplified signals from the dual pressure catheter ie oesophageal and gastric pressures were recorded and displayed in real time on a desktop computer with Spectra® software version 3.0.0.9 (Grove Medical Ltd, U.K.) with 100 Hz analogue to digital sampling (PCI-MIO-16XE-50, National Instruments, Austin, USA). Pressure signals were then transferred to laptop computer (Dell Optiplex 170L) running Labchart software (v7.3.7 27, Powerlab 16SP, ADInstruments, Sydney, Australia) with analog to digital sampling at 100Hz (Powerlab 16SP, ADInstruments, Sydney, Australia). The data stored in the desktop computer was encrypted and transferred on to a secure laptop computer in the research office immediately after data acquisition which was secured by a laptop lock. Paper copies containing patient identifiable data were kept in a locked filing cabinet.

2.2.2.8 Measurement of thoraco-abdominal asynchrony

To provide data on thoracoabdominal synchrony, chest and abdominal wall motion was assessed using a non-invasive method of uncalibrated respiratory inductive plethysmography (RIP) (Respitrace Corporation, Ardsley NY, USA) in AC uncoupled mode. Inductance coils embedded in two elastic bandages were placed around the rib cage (RC) under the axillae and at the level of the umbilicus (AB). Output voltages from the RIP were proportional to the changes in band inductance which were in turn proportional to the changes in the underlying cross sectional area or excursions of the chest and abdomen. The voltages from both bands were acquired and recorded.

2.2.2.8.1 Analysis of TAA waveforms

TAA was determined from ten artefact-free breaths during a five minute measurement period. For each breath, the rib cage (RC) and abdomen (ABD) movements were measured and a Lissajous figure plotted (Figure 2-6) with ABD movements on the x axis. Individual breaths were delineated by points of zero voltage (Figure 2-7). Asynchrony between RC and ABD movements were quantified by determining the phase angle by comparing the difference between inspiratory and expiratory abdominal positions at mid-RC excursion (ABdiff) with the maximum abdominal excursion (ABmax). The phase angle φ was calculated as sin φ =ABdiff/ABmax. When RC and ABD move in perfect synchrony, the phase angle is 0°. As asynchrony appears the loop opens. Complete asynchrony (paradoxical movements) results in a phase angle of 180°Adapted from (Hammer and Newth, 2009).



Figure 2-6: A trace demonstrating an asynchronous motion of the rib cage (RC) and the abdomen (AB) wherein the RC and AB motion are out of phase by 45 degrees. 'm' is the width of the figure at mid RC excursion, and 's' is the width representing AB excursion.



Figure 2-7: Lissajous figures and their respective phase angles (θ) demonstrating various degrees of asynchronous motion of the rib cage and the abdomen.

Adapted from (Hammer and Newth, 2009).

2.2.2.9 Transdiaphragmatic pressure time product (PTPdi)

The transdiaphragmatic pressure time product (PTPdi) was measured as an index of the WOB in the randomised, crossover study comparing CPAP and HHFNC in prematurely born infants with evolving BPD. PTPdi was calculated breath by breath by integrating the area subtended by the transdiaphragmatic pressure during inspiration. Measurement and acquisition of Pdi is described above. The phase transition of respiratory flow is generally used to determine the start and end of inspiration. Because of the use of HHFNC, it was not possible, to measure respiratory flow directly in the study. The beginning of inspiration was determined, therefore, by the rise in Pdi at the start of a breath and end of inspiration was determined from rib cage movement using RIP (Figure 2-8 and 2-9).The mean of 20 consecutive infant respiratory efforts was taken to calculate the PTPdi.



Figure 2-8: Trace obtained from an infant showing Pgas, Pes, chest and abdomen signals obtained when infant was measured on CPAP mode. The shaded area depicts calculation of PTPdi which was obtained from the area subtended by the Pdi trace during inspiration.



Figure 2-9: A diagram representing the calculation of PTPdi during inspiration

2.2.3 Measurement of diaphragm electrical activity (Edi)

NAVA uses the electrical activity of the diaphragm (Edi), captured by a specialised nasogastric tube with an array of eight bipolar electrodes (Edi catheter), to servo control the applied ventilator pressure. The Edi is used both to trigger each inflation and also to determine the level of support proportional to the infant's neural drive to breathe throughout each inflation (Navalesi and Longhini, 2015). Signals from each electrode pair are differentially amplified, digitised, and processed. The signal is filtered to remove electrical contamination from the heart, esophagus, and environment to give the highest possible signal-to-noise ratio (Sinderby et al., 2007).

Before insertion, the Edi catheter (Figure 2-10) (Maquet Critical Care AB) was dipped in sterile water for a few seconds to both activate the coating which improves electrical conductivity and to aid insertion. Edi catheter size and insertion distance for each patient was determined by the patient weight in kilograms and length in cm. The Edi catheter was inserted either oro or nasogastrically by measuring the "NEX" distance (the distance from nose, ear, and xiphoid) for proper insertion depth. The Edi catheter was inserted and correct positioning confirmed as per manufacturer instructions using the Edi catheter positioning guide function on the ventilator (Magnet Servo-n User Manual Version 1.1). The guide function displayed the retrocardiac echocardiograph. Correct positioning was achieved when the P waves and QRS complexes were visible in the uppermost leads and then decreased in size until the P waves disappeared in the lowest lead. Coloured highlighting of the central two leads appeared once the catheter was in the correct place (Figure 2-11). Once correct positioning was confirmed, the catheter was securely attached to the infant's face using an adhesive dressing. Stein et al (Stein et al., 2013b) evaluated the success or failure (due to complications) of placing the Edi catheter in 17 premature,

101

non-ventilated infants (average birthweight 1220 g, range 628-2520 g). The Edi catheter was placed successfully and correctly in all subjects, as determined by a dedicated "catheter positioning" window on the ventilator and no adverse events were noted (i.e. no pharyngeal, esophageal, or gastric damage or trauma, no apnea or bradycardia, and tracheal placement). There was no deterioration in the Edi signal with different positions, or with feeds.

Before the infant was changed to NAVA mode, the NAVA level was adjusted so that the estimated pressure waveform on NAVA closely matched the actual pressure waveform on the baseline settings, aiming for the peak Edi to be between $5-15\mu$ V as per the recommendations of the manufacturer. The baseline ventilator settings were used to determine the back-up settings to be used on NAVA in the absence of an Edi signal. The backup setting was the pressure setting when baby was on the ACV, default Edi trigger was 0.5 mcV and apnoea time set was 2 seconds. The upper pressure limit was at least five cm H₂O higher than the baseline settings, but did not exceed 30 cm H₂O.

The highest Edi value of the waveform (Edi peak) represented neural inspiratory effort, responsible for the size and duration of the breath. The lowest Edi (Edi min) represented spontaneous tonic activity of the diaphragm, which prevents derecruitment of alveoli during expiration. The Edi trigger (μ V; the minimum increase in electrical activity from the previous trough) triggered the ventilator to recognise the increase in electrical activity, thereby resulting in initiation of a breath.

The NAVA level (cmH₂O/ μ V; a conversion factor) translated the Edi signal into proportional pressures. Edi multiplied by the NAVA level determined airway pressure delivered by the ventilator for each breath. The NAVA software

102

automatically calculates peak inspiratory pressure (PIP) every seventeen minutes demonstrated by the formula

 $PIP = NAVA level \times (Edi peak - Edi min) + PEEP.$



Figure 2-10: NAVA - Edi Catheter

1- Connection to the module used for electrical activity of the diaphragm (EAdi)

measurements, 2 - Microsensors, 3- Nutrition feed



Figure 2-11: Edi catheter positioning screen. Correct placement of the nasogastric tube shows the retro cardiac electrocardiogram (ECG) signal progressing from large p and QRS complexes in the upper leads to small or absent complexes in the lower leads.

2.3 Statistical analysis

Data were analysed for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov, Shapiro-Wilk tests. Student's t-test was used to compare normally distributed groups. Nonparametric data were analysed using the Mann Whitney U test and Wilcoxon signed rank test for paired data. The Chi Squared and Fisher's exact test were used where appropriate. Data were deemed significant if the p value was less than 0.05. SPSS for windows (version 21 or 22 SPSS Inc, Chicago IL, USA) and Stata v 14 were used.

2.4 Randomisation

Randomisation was carried out by random number table generation and selection of a sequential sealed envelope after successful recruitment and meeting of pre-defined entry criteria based upon gestational age. There were no gestational age strata for randomisation. There has been no drop outs in any of the studies. Chapter 3: Randomised crossover trial of PAV versus ACV

3.1 Introduction

During PAV, the applied pressure is servo controlled, based on continuous input from the infant's breathing throughout each spontaneous breath. In addition, the ventilator can provide inflation pressure in phase with the tidal volume change in order to reduce the compliance load (i.e. the load due to the stiffness of infant's lungs) and in phase with the flow change to reduce the resistance load (i.e. the load due to airflow obstruction), termed elastic and resistive unloading, respectively (Schulze, 2002). Very prematurely born infants developing or with established BPD will have stiff lungs (that is non-compliant) despite a very compliant chest wall, so may be particularly likely to benefit from elastic unloading. PAV has only been assessed in neonates in a few studies. In a previous crossover study, infants with evolving or established BPD on PAV compared to ACV had better oxygenation indices, a lower WOB and better respiratory muscle strength. The infants, however, were only studied on each ventilator mode for one hour (Bhat et al., 2015). The longest infants have been studied on PAV was four hours (Schulze et al., 2007), but during that study, only changes in pulse oximetry results were assessed. During PAV, the applied pressure is servo controlled throughout each breath, whereas during ACV, only the initiation of inflation is synchronised to the start of inspiration; hence, it is likely that oxygenation would be superior on PAV compared to ACV (Bhat et al., 2015). During PAV, however, it has been previously demonstrated that there is a trigger delay of 60 millisecond in an in vitro model (Patel et al., 2010a); hence, it was important to assess blood gases over a longer period than studied previously (Bhat et al., 2015). Hence, in this study the hypothesis that infants with
evolving or established BPD would have superior OI results after four hours on PAV compared to after a similar period on ACV, was tested.

3.2 Methods

A randomised, crossover study was undertaken. Infants were entered into the study if their parents gave informed written consent. The study was approved by the South East London Research Ethics Committee (Appendix 1.1).

3.2.1 Protocol

Infants who were born prematurely (less than 32 weeks gestation) and who remained ventilated after the first week after birth were eligible for entry into the study if they were being supported by ACV. Evolving BPD was defined as ventilator dependence beyond seven days and established BPD as ventilator dependence beyond twenty-eight days. Infants were ineligible for inclusion in the study if they had a major congenital cardiac abnormality or were receiving a neuromuscular blockade agent. During the eight hour study period, no other changes were made to the infant care than the changes in ventilator mode. Infants at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust are routinely supported by the SLE 5000. The infants were transferred from the SLE 5000 ventilator to ACV on the Stephanie ventilator using the same ventilator settings (baseline). All infants as per the unit's routine policy were ventilated via shouldered endotracheal tubes which have been shown to have minimal or no leaks (Hird et al., 1990).

One hour was allowed for stabilisation of the infant on the Stephanie ventilator. A blood gas analysis was then performed and the baseline ventilator settings were noted. During the stabilisation period, the ventilator displayed compliance and resistance settings were noted every ten minutes and the six results meaned. The ventilator calculated the compliance from the inflation pressure (PIP - PEEP) and the resultant tidal volume. The value of the reciprocal of the compliance, elastance, was used to set the level of the elastic unloading. Each infant was then randomised to receive first either PAV or ACV mode for four hours and for the second four hours received the alternative mode.

During ACV, the peak inspiratory pressure (PIP), PEEP and the inflation time were kept the same as at baseline. During PAV, the maximum PIP was set at 5 cm H_2O above the PIP on ACV to prevent higher airway pressures. The PEEP level during PAV was the same as at baseline, and the PEEP and the inflation time during back up ventilation were the same as at baseline. Whenever cessation of spontaneous breathing occurred for more than five seconds during PAV, mandatory backup inflations were automatically delivered by the ventilator. The backup rate set at 40

109

breaths per minute was delivered to the infant for ten seconds with a backup inflation peak pressure of 5 cm H₂O above the PIP used during ACV. Elastic unloading, which was used only during inspiration, was initially set at 75 % of full unloading. If after ten minutes the infant remained stable and no airway pressure waveform abnormalities were observed (Patel et al., 2010a), the unloading was increased to 100 %. Full unloading was the level of unloading which increased the infant's compliance to the expected 'normal', that is, 2.0 mL/cm H₂O/kg. If airway pressure waveform abnormalities were then noted by looking at the pressure display, the unloading was to be reduced back to 75 %. Resistive unloading was not used as, an in vitro model, oscillations in the airway pressure waveforms appeared when the resistive unloading was greater than 100 cm H₂O/L/s (Patel et al., 2010a). The number of desaturations oxygen saturation less than 88 %) on each mode was noted. An arterial blood sample was obtained at the end of each 4 hour period, the ventilator settings were noted and the OI was calculated. RR, Vt and MAP were obtained from the ventilator. The results from the last five minutes of the four hour study period were averaged. All the infants had continuous oxygen saturation monitoring. During the study, the inspired oxygen concentration was adjusted as necessary to maintain the oxygen saturation level in the range 92 - 96 %.

3.2.2 Sample size

In a previous study, the mean OI in the PAV group was 6.0 (SD \pm 2.4) and in the ACV group was 9.8 (SD \pm 3.7) (Bhat et al., 2015). The planned sample size was eighteen infants to allow detection between the two ventilator modes of a within patient difference of 0.7 SD in the oxygenation index results with 80 % power and a two-sided significance of 5 %.

3.2.3 Statistical analysis

Differences were assessed for statistical significance using the paired Wilcoxon signed rank test using IBM SPSS statistical software, V.21 (IBM Corporation, USA).

3.3 Results

Recruitment to the trial was stopped at eight infants as all the OI results were in favour of PAV (Table 3.1). The decision was taken by the clinical team and the study statistician in the knowledge that the probability of all 8/8 results being in the same direction if both modes were in fact equally effective was extremely small (p=0.0039).

The median BW of the eight infants was 767 (range 650 - 1926) g, GA 25.7 (range 24.4 - 33.5) weeks and postnatal age at measurement 19 (range 10 - 105) days; seven of the eight infants were male. All the infants had been exposed to antenatal steroids and received postnatal surfactant and were receiving caffeine at the time of study. None were receiving sedation at the time of study or had received postnatal steroids. Their median baseline compliance was 0.4 (range 0.3-1.1) mL/cm H₂O and resistance was 155 (range 66-252) cmH₂O/L/s. All infants tolerated 100 % elastic unloading the study. The median FiO₂ (p= 0.049), the median mean MAP (p=0.012) and the median OI (p=0.012) were all lower on PAV compared to ACV (Table 3-1). There was no significant difference in the median number of desaturation episodes (Table 3-2) between the two modes.

Infant Number	PAV	ACV	Mode used first
1	8.1	15.2	PAV
2	7.0	8.3	PAV
3	17.4	21.6	ACV
4	12.6	20.3	PAV
5	5.2	8.4	ACV
6	10.0	14.1	PAV
7	5.9	11.3	PAV
8	9.9	11.7	ACV
Median	9	12.9	

Table 3-1: Oxygenation index results by ventilator mode



Figure 3-1: Box plot oxygenation index results by ventilator mode



Figure 3-2: Box plot Mean airway pressure results by ventilator mode

Table 3-2: Comparison by ventilator mode (n=8)

The results are expressed as the median (range)

	PAV	ACV	P value
FiO ₂	0.48 (0.31-0.65)	0.57 (0.40-0.72)	0.049
PCO ₂ (kpa)	8.0 (5.5-9.4)	7.2 (5.5-11)	0.889
OI	9.0 (5.2-17.4)	12.9 (8.3-21.6)	0.012
MAP (cm H ₂ O)	8.5 (6.7 -10.0)	9.5 (8.1 -13)	0.012
Respiratory rate	56 (47-76)	57 (49-66)	0.401
Tidal Volume (ml/kg)	7.5 (3.70-10.0)	5.8 (3.5-10.3)	0.093
Saturations (Sao2) (%)	95 (92-97)	95(93-98)	0.571
Desaturation episodes (n)	1 (0-2)	0 (0-2)	0.429

Table 3-3: Comparison by PAV ventilator mode used first (n=5)

The results are expressed as the median (range)

	PAV	ACV	p value
FiO ₂	0.52 (0.4-0.6)	0.55 (0.46-0.64)	0.343
PCO ₂ (kpa)	8.1 (5.5-8.9)	6.9 (5.5-9.3)	0.686
OI	8.1 (5.9-12.7)	14.1 (8.3-20.3)	0.043
MAP (cm H ₂ O)	7.7 (6.7-10)	8.5 (8.1-12)	0.042
Respiratory rate	55 (48-77)	53 (50-61)	0.225
Tidal Volume (ml/kg)	8.6 (4.1-9.6)	5.5 (3.5-10.3)	0.138
Saturations (Sao2) (%)	96 (93-97)	95 (94-99)	0.480
Desaturation episodes (n)	1 (0-1)	0 (0-2)	0.480

Table 3-4: Comparison by ACV ventilator mode used first (n=3)

The results are expressed as the median (range)

	PAV	ACV	p value
FiO ₂	0.45 (0.31-0.65)	0.6 (0.4-0.72)	0.109
PCO ₂ (kpa)	7.2 (7.0-9.32)	7.5 (6.4-11)	0.593
OI	9.9 (5.2-17.4)	11.7 (8.5-21.6)	0.109
MAP	9.3 (7.1-10)	10 (9-13)	0.109
Respiratory rate	58 (55-70)	61 (57- 66)	1.00
Tidal Volume (ml/kg)	6.7 (3.7-7.9)	6.3 (3.8-7.5)	0.285
Saturations (Sao2) (%)	94 (94-98)	96 (93-97)	1.00
Desaturation episodes (n)	1 (0-2)	0 (0-2)	0.655

3.4 Discussion

This study has demonstrated that PAV compared with ACV in prematurely born infants ventilated beyond the first week after birth resulted in a reduced WOB and a lower OI. The lower OI is in keeping with the findings of Schulze and colleagues (Schulze et al., 2007), pulse oximetry readings were not significantly different on the two modes in very prematurely born infants (mean GA 25.6 weeks) with evolving CLD. In addition, in prematurely born infants with acute respiratory distress (birth weights between 600 and 1200 g) on 45-minute epochs on PAV compared with 45minute epochs on ACV or intermittent mandatory ventilation, similar arterial oxygenation was maintained despite lower airway and transpulmonary pressures during PAV (Schulze et al., 1999). The lower mean airway pressure and lower OI that this study has demonstrated on PAV likely reflect that during PAV the applied pressure is servo controlled throughout each spontaneous breath, whereas during ACV, synchronisation of inflation is only at the beginning of inspiration. In addition, the lower OI might also reflect the reduced level of asynchrony during PAV, which was not statistically significant (p=0.05). High airway pressures and airway pressure oscillations have been demonstrated when excessive amounts of elastic and resistive unloading are used (Schulze et al., 1998). Previous study (Bhat et al., 2015) was terminated before the calculated sample size, as all twelve infants in the one hour crossover study had lower OI results on PAV compared to ACV (Bhat et al., 2015). The maximum duration PAV was previously trialled was four hours (Schulze et al., 2007), twenty two infants had a median GA of 25.6 weeks and were studied at a mean PNA of 22.9 days. They found after a four hour period of PAV that despite a

lower MAP, the inspired oxygen concentration and pulse oximetry readings were not significantly different between the two groups. Hence, it was important that four hour duration was tested for oxygenation indices when on PAV and compared with ACV. This study has demonstrated that four hour on PAV compared with four hour on ACV resulted in a significant improvement in the OI.

On subgroup analysis, the results remained the same when analysis was done separately depending upon the start mode of ventilation ie PAV first however not when ACV was used first. This indicates that there was no cross over effect of the baseline ventilator mode and that four hour study is adequate to reliably note the differences between the two modes.

There are limitations to this study. The postnatal age of infants studied had a wide range, studying infants at different stages of evolving BPD. Further stratifying based on the postnatal and gestational age would have been ideal however difficult in view of the small sample size.

In conclusion, this short-term cross- over study has demonstrated that PAV compared to ACV was associated with significant superior oxygenation, which likely reflects better synchronisation of the inflation pressure and tidal volume throughout inspiration.

Chapter 4: Neurally adjusted ventilatory assist (NAVA) in very prematurely born infants with evolving BPD

4.1 Introduction

Application of mechanical ventilation in spontaneously breathing children remains a challenge for several reasons: mainly, small tidal volumes and high respiratory rates, especially in the presence of leaks, interfere with patient-ventilator synchrony. Leaks also cause unreliable monitoring of respiratory drive and respiratory rate (Vignaux et al., 2013). Furthermore, ventilator adjustment must take into account that infants have strong vagal reflexes, demonstrate central apnea and periodic breathing, with a high variability in breathing pattern (Beck et al., 2016).

NAVA is a mode of ventilation whereby the timing and amount of ventilatory assist is controlled by the patient's neural respiratory drive. Since NAVA uses the diaphragm electrical activity (Edi) as the controller signal, it is possible to deliver synchronized assist, to follow the variability in breathing pattern, and to monitor patient respiratory drive, independent of leaks (Navalesi and Longhini, 2015).

Infants with evolving or established BPD have a high resistance which means flow triggering can be challenging. In addition, the severity of their lung function abnormalities likely means that supporting each breath throughout the inspiratory cycle would be advantageous. Hence, this study aimed to test the hypothesis that NAVA compared to ACV would result in a lower OI in infants with evolving or established BPD.

4.2 Methods

A randomised, crossover study was undertaken. Infants were entered into the study if their parents gave informed written consent. The study was approved by the West Midlands - Solihull Research Ethics Committee (Appendix 1.2).

4.2.1 Protocol

Infants were eligible for this randomised, crossover study if they were born at less than 32 weeks of gestation and remained ventilated at one week of age on ACV. Those with major congenital abnormalities or receiving neuromuscular blockade were excluded. Infants at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust are routinely supported by the SLE 5000 (software versions 4.3; SLE Ltd., South Croydon, UK). All infants were ventilated with Coles should ered endotracheal tubes which have been shown to have minimal or no leaks (Hird et al., 1990). Volume targeting was not used. On entry into the study, the infants were transferred from ACV on the SLE 5000 to ACV (named 'Pressure Control' on the Servo-n ventilator, Maquet Critical Care, Solna, Sweden). The same ventilator settings and backup rate were used. In particular, the PEEP was kept at 4–5 cmH₂O as had been used prior to the study and the inflation time was set, as previously, at 0.36 to 0.4 seconds. The back-up setting was set with approved time of two seconds and the upper pressure limit at least five cm H_2O higher than the baseline settings, but did not exceed 30 cm H_2O . The default Edi trigger was set at 0.5 mcv. A six French Edi catheter was inserted and correct positioning was confirmed as per the instructions of the manufacturer

using the Edi catheter positioning guide function on the ventilator (Magnet Servo-n User Manual Version 1.1).

After one hour of stabilisation on the Servo-n ventilator using the settings described above, blood gas analysis was performed. Infants were then randomised to receive either ACV or NAVA first for one hour and then to receive the alternative mode for a subsequent hour. The order in which the infants received the two modes was randomised between each baby using a sequential opaque sealed envelope system. Before the infant was changed to NAVA mode, the NAVA level was adjusted so that the displayed pressure waveform on NAVA closely matched the actual pressure waveform on the baseline settings, aiming for the peak Edi to be between 5 and 15 μ V as per the recommendations of the manufacturer. The baseline ventilator settings were used to determine the backup settings to be used on NAVA in the absence of an Edi signal. The initial ventilator settings were noted, and the number and duration of desaturations (defined as oxygen saturation less than 88%) were noted on each ventilator mode. The inspired oxygen concentration (FiO₂) was adjusted to maintain oxygen saturations between 92 and 96%. At the end of each hour, capillary blood gas analysis was performed and the OI calculated as FiO₂ x MAP \times 100/pO₂. The FiO₂, the PIP, MAP, Vt and respiratory system compliance (calculated from the tidal volume divided by the PIP) were recorded from the ventilator displays and averaged from the last five minutes of each one hour period. The data were down-loaded into excel via a USB stick.

4.2.2 Sample size

The planned sample size was eighteen infants, as this allowed detection of a difference in OI between the two modes of one standard deviation (1SD), with 80% power and 5% significance. An interim analysis was planned to take place half way through, i.e. after nine patients, as a previous study with PAV, a ventilation mode which also provides tailored support throughout the infant's inspiratory cycle, demonstrated that the OI on PAV was better in all patients than on ACV (Bhat et al., 2015). In order to preserve the type I error at 5%, the interim analysis was conducted at 0.01 with the final analysis conducted using 0.04. If the interim analysis showed p < 0.01, then the trial was to stop and the final analyses was conducted using the nine patients.

4.2.3 Statistical analysis

The results were positively skewed and, therefore, log transformed for analysis so that a paired t test could be used. Using that method, the results including the mean and confidence intervals were on the ratio scale. Results were back-transformed to give geometric means for each mode of ventilation. The ratio of geometric means and the corresponding 95% confidence intervals for the ratio are presented. The ratio of the geometric means was interpreted as the percentage difference between results on NAVA compared to on ACV. The desaturation data were discrete and analysed using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test. Data were analysed using Stata v 14.

4.3 Results

At the interim analysis, the comparison of the OI on NAVA versus ACV was statistically significant using the modified cut-off for significance described above. The OI was lower on NAVA for all infants (Table 4-1). Hence, the clinical and statistics team agreed that the trial was to be stopped and the data analysed. Nine infants had been assessed, seven males and two females. Their median GA was 25 (range 22–27) weeks and median BW 750 (range 545–830) grams. The infants were studied at a median PNA of 20 (range 8-84) days. Three infants with the highest OI's median GA was 25 (range 25-26) weeks, BW 760 (range 760-794) grams and PNA when infants were studied 64 (64-84) days. This when compared with the remaining infants of median GA 25 (range 24-28) weeks, 750 (range 600-830) grams and PNA of 10.5 (range 8-21) days was not statistically significant. All had received at least one dose of antenatal steroids and postnatal surfactant and were on caffeine at the time of the study. Only one infant was receiving sedation and this was at the same dose throughout the study. Five of the infants were studied first on NAVA and four on NAVA then ACV. Neither was there any suggestion that the order (by chance) was related to the size of value, i.e. no suggestion that all those with a high starting OI received the modalities in the same order (p=0.66). The ratio of the geometric means for the OI, the primary outcome, was 0.72 (NAVA/ACV), showing that the mean OI was 28% lower on NAVA compared to ACV with corresponding 95% CIs from 62 to 83% (Table 4-1). Infants who had the highest OI's on ACV tended to have a larger reduction in OI when studied on NAVA (Table 4-1). The mean PIP (p=0.017) and mean MAP (p =0.004) were significantly lower on NAVA, as was the mean FiO_2 (p = 0.007). The mean compliance (p=0.005) and oxygen saturation (p=0.016) were significantly higher on NAVA. The OI results remained

statistically significant even without including the infants with highest OI's (p=0.003). The means for the Vt, RR and peak Edi and the number of desaturations were not significantly different between the two modes (Table 4-2).

Table 4-1: Results by ventilatory mode

Individual baseline PIP and FiO_2 at the start of the study and individual OI data at the end of each study mode is given below. The mode which was used first in each infant is given in the fifth column.

IP (cm H ₂ O)	FiO ₂	ACV (OI)	NAVA (OI)	Mode first	GA at measurement (wks)	PNA at measurement (days)
27	1	30.3	17.4	ACV	36.3	84
16	0.44	9.2	8	NAVA	26.1	9
18	0.63	7.6	5.7	NAVA	26.6	9
18	0.27	6.7	4.6	ACV	26.4	8
24	0.87	26.8	16	ACV	29.6	30
19	0.41	7.4	6.6	NAVA	29.6	12
19	0.7	24.1	13.4	NAVA	32.6	64
18	0.45	6.4	5.4	NAVA	27.9	21
23	0.4	5.7	4.5	ACV	27.1	20



Figure 4-1: Individual OI data at the end of each mode



Figure 4-2 OI data when infants randomised to ACV mode first



Figure 4-3 OI data when infants randomised to NAVA mode first

Table 4-2: Results by ventilatory mode

The results are presented as the geometric mean (range) for each mode, the ratio of geometric means between the two modes and the corresponding 95% CI

	Mean ACV	Mean	Ratio of	95%	P value
		NAVA	geometric	confidence	
			means	interval for	
			(NAVA/ACV)	ratio	
Ovvgenation	11.06	7 92	0.72	0.62 - 0.83	0.0007
index	(5,7,20,2)	(A 7 17 A)	0.72	0.02 - 0.03	0.0007
	(3.7-30.3)	(4./-1/.4)	0.82	0.72 0.04	0.017
Peak airway	20.13	16.72	0.83	0.72 - 0.96	0.017
pressure	(14.8 - 27.1)	(12.7-28.6)			
(cmH_2O)					
Mean airway	10.53	9.20	0.87	0.81 - 0.94	0.004
pressure)	(8.8-14.2)	(7.8-12.7)			
(cmH ₂ O)					
FiO ₂	0.45	0.36	0.81	0.71 – 0.93	0.007
	(29.2-91.0)	(23-54.9)			
Peak Edi (µV)	14.04	11.10	0.79	0.60 - 1.05	0.089
	(6.1-47.0)	(7.4-22.0)			
Expiratory tidal	7.06	6.24	0.88	0.76 - 1.02	0.87
volume (ml/kg)	(5.1-8.6)	(3.9-10)			
Compliance	0.50	0.62	1.24	1.09 – 1.41	0.005
(ml/cmH ₂ O)	(0.30-0.68)	(0.34-0.91)			
Respiratory rate	51	50	0.98	0.89 - 1.08	0.616
(breaths/min)	(40-65)	(38-67)			
Oxygen	94	98	1.03	1.01 - 1.05	0.016
saturations (%)	(90-98)	(95-100)			

4.4 Discussion

This pilot study demonstrated that in infants born very prematurely and with evolving or established BPD, NAVA compared to ACV resulted in a significantly lower OI. This was associated with significantly lower PIPs and MAPs, likely reflecting that during NAVA the applied pressure is servo controlled throughout each inflation. On ACV, although inflation is triggered by the beginning of the infant's inspiratory effort, the start of inflation may have been delayed as a flow trigger was used. Furthermore, after the inflation is triggered during ACV, neither the inflation pressure nor time is tailored to the infant's inspiratory efforts. The higher compliance on NAVA compared to ACV reflects the lower PIPs with similar tidal volumes. A higher compliance on NAVA has been previously reported in neonatal and paediatric patients (Beck et al., 2009, Breatnach et al., 2010, de la Oliva et al., 2012). The study results suggest that infants with the highest OIs, i.e. the most severe lung disease, had the greatest reduction in OI during NAVA. This may reflect, as above, the shorter trigger delay on NAVA which means more of the infant's breath is pressure supported.

There are strengths and some limitations to this study. As the same ventilator was used for each mode, the significant differences demonstrated are due to the differences in the modes, rather than differences in the ventilator performance. Although infants were only studied for an hour on each mode, this study has demonstrated significant differences between the two modes. The infants included had a wide range of severity of respiratory disease as suggested by their PIP and FiO₂, yet a positive effect of NAVA in all infants was noted. The infants had also

131

had a wide range of postnatal ages, but previous audits of 100 consecutive prematurely born infants demonstrated, 95% of those who remained ventilator dependent at one week developed BPD. Thus results demonstrate that compared to ACV, NAVA use was associated with superior results in infants with evolving or established BPD. Capillary blood samples were used to calculate the OIs. This method was used at the end of each of the two periods in all infants, thus the use of capillary blood sampling would not bias the results. The infants were all clinically stable when assessed and none were seriously ill, had shock, hypotension or peripheral vasoconstriction at the time of assessment (McLain et al., 1988). Thus, it was appropriate to calculate the OIs from the capillary blood samples. Only one infant was receiving sedation and this was at the same dose throughout the study, so this did not influence the results. A crossover study design was used as this removes the variability between patients by looking at effects within them. As no order effect was demonstrated, the design gives more precision. The trial was stopped at the planned interim analysis as in all infants the OI was lower on NAVA. There was no significant difference in the peak Edi between the two modes, although there was a trend for it to be lower on NAVA. This may have been due to insufficient redistribution of work from the patient to the ventilator, as the NAVA level was only adjusted so that the estimated pressure waveform closely matched the pressure waveform on the baseline settings. As yet, there are no randomised controlled trials with long-term outcomes assessing NAVA and therefore, any potential long term benefit remains unknown.

132

In conclusion, this study has demonstrated in a randomised crossover study that NAVA, compared to ACV, resulted in improved (lower) OI and this was associated with lower peak and mean airway pressures. There was no suggestion that the size of difference in OI was greater with order i.e. with either ACV then NAVA and therefore, any potential long term benefit remains unknown. Chapter 5: Changes in use of heated humidified high flow nasal cannula oxygen (HHFNC)

5.1 Introduction

HHFNC has gained popularity in many countries (Ojha et al., 2013, Hochwald O, 2010, Hough et al., 2012, Manley et al., 2012, Roehr et al., 2007). Recent RCTs, however have not demonstrated any superiority of HHFNC (Collins et al., 2013a, Manley et al., 2013). Hence a survey was conducted with aim to determine whether use of HHFNC had changed since a previous survey in 2012 (Desai P et al, 2012). In addition, the survey aimed to also identify if and why practitioners preferred HHFNC or CPAP.

5.2 Methods

In 2015, lead clinicians of all 194 neonatal units in the UK were identified from the NNAP report, the BAPM directory and a departmental database from previous audits. Clinicians were sent an email inviting them to complete an electronic web-based survey using Survey Monkey (Appendix 1.3). Non-responders were sent email reminders and then contacted by telephone. In the 2012 survey, practitioners from the then 203 UK neonatal units had been contacted (Desai P et al, 2012). Both surveys included questions on the level of neonatal care, the indications for use of HHFNC and the flow rates used. In addition, the 2015 survey also contained questions on nasal prong size, weaning policies and reasons for HHFNC or CPAP preference (practitioners were given a list of reasons to choose from (Table 5-2)).

5.2.1 Statistical analysis

Differences in the results of the two surveys were assessed for statistical significance using the chi-square test. IBM SPSS statistical software, V.22 (IBM Corporation, USA) was used.

5.3 Results

There was a 100% percent response rate to both surveys. Use of HHFNC had significantly increased in 2015 compared to 2012 (p<0.001) (Table 5.1). Almost all local neonatal and neonatal intensive care units were using HHFNC in 2015. Although fewer units were using HHFNC as an alternative to CPAP or weaning from CPAP (p=0.001), a greater proportion were using it as the primary support mode post extubation (p=0.001). The highest and lowest flow rates used varied in both surveys, but the magnitude of change of flow when weaning from HHFNC did not differ significantly in the two surveys. The flow rate tended to be weaned 24 hourly. The 2015 survey highlighted that in 25% of units prong size was chosen to fit snugly and occlude the nostril and 36% of units had no HHFNC guideline. The majority of practitioners preferred HHFNC to CPAP (Table 5.2).

Table 5-1: HHFNC practice in 2012 and 2015

Data are displayed as the n (%)

	2012	2015	P value
HHFNC			
Total number of units	203	194	
Using HHFNC	113 (56%)	169 (87%)	< 0.001
Unit Level			
Special Care Unit	12/53 (23%)	22/42 (52%)	0.003
Local Neonatal Unit	60/92 (64%)	84/88 (95%)	< 0.001
Neonatal Intensive Care Unit	41/58 (70%)	63/64 (98%)	< 0.001
Data are subsequently displayed only for units using HHFNC			
Indication of Use			
Alternative to CPAP/ Weaning from CPAP	66 (58%)	65 (38%)	0.001
Primary mode of respiratory support post extubation	47 (42%)	104 (62%)	0.001
Highest Flow Rate			
8	36 (32%)	78 (46%)	0.011
7	12 (11%)	6 (4%)	0.017
6	38 (34%)	77 (46%)	0.030
5	27 (23%)	8 (4%)	< 0.001
Lowest Flow Rate			
4	11 (10%)	18 (11%)	0.485
3	40 (35%)	40 (24%)	0.023
2	45 (40%)	97 (57%)	0.003
1	17 (15%)	14 (8%)	0.058
Size of change in flow when weaning			
0.5 L/min	30 (27%)	51 (30%)	0.301
1 L/min	38 (34%)	58 (35%)	0.504
0.5 - 1 L/min	45 (40%)	60 (36%)	0.271
Time between changes in flow rates			
24 hourly		79 (47%)	
24-48 hourly		21 (12%)	
48 hourly		17(10%)	
Depends on the infant's condition		52 (31%)	
Prong size		10 (0.50())	
Snug fit to occlude the nostril		42 (25%)	
Prong size selected to allow air leak		127 (75%)	
Guideline/Policy			
Yes		108 (64%)	

Table 5-2: Preference for CPAP or HHFNC

Data are displayed as n (%)*

	CPAP	HHFNC	P value
Which is better	18 (11%)	109 (64%)	< 0.001
Better access to the infant	1 (1%)	145 (86%)	< 0.001
Easier to set up	13 (8%)	138 (82%)	< 0.001
Better access for skin to skin	0 (0%)	162 (96%)	< 0.001
care			
Quicker to achieve full bottle	0 (0%)	166 (98%)	< 0.001
feeding			
Quicker to achieve full breast	0 (0%)	168 (99%)	< 0.001
feeding			
Less nasal trauma	0 (0%)	162 (96%)	< 0.001
More comfortable for the	1 (1%)	165 (98%)	< 0.001
infant			
Parental preference	0 (0%)	162 (96%)	< 0.001

*Not all practitioners responded to every question

5.4 Discussion

Comparison of the results of surveys has demonstrated that there has been a significant increase in the use of HHFNC between 2012 and 2015. Units are now significantly more likely to use HHFNC rather than CPAP as the primary support mode post extubation. This is despite a lack of evidence that HHFNC provides more efficacious respiratory support (Shetty and Greenough, 2014). This change in practice then reflects practitioners' views on other advantages to the infant that may occur during HHFNC support.

The most commonly used devices were Vapotherm 2000i and the Optiflow TM (Fischer and Paykel). Similar observations were made in a survey in the United States (Hough et al., 2012). HHFNC was used as primary treatment post-extubation from MV in sixty-two percent of the neonatal units in Australia and New Zealand (Hough et al., 2012). Survey done by Ojha et al (Ojha et al., 2013) showed fifty-three percent of the neonatal units used HHFNC post-extubation . In a randomised trial of 432 infants of 28–42 weeks of gestational age, no significant difference was seen in early extubation failure (less than 72 hours) between infants on HHFNC (10.8%) and nCPAP (8.2%) (Yoder et al., 2013). Collins et al. (Collins et al., 2013a), randomly assigned 132 infants less than 32 weeks of gestational age to receive either HHFNC or nCPAP post extubation. No significant differences were found in the primary outcome or in the number of infant's reintubation in the first week.

During HHFNC, airway pressure increases with the nasal prong to nares ratio. As a consequence it has been recommended that the prong diameter should be about half that of the nostril (Hochwald O, 2010). Yet, 25% of units were using prongs of a size to occlude the nostril. Weaning flow in increments of between 0.5 -1 L/min and 24 hourly were most popular, but there was no consensus. This likely reflects that there is currently no evidence to determine the best weaning strategy from HHFNC. As a consequence, infants may stay on HHFNC longer than on CPAP (Gupta A, 2014).

HHFNC was thought to be better than nCPAP by the majority (64%) of responders. Similarly a survey of nursing staff demonstrated 76.9 % of nurses preferred HHFNC over NCPAP in infants equal to or older than 28 weeks of gestational age (Roberts et al., 2014). Practitioners reported that the majority of parents favoured HHFNC over CPAP. A likely influence on parental preference is that almost all practitioners who responded to our survey thought that HHFNC facilitated easier access to skin to skin care, was more comfortable for the infant, caused less nasal trauma and facilitated earlier achievement of full enteral feeds. The evidence for those beliefs, however, is mixed. A randomised, crossover comparison of 24 hours of nCPAP or HHFNC then 24 hours of the alternative support in infants with mild respiratory illness demonstrated that, although parents preferred HHFNC, there were no significant differences in the results of a patient comfort score (Klingenberg et al., 2014). Injury to the nasal mucosa or external nares has been frequently reported in prematurely born infants supported by nCPAP (Newnam et al., 2013, Fischer et al., 2010), and several studies have demonstrated a lower incidence of nasal trauma with HHFNC compared to HHFNC (Manley et al., 2013, Yoder et al., 2013, Kugelman et al., 2015). Infants born extremely prematurely may remain on respiratory support for

many months, including the age when they should be able to take oral feeds, that is usually at 34 weeks PMA (Mizuno and Ueda, 2003, Gewolb et al., 2001, Lau et al., 2000). The likelihood of a trial of breast or bottle feeding may be higher if the infant is supported by HHFNC rather than CPAP, but that evidence is only from a retrospective review (Yoon SH, 2011).

This study has a number of strengths and some limitations. Unlike previous surveys of HHFNC, this survey had a 100% response rate in 2015 as did the comparator survey in 2012. In addition, all levels of units completed the survey. As with all such surveys, the responses may reflect the views of the practitioner answering the survey rather than the unit's policy. Sixty-four percent of units, however, did have an HHFNC policy/guideline so it does feel that our results are likely to reflect UK practice in 2015.

In conclusion, use of HHFNC has significantly increased in UK neonatal units, in particular as the primary support mode post extubation. Those data and the lack of consensus on weaning strategies highlights research is urgently needed to optimise weaning from HHFNC. Chapter 6: Work of breathing during CPAP and heated humidified high flow nasal cannula

6.1 Introduction:

Non-invasive respiratory management of infants with evolving or established BPD is particularly challenging as such infants often tolerate CPAP poorly. Whether CPAP or HHFNC provides more effective respiratory support has not been assessed in such a population. Hence, the aim of this study was to determine in infants with evolving or established BPD whether CPAP compared to HHFNC reduced the WOB and TAA and improved oxygen saturation (SaO₂).

6.2 Methods

A randomised, crossover study was undertaken. Infants whose parents gave informed written consent were entered into the study. The study was approved by the London – Westminster Research Ethics Committee (Appendix 1.4).
6.2.1 Protocol

Infants born at less than 32 weeks of gestation between April 2014 and February 2015 at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK and required CPAP and more than 40% of oxygen at or beyond two weeks of age were eligible for entry into this study. Those infants with a postnatal age greater than 14 days but less than 28 days were diagnosed as having evolving BPD and those aged 28 days or older established BPD. Infants whose parents gave informed written consent were entered into the study.

Infants were studied on two days for two hours each on CPAP (SLE 2000 or 5000 infant ventilator) and HHFNC (Fisher and Paykel using optiflow TM neonatal and infant nasal prongs). Infants were randomised on the first day to be supported on either CPAP or HHFNC for two hours and then by HHFNC or CPAP for two hours, on the second day the modes were delivered in the reverse order. The CPAP level was 6 cm H₂O and during HHFNC a flow rate of 8 L/min was used for infants with a weight more than 1 kg and 6 L/min for infants with a weight less than 1kg. WOB, as the PTPdi was assessed and TAA determined.

6.2.2 Sample size

Recruitment of twenty infants allowed us to detect a difference of twenty-five percent in the WOB between the groups and differences in the results of the other physiological measurements equivalent to one standard deviation with 80 % power at the 5 % level.

6.2.3 Statistical Analysis

The data were tested for normality and found to have a normal distribution, hence a paired t-test was used to assess whether differences were statistically significant. There was no evidence for any effect of the order or of the day in the results, hence the results for each of the two respiratory support modes were averaged over the two days. Regression models were used to examine the effect of the order of modes of respiratory support (CPAP/HHFNC or HHFNC/CPAP). The residuals from the regression model were checked for their fit to a normal distribution. Because of the relatively small sample size and the difficulty in ensuring a normal distribution, the analysis examining mode was also run using a rank test (Wilcoxon matched pairs) which gave similar results. IBM SPPS statistical software, V.22 (IBM Corporation, USA) was used. Analyses were conducted using Stat v12.

6.2.4 Results

Parents of thirty eligible infants were approached and twenty agreed to recruitment. The infants who were recruited compared to those who were not did not differ significantly with regard to their GA (27 (range 25–29) weeks versus 28 (range 25-32) weeks) (p=0.47) or BW (median 834 (664–1020) grams versus 880 (range 512-1500) grams) (p=0.94). When studied the infants required a median FiO₂ of 0.42 (range 0.4-0.58) (Table 6-1). There were no significant differences in the results of any of the physiological measurements between the two groups (Table 6-2).

Table 6-1: Demographic data

The data are presented as median (range) or n (%)

Number of infants recruited (n)	20	
Gestational age (weeks)	28 (24-32)	
Gestational age ≥ 28 weeks	7 (35%)	
Birth weight (grams)	888 (512-1500)	
Antenatal steroids	18/20 (90%)	
Surfactant	20/20 (100%)	
Caffeine	20/20 (100%)	
Post conceptional age (weeks) at assessment	31 (28-39)	
Postnatal age (days)	23 (15-96)	
Male (%)	11/20 (55%)	
Ethnicity:		
Caucasian	8 (40%)	
Afro-Caribbean	5 (25%)	
Asian	5 (25%)	
Other	2 (10%)	

Table 6-2: Physiological assessment results by respiratory support mode

The results are expressed as the median (range)

	CPAP	HHFNC	P value
PTP cmH ₂ 0/s/min	244 (126-294)	220 (169.5-318)	0.852
TAA (degrees)	12.6 (4.5-23.3)	13.1 (4.2 -23.8)	0.763
HR (bpm)	153 (130-172)	152 (140-175)	0.93
RR (bpm)	55 (35-79)	55 (38-74)	0.78
Oxygenation Saturation (%)	95 (93-100)	96 (94-99)	0.485

6.3 Discussion

This study has demonstrated that in prematurely born infants with evolving or established BPD, there were no significant differences in the WOB, TAA or SaO₂ when the infants were supported by CPAP or HHFNC. Infants with evolving or established BPD were studied exclusively, unlike in previous studies (Lavizzari et al., 2014, Saslow et al., 2006, de Jongh et al., 2014). Interestingly, in the one study which did include infants with BPD, but also other pathologies, no significant difference was found in the WOB between CPAP and HHFNC (Saslow et al., 2006).

This study has a number of strengths and some limitations. A dual pressure tip transducer was used to assess the WOB as assessed by measurement of the transdiaphragmatic pressure time product. Changes in oesophageal pressure may not accurately reflect change in pleural pressures when chest wall distortion results in an uneven distribution of pleural pressure changes. In this study, there were no differences in the TAA between the two respiratory support modes; hence the comparison of the WOB results is valid. A crossover design was used, hence we cannot comment on long term outcomes. Previous studies investigating the WOB were also of a crossover design (Saslow et al., 2006, Lavizzari et al., 2014, de Jongh et al., 2014), but were of single crossover design and did not analyse the effect of the order in which the infants were studied on a particular respiratory mode. This study examined infants on two successive days with the order of respiratory support mode being reversed on the subsequent day and then the results of two days were meaned. It is possible had the infants been exposed to longer periods of HHFNC and CPAP different results may have been obtained. Assessment of ten very low birth weight infants in a crossover design study of two hours on HHFNC (mean flow rate of 4.8

or 5.4 l/min) or CPAP (5 cm H₂O) demonstrated greater diaphragmatic activity on HHFNC suggesting that nCPAP was providing more effective respiratory support. Of note, however, there was no significant difference in the oxygen saturation levels between the two modes (Nasef et al., 2015).

In conclusion, this study has demonstrated that CPAP did not provide superior respiratory support as determined by physiological assessments compared to HHFNC in infants with evolving or established BPD. Chapter 7: Discussion

7.1 Summary and current literature

7.1.1 Invasive ventilation studies (PAV and NAVA)

In Chapter 3, the randomised crossover study of PAV versus ACV demonstrated that PAV compared to ACV in prematurely born infants with evolving or established BPD, was associated with significant superior oxygenation which likely reflects the better synchronisation of the inflation pressure and tidal volume throughout inspiration. There have been no recent studies examining PAV in premature infants that have been published. The findings from the studies undertaken by our research group (Bhat et al., 2015, Shetty et al., 2016) and by Schulze et.al.(Schulze et al., 2007) in premature infants have shown promising results but a randomised controlled trial with infants on PAV for a duration longer than four hours with longterm outcomes is needed to evaluate if any benefit is appreciable in the long term before routine clinical use. Ventilation strategies designed to improve patientventilator 'interaction' have continued to evolve, of which NAVA is an example. Some authors believe that NAVA is more suitable for a wider range of infants than PAV including the most premature infants, due to more accurate triggering and delivery of ventilator support regardless of leak around the endotracheal tube (Kacmarek, 2011).

In Chapter 4, a randomised crossover study demonstrated that NAVA compared to ACV, resulted in improved (lower) OI and reduced peak and mean airway pressures. In the neonatal population NAVA has been compared in a number of crossover trials to date to modes such as PSV and ACV (Lee et al., 2012, Stein et al., 2013a, Longhini et al., 2015). Data from these studies suggest an improved patient ventilator synchrony, lower peak pressures with a lower work of breathing. In a retrospective single centre study (Jung et al., 2016), where twenty-nine preterm infants with a median gestational age of 25.4 weeks (range, 23.4-30.3 wk) and a median birth weight of 680 grams (range, 370 - 1,230 grams) and who were supported with a mechanical ventilator for more than four weeks were converted to NAVA. During NAVA, the peak inspiratory pressure $(20.12 \pm 2.93 \text{ vs})$ 14.15 ± 3.55 cm H₂O; p < 0.05), mean airway pressure (11.15 ± 1.29 vs 9.57 ± 1.27 cm H₂O; p < 0.05), and work of breathing (0.86 ± 0.22 vs 0.46 ± 0.12 J/L; p < 0.05) were significantly decreased, and the blood gas values were significantly improved. In an another study (Lee et al., 2017) of fourteen prematurely born patients who received prolonged ventilation, NAVA reduced cyanotic episodes and the need for sedatives and dexamethasone. NAVA has also been used in improving patient-ventilator synchrony, reducing endotracheal secretion and gastric over distention in a rare skeletal dysplasia (Jeune syndrome -asphyxiating thoracic dystrophy) (Cosi et al., 2016) and also there are case reports of use in unilateral diaphragmatic paralysis (Roosens et al., 2016). However, larger RCTs are needed to determine if these findings are generalisable.

151

7.1.2 Non-invasive ventilation studies

In chapter 5, I have shown that use of HHFNC has significantly increased in UK neonatal units, in particular as the primary support mode post extubation but concluded that the lack of consensus on weaning strategies highlighted that research is urgently needed. The recent Cochrane review (Farley et al., 2015) also concluded that there is currently no evidence available to suggest the best strategy for weaning and withdrawing HHFNC as a respiratory support in preterm infants.

In Chapter 6, I have demonstrated that CPAP did not provide superior respiratory support compared to HHFNC in infants with evolving or established BPD. HHFNC was not significantly different in efficacy from nCPAP or NIPPV in respiratory support after extubation in a Cochrane meta-analysis (Wilkinson et al., 2016). In another systematic review (Fleeman et al., 2016) concluded that there was lack of convincing evidence suggesting that HHFNC is superior or non-inferior to usual care, in particular NCPAP. Both of these studies, however, looked at non-invasive forms of respiratory support in preterm infants immediately after birth or following extubation. There have been no further studies examining WOB in BPD and hence a larger randomised study would be beneficial in the future.

A pilot study to determine the feasibility of using HHFNC in stabilisation of babies born less than 30 weeks gestation in delivery suite in a single-centre (Reynolds et al., 2016), concluded HHFNC for stabilisation of premature infants in the delivery room and subsequent transfer to NICU is feasible. Whether this would prevent the number of BPD infants is yet to be determined.

152

Non-invasive Neurally Adjusted Ventilator Assist (NIV-NAVA) has been introduced via a pilot and a randomised observational study to assess its safety, feasibility, and short term physiological effects (Gibu et al., 2017). The pilot protocol applied NIV-NAVA to eleven infants on nasal CPAP, HHFNC, or nasal IMV (NIMV), in multiple two to four hour periods of NIV-NAVA for comparison. The NAVA catheter was used for eighty one patient day's without complications. NIV-NAVA produced significant reductions (as a percentage of measurements on NIMV) in: PIP, 13%, FiO₂, 13%, frequency of desaturations, 42%, length of desaturations, 32%, and phasic Edi, 19%. NIV-NAVA is projected as a safe, alternative mode of non-support that produced beneficial short-term physiological effects, especially compared to NIMV. If NIV-NAVA was the future of NIV is yet to be determined.

In a retrospective analysis (Colaizy et al., 2016) of a cohort of twenty-four VLBW (<1.5 kg) ventilation improved after an increase in NIV NAVA level in 83% of the premature infants studied (20/24) with a decrease in median pCO₂ by 5 mm Hg (p = 0.0001). They concluded that NIV NAVA can provide synchronised post-extubation ventilatory support as measured by decreased pCO₂ in premature infants. Our patient group have been infants with evolving or established BPD and to translate above effects to BPD infants would be a challenge.

7.2 Strengths and weaknesses of the studies

7.2.1 Invasive ventilation studies (PAV and NAVA)

We stopped the trial at the planned interim analysis in both the studies in Chapter 3 and 4, as all infants in both these studies had OI's that were lower on NAVA and PAV compared to ACV. Hence our sample size is comparatively low. In the NAVA study, we used capillary blood samples to calculate the OIs. We used this method at the end of each of the two periods in all infants. The infants were all clinically stable when assessed and none were seriously ill, had shock, hypotension or peripheral vasoconstriction at the time of assessment (McLain et al., 1988). Thus, it was appropriate to calculate the OIs from the capillary blood samples, however arterial blood gas analysis would have been ideal.

Ages of infants studied in above studies were wide ranged ie 10 -105 days in Chapter 3 study and 8-84 days in Chapter 4. As per inclusion criteria we have included all infants who required ventilation beyond first week of life. However, in view of the small sample size it would be would be difficult to tease out evolving and established BPD as per definition.

7.2.2 Non-invasive ventilation studies

One of the main strengths of our study in Chapter 6, comparing WOB between CPAP and HHFNC in evolving and established BPD is that infants were studied on two successive days with the order of respiratory support studied being reversed on the subsequent day and the results were then meaned, hence the results are robust. The measure of WOB, PTPdi was calculated by breath by breath integration of the area subtended by the transdiaphragmatic pressure during inspiration. The phase transition of respiratory flow is generally used to determine the start and end of inspiration. Because of the use of HHFNC, it was not possible, to measure respiratory flow directly in the study. The beginning of inspiration was determined, therefore, by the rise in Pdi at the start of a breath and end of inspiration was determined from rib cage movement using RIP. The same method was used for both modes of ventilation and no statistical differences were noted in both the groups.

7.3 Future work

Both PAV and NAVA, respiratory support is servo-controlled based on continuous input from the infant's respiratory effort. Both aim to improve synchronisation of the timing of the respiratory cycle and also to vary the level of support offered breath-tobreath in proportion to the respiratory effort of the patient. In this thesis, both PAV and NAVA have been shown to have advantageous in neonates, but they have not been compared to each other and should be. Studies evaluating NAVA with other modes of ventilation have been small. Since VTV has been shown to improve both short term and long term outcomes in prematurely born infants, randomised trials comparing NAVA with VTV in newborns to see if NAVA is superior to VTV would be useful. As most previous studies and trials were small and did not include long-term patient oriented outcomes, randomised controlled trials are needed to determine whether NAVA is effective in decreasing the duration of ventilation, reducing the incidence of BPD and decreasing LOS, rate of pneumothorax and IVH.

Non-invasive Neurally Adjusted Ventilator Assist (NIV-NAVA) has been introduced into clinical practice via a pilot and a randomised observational study to assess its safety, feasibility, and short term physiological effects (Gibu et al., 2017). The improvements in oxygenation and the reduction in the frequency and severity of episodes of desaturation, if sustained on NIV-NAVA, could make a difference in the long-term outcomes of BPD or retinopathy of prematurity. Well-designed feasibility studies are needed to assess the safety of NIV-NAVA and its possible longer term physiological benefits, which make it a feasible alternate therapy to all current modalities of non-invasive ventilation. A pilot study to determine the feasibility of using HHFNC in stabilisation of babies born less than 30 weeks gestation in delivery suite in a single-centre (Reynolds et al., 2016), concluded HHFNC for stabilisation of premature infants in the delivery room and subsequent transfer to NICU is feasible. If these finding are generalisable is yet to be found out by well-designed RCTs.

7.4 Conclusions

PAV and NAVA may be beneficial in infants with evolving or established BPD. Use of HHFNC has significantly increased in UK neonatal units. In infants with evolving or established BPD, CPAP compared to HHFNC offered no significant advantage and in infants who required respiratory support beyond 34 weeks PMA.

References

- ALLEN, J., ZWERDLING, R., EHRENKRANZ, R., GAULTIER, C., GEGGEL, R., GREENOUGH, A., KLEINMAN, R., KLIJANOWICZ, A., MARTINEZ, F., OZDEMIR, A., PANITCH, H. B., NICKERSON, B., STEIN, M. T., TOMEZSKO, J., VAN DER ANKER, J. & AMERICAN THORACIC, S. 2003. Statement on the care of the child with chronic lung disease of infancy and childhood. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 168, 356-96.
- ALLEN, J. L., GREENSPAN, J. S., DEORAS, K. S., KEKLIKIAN, E., WOLFSON, M. R. & SHAFFER, T.
 H. 1991. Interaction between chest wall motion and lung mechanics in normal infants and infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 11, 37-43.
- ALLEN, J. L., WOLFSON, M. R., MCDOWELL, K. & SHAFFER, T. H. 1990. Thoracoabdominal asynchrony in infants with airflow obstruction. *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 141, 337-42.
- ALY, H., MILNER, J. D., PATEL, K. & EL-MOHANDES, A. A. 2004. Does the experience with the use of nasal continuous positive airway pressure improve over time in extremely low birth weight infants? *Pediatrics*, 114, 697-702.
- AMBALAVANAN, N., VAN MEURS, K. P., PERRITT, R., CARLO, W. A., EHRENKRANZ, R. A., STEVENSON, D. K., LEMONS, J. A., POOLE, W. K., HIGGINS, R. D. & NICHD NEONATAL RESEARCH NETWORK, B. M. D. 2008. Predictors of death or bronchopulmonary dysplasia in preterm infants with respiratory failure. *J Perinatol*, 28, 420-6.
- AMMARI, A., SURI, M., MILISAVLJEVIC, V., SAHNI, R., BATEMAN, D., SANOCKA, U., RUZAL-SHAPIRO, C., WUNG, J. T. & POLIN, R. A. 2005. Variables associated with the early failure of nasal CPAP in very low birth weight infants. *J Pediatr*, 147, 341-7.
- AN, H. S., BAE, E. J., KIM, G. B., KWON, B. S., BEAK, J. S., KIM, E. K., KIM, H. S., CHOI, J. H., NOH, C. I. & YUN, Y. S. 2010. Pulmonary hypertension in preterm infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Korean Circ J*, 40, 131-6.
- ANAND, D., STEVENSON, C. J., WEST, C. R. & PHAROAH, P. O. 2003. Lung function and respiratory health in adolescents of very low birth weight. *Arch Dis Child*, 88, 135-8.
- ARNON, S., GRIGG, J. & SILVERMAN, M. 1993. Pulmonary inflammatory cells in ventilated preterm infants: effect of surfactant treatment. *Arch Dis Child*, 69, 44-8.
- ATTAR, M. A. & DONN, S. M. 2002. Mechanisms of ventilator-induced lung injury in premature infants. *Semin Neonatol*, 7, 353-60.
- AVERY, M. E., TOOLEY, W. H., KELLER, J. B., HURD, S. S., BRYAN, M. H., COTTON, R. B., EPSTEIN, M. F., FITZHARDINGE, P. M., HANSEN, C. B., HANSEN, T. N. & ET AL. 1987. Is chronic lung disease in low birth weight infants preventable? A survey of eight centers. *Pediatrics*, 79, 26-30.
- BANCALARI, E., ABDENOUR, G. E., FELLER, R. & GANNON, J. 1979. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia: clinical presentation. *J Pediatr*, 95, 819-23.
- BANCALARI, E., CLAURE, N. & SOSENKO, I. R. 2003. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia: changes in pathogenesis, epidemiology and definition. *Semin Neonatol*, 8, 63-71.
- BANCALARI, E., GARCIA, O. L. & JESSE, M. J. 1973. Effects of continuous negative pressure on lung mechanics in idiopathic respiratory distress syndrome. *Pediatrics*, 51, 485-93.
- BANCALARI, E. & GERHARDT, T. 1986. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatr Clin North Am*, 33, 1-23.
- BARALDI, E. & FILIPPONE, M. 2007. Chronic lung disease after premature birth. *N Engl J Med*, 357, 1946-55.

- BARALDI, E., FILIPPONE, M., TREVISANUTO, D., ZANARDO, V. & ZACCHELLO, F. 1997. Pulmonary function until two years of life in infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 155, 149-55.
- BARWING, J., AMBOLD, M., LINDEN, N., QUINTEL, M. & MOERER, O. 2009. Evaluation of the catheter positioning for neurally adjusted ventilatory assist. *Intensive Care Med*, 35, 1809-14.
- BARWING, J., PEDRONI, C., QUINTEL, M. & MOERER, O. 2011. Influence of body position, PEEP and intra-abdominal pressure on the catheter positioning for neurally adjusted ventilatory assist. *Intensive Care Med*, 37, 2041-5.
- BAYDUR, A., BEHRAKIS, P. K., ZIN, W. A., JAEGER, M. & MILIC-EMILI, J. 1982. A simple method for assessing the validity of the esophageal balloon technique. *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 126, 788-91.
- BEARDSMORE, C. S., HELMS, P., STOCKS, J., HATCH, D. J. & SILVERMAN, M. 1980. Improved esophageal balloon technique for use in infants. *J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol*, 49, 735-42.
- BECK, J., EMERIAUD, G., LIU, Y. & SINDERBY, C. 2015. Neurally Adjusted Ventilatory Assist (NAVA) in children: a systematic review. *Minerva Anestesiol*.
- BECK, J., EMERIAUD, G., LIU, Y. & SINDERBY, C. 2016. Neurally-adjusted ventilatory assist (NAVA) in children: a systematic review. *Minerva Anestesiol*, 82, 874-83.
- BECK, J., GOTTFRIED, S. B., NAVALESI, P., SKROBIK, Y., COMTOIS, N., ROSSINI, M. & SINDERBY, C. 2001. Electrical activity of the diaphragm during pressure support ventilation in acute respiratory failure. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 164, 419-24.
- BECK, J., REILLY, M., GRASSELLI, G., MIRABELLA, L., SLUTSKY, A. S., DUNN, M. S. & SINDERBY, C. 2009. Patient-ventilator interaction during neurally adjusted ventilatory assist in low birth weight infants. *Pediatr Res*, 65, 663-8.
- BECK, J., SINDERBY, C., LINDSTROM, L. & GRASSINO, A. 1998. Effects of lung volume on diaphragm EMG signal strength during voluntary contractions. J Appl Physiol (1985), 85, 1123-34.
- BECK, J., SINDERBY, C., WEINBERG, J. & GRASSINO, A. 1995. Effects of muscle-to-electrode distance on the human diaphragm electromyogram. J Appl Physiol (1985), 79, 975-85.
- BEEN, J. V., ROURS, I. G., KORNELISSE, R. F., JONKERS, F., DE KRIJGER, R. R. & ZIMMERMANN, L. J. 2010. Chorioamnionitis alters the response to surfactant in preterm infants. J Pediatr, 156, 10-15 e1.
- BELLANI, G., MAURI, T., COPPADORO, A., GRASSELLI, G., PATRONITI, N., SPADARO, S., SALA, V., FOTI, G. & PESENTI, A. 2013. Estimation of patient's inspiratory effort from the electrical activity of the diaphragm. *Crit Care Med*, 41, 1483-91.
- BENITZ, W. E. 2010. Treatment of persistent patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants: time to accept the null hypothesis? *J Perinatol*, 30, 241-52.
- BENITZ, W. E. 2012. Patent ductus arteriosus: to treat or not to treat? Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 97, F80-2.
- BHANDARI, V., BIZZARRO, M. J., SHETTY, A., ZHONG, X., PAGE, G. P., ZHANG, H., MENT, L.
 R., GRUEN, J. R. & NEONATAL GENETICS STUDY, G. 2006. Familial and genetic susceptibility to major neonatal morbidities in preterm twins. *Pediatrics*, 117, 1901-6.
- BHAT, P., PATEL, D. S., HANNAM, S., RAFFERTY, G. F., PEACOCK, J. L., MILNER, A. D. & GREENOUGH, A. 2015. Crossover study of proportional assist versus assist control ventilation. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 100, F35-8.
- BHAT, R., SALAS, A. A., FOSTER, C., CARLO, W. A. & AMBALAVANAN, N. 2012. Prospective analysis of pulmonary hypertension in extremely low birth weight infants. *Pediatrics*, 129, e682-9.

- BIRENBAUM, H. J., DENTRY, A., CIRELLI, J., HELOU, S., PANE, M. A., STARR, K., MELICK, C. F., UPDEGRAFF, L., ARNOLD, C., TAMAYO, A., TORRES, V., GUNGON, N. & LIVERMAN, S. 2009. Reduction in the incidence of chronic lung disease in very low birth weight infants: results of a quality improvement process in a tertiary level neonatal intensive care unit. *Pediatrics*, 123, 44-50.
- BJORKLUND, L. J., INGIMARSSON, J., CURSTEDT, T., JOHN, J., ROBERTSON, B., WERNER, O. & VILSTRUP, C. T. 1997. Manual ventilation with a few large breaths at birth compromises the therapeutic effect of subsequent surfactant replacement in immature lambs. *Pediatr Res*, 42, 348-55.
- BLENCOWE, H., COUSENS, S., OESTERGAARD, M. Z., CHOU, D., MOLLER, A. B., NARWAL, R., ADLER, A., VERA GARCIA, C., ROHDE, S., SAY, L. & LAWN, J. E. 2012. National, regional, and worldwide estimates of preterm birth rates in the year 2010 with time trends since 1990 for selected countries: a systematic analysis and implications. *Lancet*, 379, 2162-72.
- BLOXSOM, A. 1950. Resuscitation of the newborn infant; use of the positive pressure oxygen-air lock. *J Pediatr*, 37, 311-9.
- BOSE, C., VAN MARTER, L. J., LAUGHON, M., O'SHEA, T. M., ALLRED, E. N., KARNA, P., EHRENKRANZ, R. A., BOGGESS, K., LEVITON, A. & EXTREMELY LOW GESTATIONAL AGE NEWBORN STUDY, I. 2009. Fetal growth restriction and chronic lung disease among infants born before the 28th week of gestation. *Pediatrics*, 124, e450-8.
- BOTET, F., FIGUERAS-ALOY, J., MIRACLE-ECHEGOYEN, X., RODRIGUEZ-MIGUELEZ, J. M., SALVIA-ROIGES, M. D. & CARBONELL-ESTRANY, X. 2012. Trends in survival among extremely-low-birth-weight infants (less than 1000 g) without significant bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *BMC Pediatr*, 12, 63.
- BREATNACH, C., CONLON, N. P., STACK, M., HEALY, M. & O'HARE, B. P. 2010. A prospective crossover comparison of neurally adjusted ventilatory assist and pressure-support ventilation in a pediatric and neonatal intensive care unit population. *Pediatr Crit Care Med*, 11, 7-11.
- BROCHARD, L. 1991. Transdiaphragmatic Pressure, Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- CABELLO, B. & MANCEBO, J. 2006. Work of breathing. Intensive Care Med, 32, 1311-4.
- CARLO, W. A., STARK, A. R., WRIGHT, L. L., TYSON, J. E., PAPILE, L. A., SHANKARAN, S., DONOVAN, E. F., OH, W., BAUER, C. R., SAHA, S., POOLE, W. K. & STOLL, B. 2002. Minimal ventilation to prevent bronchopulmonary dysplasia in extremely-lowbirth-weight infants. *J Pediatr*, 141, 370-4.
- CARLTON, D. P., CUMMINGS, J. J., SCHEERER, R. G., POULAIN, F. R. & BLAND, R. D. 1990. Lung overexpansion increases pulmonary microvascular protein permeability in young lambs. *J Appl Physiol (1985),* 69, 577-83.
- CARVALHO, C. G., SILVEIRA, R. C. & PROCIANOY, R. S. 2013. Ventilator-induced lung injury in preterm infants. *Rev Bras Ter Intensiva*, 25, 319-26.
- CDC, C. F. D. C. P. 2005. Ralstonia associated with Vapotherm oxygen delivery device. . *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*, 54, 1052–3.
- CERNY, L., TORDAY, J. S. & REHAN, V. K. 2008. Prevention and treatment of bronchopulmonary dysplasia: contemporary status and future outlook. *Lung*, 186, 75-89.
- CHARAFEDDINE, L., D'ANGIO, C. T. & PHELPS, D. L. 1999. Atypical chronic lung disease patterns in neonates. *Pediatrics*, 103, 759-65.
- CHECK, J., GOTTEINER, N., LIU, X., SU, E., PORTA, N., STEINHORN, R. & MESTAN, K. K. 2013. Fetal growth restriction and pulmonary hypertension in premature infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *J Perinatol*, 33, 553-7.
- COALSON, J. J. 2006. Pathology of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Semin Perinatol,* 30, 179-84.

COALSON, J. J., WINTER, V. & DELEMOS, R. A. 1995. Decreased alveolarization in baboon survivors with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 152, 640-6.

- COALSON, J. J., WINTER, V. T., SILER-KHODR, T. & YODER, B. A. 1999. Neonatal chronic lung disease in extremely immature baboons. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 160, 1333-46.
- COLAIZY, T. T., KUMMET, G. J., KUMMET, C. M. & KLEIN, J. M. 2016. Noninvasive Neurally Adjusted Ventilatory Assist in Premature Infants Postextubation. *Am J Perinatol*.
- COLLINS, C. L., HOLBERTON, J. R., BARFIELD, C. & DAVIS, P. G. 2013a. A randomized controlled trial to compare heated humidified high-flow nasal cannulae with nasal continuous positive airway pressure postextubation in premature infants. *J Pediatr*, 162, 949-54 e1.
- COLLINS, C. L., HOLBERTON, J. R. & KONIG, K. 2013b. Comparison of the pharyngeal pressure provided by two heated, humidified high-flow nasal cannulae devices in premature infants. *J Paediatr Child Health*, 49, 554-6.
- COOKE, L., STEER, P. & WOODGATE, P. 2003. Indomethacin for asymptomatic patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD003745.
- COOLS, F., OFFRINGA, M. & ASKIE, L. M. 2015. Elective high frequency oscillatory ventilation versus conventional ventilation for acute pulmonary dysfunction in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD000104.
- COSI, G., GENONI, G., MONZANI, A., PILAN, B., LAVRANO, M. & FERRERO, F. 2016. Effective Neurally Adjusted Ventilatory Assist (NAVA) Ventilation in a Child With Jeune Syndrome. *Pediatrics*, 138.
- COSTELOE, K. L., HENNESSY, E. M., HAIDER, S., STACEY, F., MARLOW, N. & DRAPER, E. S. 2012. Short term outcomes after extreme preterm birth in England: comparison of two birth cohorts in 1995 and 2006 (the EPICure studies). *BMJ*, 345, e7976.
- CUMMINGS, J. J., POLIN, R. A., COMMITTEE ON, F. & NEWBORN 2016. Oxygen Targeting in Extremely Low Birth Weight Infants. *Pediatrics*, 138.
- D'ANGIO, C. T., AMBALAVANAN, N., CARLO, W. A., MCDONALD, S. A., SKOGSTRAND, K., HOUGAARD, D. M., SHANKARAN, S., GOLDBERG, R. N., EHRENKRANZ, R. A., TYSON, J. E., STOLL, B. J., DAS, A., HIGGINS, R. D., EUNICE KENNEDY SHRIVER NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF CHILD, H. & HUMAN DEVELOPMENT NEONATAL RESEARCH, N. 2016. Blood Cytokine Profiles Associated with Distinct Patterns of Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia among Extremely Low Birth Weight Infants. J Pediatr, 174, 45-51 e5.
- DAUBENSPECK, J. A., LEITER, J. C., MCGOVERN, J. F., KNUTH, S. L. & KOBYLARZ, E. J. 1989. Diaphragmatic electromyography using a multiple electrode array. *J Appl Physiol* (1985), 67, 1525-34.
- DAVIS, C. 1665 Philosophical transactions, giving some account of the present undertakings, studies, and labours of the ingenious, in many considerable parts of the world. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London*, **1**, 539.
- DE JONGH, B. E., LOCKE, R., MACKLEY, A., EMBERGER, J., BOSTICK, D., STEFANO, J., RODRIGUEZ, E. & SHAFFER, T. H. 2014. Work of breathing indices in infants with respiratory insufficiency receiving high-flow nasal cannula and nasal continuous positive airway pressure. *J Perinatol*, 34, 27-32.
- DE LA OLIVA, P., SCHUFFELMANN, C., GOMEZ-ZAMORA, A., VILLAR, J. & KACMAREK, R. M. 2012. Asynchrony, neural drive, ventilatory variability and COMFORT: NAVA versus pressure support in pediatric patients. A non-randomized cross-over trial. *Intensive Care Med*, 38, 838-46.
- DE PAOLI, A. G., DAVIS, P. G., FABER, B. & MORLEY, C. J. 2008. Devices and pressure sources for administration of nasal continuous positive airway pressure (NCPAP) in preterm neonates. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD002977.

- DE PAOLI, A. G., MORLEY, C. J., DAVIS, P. G., LAU, R. & HINGELEY, E. 2002. In vitro comparison of nasal continuous positive airway pressure devices for neonates. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed*, 87, F42-5.
- DEMAURO, S. B., ROBERTS, R. S., DAVIS, P., ALVARO, R., BAIRAM, A., SCHMIDT, B. & CAFFEINE FOR APNEA OF PREMATURITY TRIAL, I. 2011. Impact of delivery room resuscitation on outcomes up to 18 months in very low birth weight infants. *J Pediatr*, 159, 546-50 e1.
- DENERVAUD, V., GREMLICH, S., TRUMMER-MENZI, E., SCHITTNY, J. C. & ROTH-KLEINER, M. 2015. Gene expression profile in newborn rat lungs after two days of recovery of mechanical ventilation. *Pediatr Res*, 78, 641-9.
- DESAI P ET AL, S. S., N SINGH, N KENNEA 2012. Current practice regarding the use of Humidified high flow nasal cannulae (HHFNC) in UK neonatal units. . *Arch Dis Child, 97, A116.*
- DONALD, I. 1954. Augmented respiration: an emergency positive-pressure patient-cycled respirator. *Lancet*, 266, 895-9.
- DONALD, I., KERR, M. M. & MACDONALD, I. R. 1958. Respiratory phenomena in the newborn; experiments in their measurement and assistance. *Scott Med J*, 3, 151-64.
- DONALD, I. & LORD, J. 1953. Augmented respiration; studies in atelectasis neonatorum. *Lancet*, 1, 9-17.
- DOYLE, L. W. & ANDERSON, P. J. 2009. Long-term outcomes of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Semin Fetal Neonatal Med*, 14, 391-5.
- DOYLE, L. W., FABER, B., CALLANAN, C., FREEZER, N., FORD, G. W. & DAVIS, N. M. 2006. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia in very low birth weight subjects and lung function in late adolescence. *Pediatrics*, 118, 108-13.
- DREYFUSS, D. & SAUMON, G. 1992. Barotrauma is volutrauma, but which volume is the one responsible? *Intensive Care Med*, 18, 139-41.
- DREYFUSS, D. & SAUMON, G. 1993. Role of tidal volume, FRC, and end-inspiratory volume in the development of pulmonary edema following mechanical ventilation. *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 148, 1194-203.
- DREYFUSS, D. & SAUMON, G. 1994. Should the lung be rested or recruited? The Charybdis and Scylla of ventilator management. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 149, 1066-7.
- DREYFUSS, D., SOLER, P., BASSET, G. & SAUMON, G. 1988. High inflation pressure pulmonary edema. Respective effects of high airway pressure, high tidal volume, and positive end-expiratory pressure. *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 137, 1159-64.
- DRYSDALE, S. B., WILSON, T., ALCAZAR, M., BROUGHTON, S., ZUCKERMAN, M., SMITH, M., RAFFERTY, G. F., JOHNSTON, S. L. & GREENOUGH, A. 2011. Lung function prior to viral lower respiratory tract infections in prematurely born infants. *Thorax*, 66, 468-73.
- DUNN, M. S., KAEMPF, J., DE KLERK, A., DE KLERK, R., REILLY, M., HOWARD, D., FERRELLI, K., O'CONOR, J., SOLL, R. F. & VERMONT OXFORD NETWORK, D. R. M. S. G. 2011. Randomized trial comparing 3 approaches to the initial respiratory management of preterm neonates. *Pediatrics*, 128, e1069-76.
- DYSART, K., MILLER, T. L., WOLFSON, M. R. & SHAFFER, T. H. 2009. Research in high flow therapy: mechanisms of action. *Respir Med*, 103, 1400-5.
- EHRENKRANZ, R. A., WALSH, M. C., VOHR, B. R., JOBE, A. H., WRIGHT, L. L., FANAROFF, A.
 A., WRAGE, L. A., POOLE, K., NATIONAL INSTITUTES OF CHILD, H. & HUMAN
 DEVELOPMENT NEONATAL RESEARCH, N. 2005. Validation of the National
 Institutes of Health consensus definition of bronchopulmonary dysplasia.
 Pediatrics, 116, 1353-60.

- ERIKSSON, L., HAGLUND, B., ODLIND, V., ALTMAN, M., EWALD, U. & KIELER, H. 2015. Perinatal conditions related to growth restriction and inflammation are associated with an increased risk of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Acta Paediatr*, 104, 259-63.
- FAKHOURY, K. F., SELLERS, C., SMITH, E. O., RAMA, J. A. & FAN, L. L. 2010. Serial measurements of lung function in a cohort of young children with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatrics*, 125, e1441-7.
- FALKE, K. J., PONTOPPIDAN, H., KUMAR, A., LEITH, D. E., GEFFIN, B. & LAVER, M. B. 1972. Ventilation with end-expiratory pressure in acute lung disease. *J Clin Invest*, 51, 2315-23.
- FANAROFF, A. A., STOLL, B. J., WRIGHT, L. L., CARLO, W. A., EHRENKRANZ, R. A., STARK, A.
 R., BAUER, C. R., DONOVAN, E. F., KORONES, S. B., LAPTOOK, A. R., LEMONS, J. A.,
 OH, W., PAPILE, L. A., SHANKARAN, S., STEVENSON, D. K., TYSON, J. E., POOLE, W. K.
 & NETWORK, N. N. R. 2007. Trends in neonatal morbidity and mortality for very low
 birthweight infants. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 196, 147 e1-8.
- FARLEY, R. C., HOUGH, J. L. & JARDINE, L. A. 2015. Strategies for the discontinuation of humidified high flow nasal cannula (HHFNC) in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD011079.
- FAUROUX, B., HART, N., LUO, Y. M., MACNEILL, S., MOXHAM, J., LOFASO, F. & POLKEY, M. I. 2003. Measurement of diaphragm loading during pressure support ventilation. *Intensive Care Med*, 29, 1960-6.
- FAWKE, J., LUM, S., KIRKBY, J., HENNESSY, E., MARLOW, N., ROWELL, V., THOMAS, S. & STOCKS, J. 2010. Lung function and respiratory symptoms at 11 years in children born extremely preterm: the EPICure study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 182, 237-45.
- FERREIRA, P. J., BUNCH, T. J., ALBERTINE, K. H. & CARLTON, D. P. 2000. Circulating neutrophil concentration and respiratory distress in premature infants. J Pediatr, 136, 466-72.
- FILIPPONE, M., SARTOR, M., ZACCHELLO, F. & BARALDI, E. 2003. Flow limitation in infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia and respiratory function at school age. *Lancet*, 361, 753-4.
- FINER, N. N., CARLO, W. A., WALSH, M. C., RICH, W., GANTZ, M. G., LAPTOOK, A. R., YODER, B. A., FAIX, R. G., DAS, A., POOLE, W. K., DONOVAN, E. F., NEWMAN, N. S., AMBALAVANAN, N., FRANTZ, I. D., 3RD, BUCHTER, S., SANCHEZ, P. J., KENNEDY, K. A., LAROIA, N., POINDEXTER, B. B., COTTEN, C. M., VAN MEURS, K. P., DUARA, S., NARENDRAN, V., SOOD, B. G., O'SHEA, T. M., BELL, E. F., BHANDARI, V., WATTERBERG, K. L. & HIGGINS, R. D. 2010. Early CPAP versus surfactant in extremely preterm infants. N Engl J Med, 362, 1970-9.
- FINER, N. N. & MANNINO, F. L. 2009. High-flow nasal cannula: a kinder, gentler CPAP? *J Pediatr*, 154, 160-2.
- FISCHER, C., BERTELLE, V., HOHLFELD, J., FORCADA-GUEX, M., STADELMANN-DIAW, C. & TOLSA, J. F. 2010. Nasal trauma due to continuous positive airway pressure in neonates. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed*, 95, F447-51.
- FLEEMAN, N., MAHON, J., BATES, V., DICKSON, R., DUNDAR, Y., DWAN, K., ELLIS, L., KOTAS, E., RICHARDSON, M., SHAH, P. & SHAW, B. 2016. The clinical effectiveness and costeffectiveness of heated humidified high-flow nasal cannula compared with usual care for preterm infants: systematic review and economic evaluation. *Health Technol Assess*, 20, 1-68.
- FOWLIE, P. W., DAVIS, P. G. & MCGUIRE, W. 2010. Prophylactic intravenous indomethacin for preventing mortality and morbidity in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD000174.

- FROESE, A. B., MCCULLOCH, P. R., SUGIURA, M., VACLAVIK, S., POSSMAYER, F. & MOLLER,
 F. 1993. Optimizing alveolar expansion prolongs the effectiveness of exogenous surfactant therapy in the adult rabbit. *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 148, 569-77.
- GATTINONI, L., PESENTI, A., AVALLI, L., ROSSI, F. & BOMBINO, M. 1987. Pressure-volume curve of total respiratory system in acute respiratory failure. Computed tomographic scan study. *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 136, 730-6.
- GERHARDT, T. & BANCALARI, E. 1980. Chestwall compliance in full-term and premature infants. *Acta Paediatr Scand*, 69, 359-64.
- GERHARDT, T., HEHRE, D., FELLER, R., REIFENBERG, L. & BANCALARI, E. 1987. Pulmonary mechanics in normal infants and young children during first 5 years of life. *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 3, 309-16.
- GEWOLB, I. H., VICE, F. L., SCHWIETZER-KENNEY, E. L., TACIAK, V. L. & BOSMA, J. F. 2001. Developmental patterns of rhythmic suck and swallow in preterm infants. *Dev Med Child Neurol*, 43, 22-7.
- GIBU, C., CHENG, P., WARD, R. J., CASTRO, B. & HELDT, G. P. 2017. Feasibility and physiological effects of non-invasive neurally-adjusted ventilatory assist (NIV-NAVA) in preterm infants. *Pediatr Res*.
- GOMEZ, R., ROMERO, R., GHEZZI, F., YOON, B. H., MAZOR, M. & BERRY, S. M. 1998. The fetal inflammatory response syndrome. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 179, 194-202.
- GOUGH, A., SPENCE, D., LINDEN, M., HALLIDAY, H. L. & MCGARVEY, L. P. 2012. General and respiratory health outcomes in adult survivors of bronchopulmonary dysplasia: a systematic review. *Chest*, 141, 1554-67.
- GREENOUGH, A., ALEXANDER, J., BURGESS, S., BYTHAM, J., CHETCUTI, P. A., HAGAN, J., LENNEY, W., MELVILLE, S., SHAW, N. J., BOORMAN, J., COLES, S., PANG, F. & TURNER, J. 2006. Preschool healthcare utilisation related to home oxygen status. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed*, 91, F337-41.
- GREENOUGH, A., ALEXANDER, J., BURGESS, S., BYTHAM, J., CHETCUTI, P. A., HAGAN, J.,
 LENNEY, W., MELVILLE, S., SHAW, N. J., BOORMAN, J., COLES, S., TURNER, J. &
 PANG, F. 2004. Health care utilisation of prematurely born, preschool children
 related to hospitalisation for RSV infection. *Arch Dis Child*, 89, 673-8.
- GREENOUGH, A., COX, S., ALEXANDER, J., LENNEY, W., TURNBULL, F., BURGESS, S.,
 CHETCUTI, P. A., SHAW, N. J., WOODS, A., BOORMAN, J., COLES, S. & TURNER, J.
 2001. Health care utilisation of infants with chronic lung disease, related to
 hospitalisation for RSV infection. Arch Dis Child, 85, 463-8.
- GREENOUGH, A., ROSSOR, T. E., SUNDARESAN, A., MURTHY, V. & MILNER, A. D. 2016. Synchronized mechanical ventilation for respiratory support in newborn infants. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev,* 9, CD000456.
- GREGORY, G. A., KITTERMAN, J. A., PHIBBS, R. H., TOOLEY, W. H. & HAMILTON, W. K. 1971. Treatment of the idiopathic respiratory-distress syndrome with continuous positive airway pressure. *N Engl J Med*, 284, 1333-40.
- GRONECK, P., GOTZE-SPEER, B., OPPERMANN, M., EIFFERT, H. & SPEER, C. P. 1994.
 Association of pulmonary inflammation and increased microvascular permeability during the development of bronchopulmonary dysplasia: a sequential analysis of inflammatory mediators in respiratory fluids of high-risk preterm neonates.
 Pediatrics, 93, 712-8.
- GROUP, B. I. U. K. C., GROUP, B. I. A. C., GROUP, B. I. N. Z. C., STENSON, B. J., TARNOW-MORDI, W. O., DARLOW, B. A., SIMES, J., JUSZCZAK, E., ASKIE, L., BATTIN, M., BOWLER, U., BROADBENT, R., CAIRNS, P., DAVIS, P. G., DESHPANDE, S., DONOGHOE, M., DOYLE, L., FLECK, B. W., GHADGE, A., HAGUE, W., HALLIDAY, H. L., HEWSON, M., KING, A., KIRBY, A., MARLOW, N., MEYER, M., MORLEY, C., SIMMER,

K., TIN, W., WARDLE, S. P. & BROCKLEHURST, P. 2013. Oxygen saturation and outcomes in preterm infants. *N Engl J Med*, 368, 2094-104.

- GUPTA A, A. A., HARIKUMAR C, ET AL. 2014. Prolonged Respiratory Support For Extreme Preterm Babies: Hhfnc Or Ncpap? . *Arch Dis Child* 99, A497.
- GUPTA, S., SINHA, S. K., TIN, W. & DONN, S. M. 2009. A randomized controlled trial of postextubation bubble continuous positive airway pressure versus Infant Flow Driver continuous positive airway pressure in preterm infants with respiratory distress syndrome. *J Pediatr*, 154, 645-50.
- HADCHOUEL, A., DURRMEYER, X., BOUZIGON, E., INCITTI, R., HUUSKO, J., JARREAU, P. H., LENCLEN, R., DEMENAIS, F., FRANCO-MONTOYA, M. L., LAYOUNI, I., PATKAI, J., BOURBON, J., HALLMAN, M., DANAN, C. & DELACOURT, C. 2011. Identification of SPOCK2 as a susceptibility gene for bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 184, 1164-70.
- HALBERTSMA, F. J., VANEKER, M., SCHEFFER, G. J. & VAN DER HOEVEN, J. G. 2005. Cytokines and biotrauma in ventilator-induced lung injury: a critical review of the literature. *Neth J Med*, 63, 382-92.
- HALLIDAY, H. L. 2002. Early postnatal dexamethasone and cerebral palsy. *Pediatrics*, 109, 1168-9.
- HALLIDAY, H. L., EHRENKRANZ, R. A. & DOYLE, L. W. 2009. Early (< 8 days) postnatal corticosteroids for preventing chronic lung disease in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD001146.
- HALLMAN, M. & HAATAJA, R. 2006. Surfactant protein polymorphisms and neonatal lung disease. *Semin Perinatol*, 30, 350-61.
- HALVORSEN, T., SKADBERG, B. T., EIDE, G. E., ROKSUND, O. D., CARLSEN, K. H. & BAKKE, P.
 2004. Pulmonary outcome in adolescents of extreme preterm birth: a regional cohort study. *Acta Paediatr*, 93, 1294-300.
- HAMMER, J. & NEWTH, C. J. 2009. Assessment of thoraco-abdominal asynchrony. *Paediatr Respir Rev*, 10, 75-80.
- HARTLING, L., LIANG, Y. & LACAZE-MASMONTEIL, T. 2012. Chorioamnionitis as a risk factor for bronchopulmonary dysplasia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed*, 97, F8-F17.
- HENDERSON-SMART, D. J., COOLS, F., BHUTA, T. & OFFRINGA, M. 2007. Elective high frequency oscillatory ventilation versus conventional ventilation for acute pulmonary dysfunction in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD000104.
- HENNESSY, E. M., BRACEWELL, M. A., WOOD, N., WOLKE, D., COSTELOE, K., GIBSON, A., MARLOW, N. & GROUP, E. P. S. 2008. Respiratory health in pre-school and school age children following extremely preterm birth. *Arch Dis Child*, 93, 1037-43.
- HERNANDEZ, L. A., PEEVY, K. J., MOISE, A. A. & PARKER, J. C. 1989. Chest wall restriction limits high airway pressure-induced lung injury in young rabbits. J Appl Physiol (1985), 66, 2364-8.

HIRD, M., GREENOUGH, A. & GAMSU, H. 1990. Gas trapping during high frequency positive pressure ventilation using conventional ventilators. *Early Hum Dev*, **22**, 51-6.

- HOCHWALD O, O. H. 2010. High flow nasal cannulae in neonatal intensive care units: is current practice consistent with evidence? *Pediatr Acad Soc* 62, 187–91.
- HOFHUIS, W., HUYSMAN, M. W., VAN DER WIEL, E. C., HOLLAND, W. P., HOP, W. C., BRINKHORST, G., DE JONGSTE, J. C. & MERKUS, P. J. 2002. Worsening of V'maxFRC in infants with chronic lung disease in the first year of life: a more favorable outcome after high-frequency oscillation ventilation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 166, 1539-43.

- HORBAR, J. D., CARPENTER, J. H., BADGER, G. J., KENNY, M. J., SOLL, R. F., MORROW, K. A. & BUZAS, J. S. 2012. Mortality and neonatal morbidity among infants 501 to 1500 grams from 2000 to 2009. *Pediatrics*, 129, 1019-26.
- HOUGH, J. L., SHEARMAN, A. D., JARDINE, L. A. & DAVIES, M. W. 2012. Humidified high flow nasal cannulae: current practice in Australasian nurseries, a survey. *J Paediatr Child Health*, 48, 106-13.
- HUCKSTADT, T., FOITZIK, B., WAUER, R. R. & SCHMALISCH, G. 2003. Comparison of two different CPAP systems by tidal breathing parameters. *Intensive Care Med*, 29, 1134-40.
- HUTCHISON, A. A. & BIGNALL, S. 2008. Non-invasive positive pressure ventilation in the preterm neonate: reducing endotrauma and the incidence of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed*, 93, F64-8.
- ISAYAMA, T., LEE, S. K., MORI, R., KUSUDA, S., FUJIMURA, M., YE, X. Y., SHAH, P. S., CANADIAN NEONATAL, N. & NEONATAL RESEARCH NETWORK OF, J. 2012. Comparison of mortality and morbidity of very low birth weight infants between Canada and Japan. *Pediatrics*, 130, e957-65.
- JARREAU, P. H., FAYON, M., BAUD, O., AUTRET-LECA, E., DANAN, M., DE VERDELHAN, A. & CASTOT, A. 2010. [The use of postnatal corticosteroid therapy in premature infants to prevent or treat bronchopulmonary dysplasia: current situation and recommendations]. *Arch Pediatr*, 17, 1480-7.
- JENSEN, E. A., DEMAURO, S. B., KORNHAUSER, M., AGHAI, Z. H., GREENSPAN, J. S. & DYSART, K. C. 2015. Effects of Multiple Ventilation Courses and Duration of Mechanical Ventilation on Respiratory Outcomes in Extremely Low-Birth-Weight Infants. *JAMA Pediatr*, 169, 1011-7.
- JENSEN, E. A. & SCHMIDT, B. 2014. Epidemiology of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol*, 100, 145-57.
- JHUNG, M. A., SUNENSHINE, R. H., NOBLE-WANG, J., COFFIN, S. E., ST JOHN, K., LEWIS, F.
 M., JENSEN, B., PETERSON, A., LIPUMA, J., ARDUINO, M. J., HOLZMANN-PAZGAL,
 G., ATKINS, J. T. & SRINIVASAN, A. 2007. A national outbreak of Ralstonia
 mannitolilytica associated with use of a contaminated oxygen-delivery device
 among pediatric patients. *Pediatrics*, 119, 1061-8.
- JOBE, A. H. 2011. The new bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Curr Opin Pediatr*, 23, 167-72.
- JOBE, A. H. 2012. Effects of chorioamnionitis on the fetal lung. *Clin Perinatol*, 39, 441-57.
- JOBE, A. H. & BANCALARI, E. 2001. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 163, 1723-9.
- JOBE, A. H. & IKEGAMI, M. 1998. Mechanisms initiating lung injury in the preterm. *Early Hum Dev*, 53, 81-94.
- JOBE, A. J. 1999. The new BPD: an arrest of lung development. Pediatr Res, 46, 641-3.
- JOHNSON, A. H., PEACOCK, J. L., GREENOUGH, A., MARLOW, N., LIMB, E. S., MARSTON, L., CALVERT, S. A. & UNITED KINGDOM OSCILLATION STUDY, G. 2002. High-frequency oscillatory ventilation for the prevention of chronic lung disease of prematurity. *N Engl J Med*, 347, 633-42.
- JONSSON, B., TULLUS, K., BRAUNER, A., LU, Y. & NOACK, G. 1997. Early increase of TNF alpha and IL-6 in tracheobronchial aspirate fluid indicator of subsequent chronic lung disease in preterm infants. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed*, 77, F198-201.
- JOSHI, S., POWELL, T., WATKINS, W. J., DRAYTON, M., WILLIAMS, E. M. & KOTECHA, S. 2013. Exercise-induced bronchoconstriction in school-aged children who had chronic lung disease in infancy. *J Pediatr*, 162, 813-818 e1.
- JUNG, Y. H., KIM, H. S., LEE, J., SHIN, S. H., KIM, E. K. & CHOI, J. H. 2016. Neurally Adjusted Ventilatory Assist in Preterm Infants With Established or Evolving

Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia on High-Intensity Mechanical Ventilatory Support: A Single-Center Experience. *Pediatr Crit Care Med*, 17, 1142-1146.

- KACMAREK, R. M. 2011. Proportional assist ventilation and neurally adjusted ventilatory assist. *Respir Care*, 56, 140-8; discussion 149-52.
- KAPADIA, V. S., CHALAK, L. F., SPARKS, J. E., ALLEN, J. R., SAVANI, R. C. & WYCKOFF, M. H.
 2013. Resuscitation of preterm neonates with limited versus high oxygen strategy. *Pediatrics*, 132, e1488-96.
- KATTWINKEL, J., FLEMING, D., CHA, C. C., FANAROFF, A. A. & KLAUS, M. H. 1973. A device for administration of continuous positive airway pressure by the nasal route. *Pediatrics*, 52, 131-4.
- KATTWINKEL, J., PERLMAN, J. M., AZIZ, K., COLBY, C., FAIRCHILD, K., GALLAGHER, J., HAZINSKI, M. F., HALAMEK, L. P., KUMAR, P., LITTLE, G., MCGOWAN, J. E., NIGHTENGALE, B., RAMIREZ, M. M., RINGER, S., SIMON, W. M., WEINER, G. M., WYCKOFF, M., ZAICHKIN, J. & AMERICAN HEART, A. 2010. Neonatal resuscitation: 2010 American Heart Association Guidelines for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care. *Pediatrics*, 126, e1400-13.
- KHEMANI, E., MCELHINNEY, D. B., RHEIN, L., ANDRADE, O., LACRO, R. V., THOMAS, K. C. & MULLEN, M. P. 2007. Pulmonary artery hypertension in formerly premature infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia: clinical features and outcomes in the surfactant era. *Pediatrics*, 120, 1260-9.
- KIERAN, E. A., WALSH, H. & O'DONNELL, C. P. 2011. Survey of nasal continuous positive airways pressure (NCPAP) and nasal intermittent positive pressure ventilation (NIPPV) use in Irish newborn nurseries. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 96, F156.
- KIM, D. H., KIM, H. S., CHOI, C. W., KIM, E. K., KIM, B. I. & CHOI, J. H. 2012. Risk factors for pulmonary artery hypertension in preterm infants with moderate or severe bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Neonatology*, 101, 40-6.
- KIM, G. B. 2010. Pulmonary hypertension in infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Korean J Pediatr*, 53, 688-93.
- KINSELLA, J. P., GREENOUGH, A. & ABMAN, S. H. 2006. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Lancet*, 367, 1421-31.
- KLINGENBERG, C., PETTERSEN, M., HANSEN, E. A., GUSTAVSEN, L. J., DAHL, I. A., LEKNESSUND, A., KAARESEN, P. I. & NORDHOV, M. 2014. Patient comfort during treatment with heated humidified high flow nasal cannulae versus nasal continuous positive airway pressure: a randomised cross-over trial. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 99, F134-7.
- KLINGER, G., LEVY, I., SIROTA, L., BOYKO, V., LERNER-GEVA, L., REICHMAN, B. & ISRAEL NEONATAL, N. 2010. Outcome of early-onset sepsis in a national cohort of very low birth weight infants. *Pediatrics*, 125, e736-40.
- KLINGER, G., SOKOLOVER, N., BOYKO, V., SIROTA, L., LERNER-GEVA, L., REICHMAN, B. & ISRAEL NEONATAL, N. 2013. Perinatal risk factors for bronchopulmonary dysplasia in a national cohort of very-low-birthweight infants. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 208, 115 e1-9.
- KRAYBILL, E. N., RUNYAN, D. K., BOSE, C. L. & KHAN, J. H. 1989. Risk factors for chronic lung disease in infants with birth weights of 751 to 1000 grams. *J Pediatr*, 115, 115-20.
- KUBICKA, Z. J., LIMAURO, J. & DARNALL, R. A. 2008. Heated, humidified high-flow nasal cannula therapy: yet another way to deliver continuous positive airway pressure? *Pediatrics*, 121, 82-8.
- KUGELMAN, A., FEFERKORN, I., RISKIN, A., CHISTYAKOV, I., KAUFMAN, B. & BADER, D. 2007. Nasal intermittent mandatory ventilation versus nasal continuous positive airway pressure for respiratory distress syndrome: a randomized, controlled, prospective study. *J Pediatr*, 150, 521-6, 526 e1.

- KUGELMAN, A., RISKIN, A., SAID, W., SHORIS, I., MOR, F. & BADER, D. 2015. A randomized pilot study comparing heated humidified high-flow nasal cannulae with NIPPV for RDS. *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 50, 576-83.
- LAHRA, M. M., BEEBY, P. J. & JEFFERY, H. E. 2009. Intrauterine inflammation, neonatal sepsis, and chronic lung disease: a 13-year hospital cohort study. *Pediatrics*, 123, 1314-9.
- LAHTI, M., MARTTILA, R. & HALLMAN, M. 2004. Surfactant protein C gene variation in the Finnish population - association with perinatal respiratory disease. *Eur J Hum Genet*, 12, 312-20.
- LAMPLAND, A. L., PLUMM, B., MEYERS, P. A., WORWA, C. T. & MAMMEL, M. C. 2009. Observational study of humidified high-flow nasal cannula compared with nasal continuous positive airway pressure. *J Pediatr*, 154, 177-82.
- LANDRY, J. S., CHAN, T., LANDS, L. & MENZIES, D. 2011. Long-term impact of bronchopulmonary dysplasia on pulmonary function. *Can Respir J*, 18, 265-70.
- LASSEN, H. C. 1953. A preliminary report on the 1952 epidemic of poliomyelitis in Copenhagen with special reference to the treatment of acute respiratory insufficiency. *Lancet*, 1, 37-41.
- LAU, C., ALAGUGURUSAMY, R., SCHANLER, R. J., SMITH, E. O. & SHULMAN, R. J. 2000. Characterization of the developmental stages of sucking in preterm infants during bottle feeding. *Acta Paediatr*, 89, 846-52.
- LAUBSCHER ET AL, G. A., COSTELOE K 1996. Peformance of high frequency oscillators. *Brit J Inten Care*, 148-62.
- LAVIZZARI, A., VENERONI, C., COLNAGHI, M., CIUFFINI, F., ZANNIN, E., FUMAGALLI, M., MOSCA, F. & DELLACA, R. L. 2014. Respiratory mechanics during NCPAP and HHHFNC at equal distending pressures. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed*, 99, F315-20.
- LAVOIE, P. M., PHAM, C. & JANG, K. L. 2008. Heritability of bronchopulmonary dysplasia, defined according to the consensus statement of the national institutes of health. *Pediatrics*, 122, 479-85.
- LAWN, J. E., KINNEY, M. V., BELIZAN, J. M., MASON, E. M., MCDOUGALL, L., LARSON, J., LACKRITZ, E., FRIBERG, I. K., HOWSON, C. P. & BORN TOO SOON PRETERM BIRTH ACTION, G. 2013. Born too soon: accelerating actions for prevention and care of 15 million newborns born too soon. *Reprod Health*, 10 Suppl 1, S6.
- LEE, J., KIM, H. S., JUNG, Y. H., CHOI, C. W. & JUN, Y. H. 2017. Neurally adjusted ventilatory assist for infants under prolonged ventilation. *Pediatr Int*.
- LEE, J., KIM, H. S., SOHN, J. A., LEE, J. A., CHOI, C. W., KIM, E. K., KIM, B. I. & CHOI, J. H. 2012. Randomized crossover study of neurally adjusted ventilatory assist in preterm infants. *J Pediatr*, 161, 808-13.
- LONGHINI, F., FERRERO, F., DE LUCA, D., COSI, G., ALEMANI, M., COLOMBO, D., CAMMAROTA, G., BERNI, P., CONTI, G., BONA, G., DELLA CORTE, F. & NAVALESI, P. 2015. Neurally adjusted ventilatory assist in preterm neonates with acute respiratory failure. *Neonatology*, 107, 60-7.
- MA, J. & YE, H. 2016. Effects of permissive hypercapnia on pulmonary and neurodevelopmental sequelae in extremely low birth weight infants: a meta-analysis. *Springerplus*, 5, 764.
- MALVIYA, M. N., OHLSSON, A. & SHAH, S. S. 2013. Surgical versus medical treatment with cyclooxygenase inhibitors for symptomatic patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD003951.
- MANJA, V., LAKSHMINRUSIMHA, S. & COOK, D. J. 2015. Oxygen saturation target range for extremely preterm infants: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatr*, 169, 332-40.

- MANLEY, B. J., OWEN, L., DOYLE, L. W. & DAVIS, P. G. 2012. High-flow nasal cannulae and nasal continuous positive airway pressure use in non-tertiary special care nurseries in Australia and New Zealand. *J Paediatr Child Health*, 48, 16-21.
- MANLEY, B. J., OWEN, L. S., DOYLE, L. W., ANDERSEN, C. C., CARTWRIGHT, D. W., PRITCHARD, M. A., DONATH, S. M. & DAVIS, P. G. 2013. High-flow nasal cannulae in very preterm infants after extubation. *N Engl J Med*, 369, 1425-33.
- MARIANI, G., CIFUENTES, J. & CARLO, W. A. 1999. Randomized trial of permissive hypercapnia in preterm infants. *Pediatrics*, 104, 1082-8.
- MARSHALL, D. D., KOTELCHUCK, M., YOUNG, T. E., BOSE, C. L., KRUYER, L. & O'SHEA, T. M. 1999. Risk factors for chronic lung disease in the surfactant era: a North Carolina population-based study of very low birth weight infants. North Carolina Neonatologists Association. *Pediatrics*, 104, 1345-50.
- MARTIN, J. A., HAMILTON, B. E., VENTURA, S. J., OSTERMAN, M. J. & MATHEWS, T. J. 2013. Births: final data for 2011. *Natl Vital Stat Rep*, 62, 1-69, 72.
- MAYER, O. H., CLAYTON, R. G., SR., JAWAD, A. F., MCDONOUGH, J. M. & ALLEN, J. L. 2003. Respiratory inductance plethysmography in healthy 3- to 5-year-old children. *Chest*, 124, 1812-9.
- MCCULLOCH, P. R., FORKERT, P. G. & FROESE, A. B. 1988. Lung volume maintenance prevents lung injury during high frequency oscillatory ventilation in surfactantdeficient rabbits. *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 137, 1185-92.
- MCLAIN, B. I., EVANS, J. & DEAR, P. R. 1988. Comparison of capillary and arterial blood gas measurements in neonates. *Arch Dis Child*, 63, 743-7.
- MIKSCH, R. M., ARMBRUST, S., PAHNKE, J. & FUSCH, C. 2008. Outcome of very low birthweight infants after introducing a new standard regime with the early use of nasal CPAP. *Eur J Pediatr*, 167, 909-16.
- MILIC-EMILI, J., ROCCA, E. & D'ANGELO, E. 1999. *Basics of Respiratory Mechanics and Artificial Ventilation*, Springer-Verlag Mailand.
- MILLER, J. D., BENJAMIN, J. T., KELLY, D. R., FRANK, D. B. & PRINCE, L. S. 2010. Chorioamnionitis stimulates angiogenesis in saccular stage fetal lungs via CC chemokines. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 298, L637-45.
- MILLER, J. D. & CARLO, W. A. 2007. Safety and effectiveness of permissive hypercapnia in the preterm infant. *Curr Opin Pediatr*, 19, 142-4.
- MIZUNO, K. & UEDA, A. 2003. The maturation and coordination of sucking, swallowing, and respiration in preterm infants. *J Pediatr*, 142, 36-40.
- MORELY, C. J., DAVIS, P. G., DOYLE, L. W., BRION, L. P., HASCOET, J. & CARLIN, J. B. 2008. Nasal CPAP or Intubation at Birth for Very Preterm Infants. *N Engl J Med*, 358, 700-708.
- MORISOT, C., KACET, N., BOUCHEZ, M. C., ROULAND, V., DUBOS, J. P., GREMILLET, C. & LEQUIEN, P. 1990. Risk factors for fatal pulmonary interstitial emphysema in neonates. *Eur J Pediatr*, 149, 493-5.
- MORLEY, C. J., DAVIS, P. G., DOYLE, L. W., BRION, L. P., HASCOET, J. M., CARLIN, J. B. & INVESTIGATORS, C. T. 2008. Nasal CPAP or intubation at birth for very preterm infants. *N Engl J Med*, 358, 700-8.
- MUNSHI, U. K., NIU, J. O., SIDDIQ, M. M. & PARTON, L. A. 1997. Elevation of interleukin-8 and interleukin-6 precedes the influx of neutrophils in tracheal aspirates from preterm infants who develop bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 24, 331-6.
- MUSANTE, G., SCHULZE, A., GERHARDT, T., EVERETT, R., CLAURE, N., SCHALLER, P. & BANCALARI, E. 2001. Proportional assist ventilation decreases thoracoabdominal asynchrony and chest wall distortion in preterm infants. *Pediatr Res*, 49, 175-80.

- MUSCEDERE, J. G., MULLEN, J. B., GAN, K. & SLUTSKY, A. S. 1994. Tidal ventilation at low airway pressures can augment lung injury. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 149, 1327-34.
- NARENDRAN, V., DONOVAN, E. F., HOATH, S. B., AKINBI, H. T., STEICHEN, J. J. & JOBE, A. H. 2003. Early bubble CPAP and outcomes in ELBW preterm infants. *J Perinatol*, 23, 195-9.
- NASEF, N., EL-GOUHARY, E., SCHURR, P., REILLY, M., BECK, J., DUNN, M. & NG, E. 2015. High-flow nasal cannulae are associated with increased diaphragm activation compared with nasal continuous positive airway pressure in preterm infants. *Acta Paediatr*, 104, e337-43.
- NAVALESI, P. & LONGHINI, F. 2015. Neurally adjusted ventilatory assist. *Curr Opin Crit Care*, 21, 58-64.
- NETWORK, S. S. G. O. T. E. K. S. N. N. R., CARLO, W. A., FINER, N. N., WALSH, M. C., RICH, W., GANTZ, M. G., LAPTOOK, A. R., YODER, B. A., FAIX, R. G., DAS, A., POOLE, W. K., SCHIBLER, K., NEWMAN, N. S., AMBALAVANAN, N., FRANTZ, I. D., 3RD, PIAZZA, A. J., SANCHEZ, P. J., MORRIS, B. H., LAROIA, N., PHELPS, D. L., POINDEXTER, B. B., COTTEN, C. M., VAN MEURS, K. P., DUARA, S., NARENDRAN, V., SOOD, B. G., O'SHEA, T. M., BELL, E. F., EHRENKRANZ, R. A., WATTERBERG, K. L. & HIGGINS, R. D. 2010a. Target ranges of oxygen saturation in extremely preterm infants. *N Engl J Med*, 362, 1959-69.
- NETWORK, S. S. G. O. T. E. K. S. N. N. R., FINER, N. N., CARLO, W. A., WALSH, M. C., RICH, W., GANTZ, M. G., LAPTOOK, A. R., YODER, B. A., FAIX, R. G., DAS, A., POOLE, W. K., DONOVAN, E. F., NEWMAN, N. S., AMBALAVANAN, N., FRANTZ, I. D., 3RD, BUCHTER, S., SANCHEZ, P. J., KENNEDY, K. A., LAROIA, N., POINDEXTER, B. B., COTTEN, C. M., VAN MEURS, K. P., DUARA, S., NARENDRAN, V., SOOD, B. G., O'SHEA, T. M., BELL, E. F., BHANDARI, V., WATTERBERG, K. L. & HIGGINS, R. D. 2010b. Early CPAP versus surfactant in extremely preterm infants. *N Engl J Med*, 362, 1970-9.
- NEWNAM, K. M., MCGRATH, J. M., ESTES, T., JALLO, N., SALYER, J. & BASS, W. T. 2013. An integrative review of skin breakdown in the preterm infant associated with nasal continuous positive airway pressure. *J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs*, 42, 508-16.
- NG E, S. P., REILLY M, DUNN MS, BECK J. 2010. Impact of feeding methods on breathing pattern in preterm infants. E-PAS 4424e545.
- NORTHWAY, W. H., JR., ROSAN, R. C. & PORTER, D. Y. 1967. Pulmonary disease following respirator therapy of hyaline-membrane disease. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *N Engl J Med*, 276, 357-68.
- NOVITSKY, A., TUTTLE, D., LOCKE, R. G., SAIMAN, L., MACKLEY, A. & PAUL, D. A. 2015. Prolonged early antibiotic use and bronchopulmonary dysplasia in very low birth weight infants. *Am J Perinatol*, 32, 43-8.
- OEI, J., LUI, K., WANG, H. & HENRY, R. 2002. Decreased interleukin-10 in tracheal aspirates from preterm infants developing chronic lung disease. *Acta Paediatr*, 91, 1194-9.
- OH, W., POINDEXTER, B. B., PERRITT, R., LEMONS, J. A., BAUER, C. R., EHRENKRANZ, R. A., STOLL, B. J., POOLE, K., WRIGHT, L. L. & NEONATAL RESEARCH, N. 2005. Association between fluid intake and weight loss during the first ten days of life and risk of bronchopulmonary dysplasia in extremely low birth weight infants. *J Pediatr*, 147, 786-90.
- OHLSSON, A., WALIA, R. & SHAH, S. S. 2013. Ibuprofen for the treatment of patent ductus arteriosus in preterm and/or low birth weight infants. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD003481.
- OJHA, S., GRIDLEY, E. & DORLING, J. 2013. Use of heated humidified high-flow nasal cannula oxygen in neonates: a UK wide survey. *Acta Paediatr*, 102, 249-53.

- PALTA, M., GABBERT, D., WEINSTEIN, M. R. & PETERS, M. E. 1991. Multivariate assessment of traditional risk factors for chronic lung disease in very low birth weight neonates. The Newborn Lung Project. *J Pediatr*, 119, 285-92.
- PALTA, M., SADEK-BADAWI, M., EVANS, M., WEINSTEIN, M. R. & MCGUINNES, G. 2000. Functional assessment of a multicenter very low-birth-weight cohort at age 5 years. Newborn Lung Project. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med*, 154, 23-30.
- PANDIT, P. B., COURTNEY, S. E., PYON, K. H., SASLOW, J. G. & HABIB, R. H. 2001. Work of breathing during constant- and variable-flow nasal continuous positive airway pressure in preterm neonates. *Pediatrics*, 108, 682-5.
- PATEL, D. S., RAFFERTY, G. F., HANNAM, S., LEE, S., MILNER, A. D. & GREENOUGH, A. 2010a. In vitro assessment of proportional assist ventilation. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed*, 95, F331-7.
- PATEL, D. S., RAFFERTY, G. F., LEE, S., HANNAM, S. & GREENOUGH, A. 2009a. Work of breathing during SIMV with and without pressure support. *Arch Dis Child*, 94, 434-6.
- PATEL, D. S., RAFFERTY, G. F., LEE, S., HANNAM, S. & GREENOUGH, A. 2010b. Work of breathing and volume targeted ventilation in respiratory distress. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed*, 95, F443-6.
- PATEL, D. S., SHARMA, A., PRENDERGAST, M., RAFFERTY, G. F. & GREENOUGH, A. 2009b. Work of breathing and different levels of volume-targeted ventilation. *Pediatrics*, 123, e679-84.
- PENG, W., ZHU, H., SHI, H. & LIU, E. 2014. Volume-targeted ventilation is more suitable than pressure-limited ventilation for preterm infants: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed*, 99, F158-65.
- PIERCE, M. R. & BANCALARI, E. 1995. The role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 19, 371-8.
- PUSEY, V. A., MACPHERSON, R. I. & CHERNICK, V. 1969. Pulmonary fibroplasia following prolonged artificial ventilation of newborn infants. *Can Med Assoc J*, 100, 451-7.
- RABI, Y., SINGHAL, N. & NETTEL-AGUIRRE, A. 2011. Room-air versus oxygen administration for resuscitation of preterm infants: the ROAR study. *Pediatrics*, 128, e374-81.
- RANIERI, V. M., SUTER, P. M., TORTORELLA, C., DE TULLIO, R., DAYER, J. M., BRIENZA, A., BRUNO, F. & SLUTSKY, A. S. 1999. Effect of mechanical ventilation on inflammatory mediators in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA, 282, 54-61.
- RATNER, V., SOSUNOV, S. A., NIATSETSKAYA, Z. V., UTKINA-SOSUNOVA, I. V. & TEN, V. S.
 2013. Mechanical ventilation causes pulmonary mitochondrial dysfunction and delayed alveolarization in neonatal mice. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 49, 943-50.
- REDLINE, R. W., FAYE-PETERSEN, O., HELLER, D., QURESHI, F., SAVELL, V., VOGLER, C. & SOCIETY FOR PEDIATRIC PATHOLOGY, P. S. A. F. I. N. C. 2003. Amniotic infection syndrome: nosology and reproducibility of placental reaction patterns. *Pediatr Dev Pathol*, 6, 435-48.
- REYES, Z. C., CLAURE, N., TAUSCHER, M. K., D'UGARD, C., VANBUSKIRK, S. & BANCALARI, E. 2006. Randomized, controlled trial comparing synchronized intermittent mandatory ventilation and synchronized intermittent mandatory ventilation plus pressure support in preterm infants. *Pediatrics*, 118, 1409-17.
- REYNOLDS, P., LEONTIADI, S., LAWSON, T., OTUNLA, T., EJIWUMI, O. & HOLLAND, N. 2016. Stabilisation of premature infants in the delivery room with nasal high flow. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed*, 101, F284-7.
- ROBBINS, M., TRITTMANN, J., MARTIN, E., REBER, K. M., NELIN, L. & SHEPHERD, E. 2015. Early extubation attempts reduce length of stay in extremely preterm infants even if re-intubation is necessary. *J Neonatal Perinatal Med*, 8, 91-7.

- ROBERTS, C. T., MANLEY, B. J., DAWSON, J. A. & DAVIS, P. G. 2014. Nursing perceptions of high-flow nasal cannulae treatment for very preterm infants. *J Paediatr Child Health*, 50, 806-10.
- ROBIN, B., KIM, Y. J., HUTH, J., KLOCKSIEBEN, J., TORRES, M., TEPPER, R. S., CASTILE, R. G., SOLWAY, J., HERSHENSON, M. B. & GOLDSTEIN-FILBRUN, A. 2004. Pulmonary function in bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatr Pulmonol*, **37**, 236-42.
- ROEHR, C. C., SCHMALISCH, G., KHAKBAN, A., PROQUITTE, H. & WAUER, R. R. 2007. Use of continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) in neonatal units--a survey of current preferences and practice in Germany. *Eur J Med Res*, 12, 139-44.
- ROJAS, M. A., GONZALEZ, A., BANCALARI, E., CLAURE, N., POOLE, C. & SILVA-NETO, G. 1995. Changing trends in the epidemiology and pathogenesis of neonatal chronic lung disease. *J Pediatr*, 126, 605-10.
- RONKAINEN, E., DUNDER, T., PELTONIEMI, O., KAUKOLA, T., MARTTILA, R. & HALLMAN, M. 2015. New BPD predicts lung function at school age: Follow-up study and metaanalysis. *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 50, 1090-8.
- ROOSENS, S., DERRIKS, F. & COOLS, F. 2016. Case report: Non-invasive neurally adjusted ventilatory assist in a newborn with unilateral diaphragmatic paralysis. *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 51, E37-E39.
- SANDHAR, B. K., NIBLETT, D. J., ARGIRAS, E. P., DUNNILL, M. S. & SYKES, M. K. 1988. Effects of positive end-expiratory pressure on hyaline membrane formation in a rabbit model of the neonatal respiratory distress syndrome. *Intensive Care Med*, 14, 538-46.
- SANDRI, F., PLAVKA, R., ANCORA, G., SIMEONI, U., STRANAK, Z., MARTINELLI, S., MOSCA, F., NONA, J., THOMSON, M., VERDER, H., FABBRI, L., HALLIDAY, H. & GROUP, C. S. 2010. Prophylactic or early selective surfactant combined with nCPAP in very preterm infants. *Pediatrics*, 125, e1402-9.
- SASLOW, J. G., AGHAI, Z. H., NAKHLA, T. A., HART, J. J., LAWRYSH, R., STAHL, G. E. & PYON,
 K. H. 2006. Work of breathing using high-flow nasal cannula in preterm infants. J Perinatol, 26, 476-80.
- SAUGSTAD, O. D. & AUNE, D. 2014. Optimal oxygenation of extremely low birth weight infants: a meta-analysis and systematic review of the oxygen saturation target studies. *Neonatology*, 105, 55-63.
- SCHMIDT, B., DAVIS, P., MODDEMANN, D., OHLSSON, A., ROBERTS, R. S., SAIGAL, S.,
 SOLIMANO, A., VINCER, M., WRIGHT, L. L. & TRIAL OF INDOMETHACIN
 PROPHYLAXIS IN PRETERMS, I. 2001. Long-term effects of indomethacin
 prophylaxis in extremely-low-birth-weight infants. N Engl J Med, 344, 1966-72.
- SCHMIDT, B., ROBERTS, R. S., FANAROFF, A., DAVIS, P., KIRPALANI, H. M., NWAESEI, C., VINCER, M. & INVESTIGATORS, T. 2006. Indomethacin prophylaxis, patent ductus arteriosus, and the risk of bronchopulmonary dysplasia: further analyses from the Trial of Indomethacin Prophylaxis in Preterms (TIPP). *J Pediatr*, 148, 730-734.
- SCHMIDT, B., WHYTE, R. K., ASZTALOS, E. V., MODDEMANN, D., POETS, C., RABI, Y., SOLIMANO, A., ROBERTS, R. S. & CANADIAN OXYGEN TRIAL, G. 2013. Effects of targeting higher vs lower arterial oxygen saturations on death or disability in extremely preterm infants: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*, 309, 2111-20.
- SCHMOLZER, G. M., KUMAR, M., PICHLER, G., AZIZ, K., O'REILLY, M. & CHEUNG, P. Y. 2013. Non-invasive versus invasive respiratory support in preterm infants at birth: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ*, 347, f5980.
- SCHULZE, A. 2002. Respiratory mechanical unloading and proportional assist ventilation in infants. *Acta Paediatr Suppl*, 91, 19-22.
- SCHULZE, A., GERHARDT, T., MUSANTE, G., SCHALLER, P., CLAURE, N., EVERETT, R., GOMEZ-MARIN, O. & BANCALARI, E. 1999. Proportional assist ventilation in low birth

weight infants with acute respiratory disease: A comparison to assist/control and conventional mechanical ventilation. *J Pediatr*, 135, 339-44.

- SCHULZE, A., RICH, W., SCHELLENBERG, L., SCHALLER, P. & HELDT, G. P. 1998. Effects of different gain settings during assisted mechanical ventilation using respiratory unloading in rabbits. *Pediatr Res*, 44, 132-8.
- SCHULZE, A., RIEGER-FACKELDEY, E., GERHARDT, T., CLAURE, N., EVERETT, R. & BANCALARI, E. 2007. Randomized crossover comparison of proportional assist ventilation and patient-triggered ventilation in extremely low birth weight infants with evolving chronic lung disease. *Neonatology*, 92, 1-7.
- SHARMA, A., MILNER, A. D. & GREENOUGH, A. 2007. Performance of neonatal ventilators in volume targeted ventilation mode. *Acta Paediatr*, 96, 176-80.
- SHAW, E. B., THELANDER, H. E. & LIMPER, M. A. 1931. Respiratory Failure in Poliomyelitis-Its Treatment with the Drinker Respirator: Report of Cases. *Cal West Med*, 35, 5-7.
- SHAW, G. M. & O'BRODOVICH, H. M. 2013. Progress in understanding the genetics of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Semin Perinatol*, 37, 85-93.
- SHENNAN, A. T., DUNN, M. S., OHLSSON, A., LENNOX, K. & HOSKINS, E. M. 1988. Abnormal pulmonary outcomes in premature infants: prediction from oxygen requirement in the neonatal period. *Pediatrics*, 82, 527-32.
- SHETTY, S., BHAT, P., HICKEY, A., PEACOCK, J. L., MILNER, A. D. & GREENOUGH, A. 2016. Proportional assist versus assist control ventilation in premature infants. *Eur J Pediatr*, 175, 57-61.
- SHETTY, S. & GREENOUGH, A. 2014. Review finds insufficient evidence to support the routine use of heated, humidified high-flow nasal cannula use in neonates. *Acta Paediatr*, 103, 898-903.
- SHOEMAKER, M. T., PIERCE, M. R., YODER, B. A. & DIGERONIMO, R. J. 2007. High flow nasal cannula versus nasal CPAP for neonatal respiratory disease: a retrospective study. J Perinatol, 27, 85-91.
- SINDERBY, C. 2002. Neurally adjusted ventilatory assist (NAVA). *Minerva Anestesiol*, 68, 378-80.
- SINDERBY, C., BECK, J., SPAHIJA, J., DE MARCHIE, M., LACROIX, J., NAVALESI, P. & SLUTSKY,
 A. S. 2007. Inspiratory muscle unloading by neurally adjusted ventilatory assist during maximal inspiratory efforts in healthy subjects. *Chest*, 131, 711-7.
- SINDERBY C, B. J. 2012. "Neurally Adjusted Ventilatory Assist". . Principles and Practice of Mechanical Ventilation. Ed. Martin J Tobin, Third Ed. McGraw Hill
- SINDERBY, C., NAVALESI, P., BECK, J., SKROBIK, Y., COMTOIS, N., FRIBERG, S., GOTTFRIED, S.
 B. & LINDSTROM, L. 1999. Neural control of mechanical ventilation in respiratory failure. *Nat Med*, 5, 1433-6.
- SINKIN, R. A., COX, C. & PHELPS, D. L. 1990. Predicting risk for bronchopulmonary dysplasia: selection criteria for clinical trials. *Pediatrics*, 86, 728-36.
- SIVIERI, E. M., GERDES, J. S. & ABBASI, S. 2013. Effect of HFNC flow rate, cannula size, and nares diameter on generated airway pressures: an in vitro study. *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 48, 506-14.
- SLAUGHTER, J. L., PAKRASHI, T., JONES, D. E., SOUTH, A. P. & SHAH, T. A. 2011. Echocardiographic detection of pulmonary hypertension in extremely low birth weight infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia requiring prolonged positive pressure ventilation. J Perinatol, 31, 635-40.
- SLUTSKY, A. S. & TREMBLAY, L. N. 1998. Multiple system organ failure. Is mechanical ventilation a contributing factor? *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 157, 1721-5.
- SMITH, V. C., ZUPANCIC, J. A., MCCORMICK, M. C., CROEN, L. A., GREENE, J., ESCOBAR, G. J.
 & RICHARDSON, D. K. 2004. Rehospitalization in the first year of life among infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *J Pediatr*, 144, 799-803.

- SMITH, V. C., ZUPANCIC, J. A., MCCORMICK, M. C., CROEN, L. A., GREENE, J., ESCOBAR, G. J.
 & RICHARDSON, D. K. 2005. Trends in severe bronchopulmonary dysplasia rates between 1994 and 2002. *J Pediatr*, 146, 469-73.
- SORENSEN, G. L., DAHL, M., TAN, Q., BENDIXEN, C., HOLMSKOV, U. & HUSBY, S. 2014. Surfactant protein-D-encoding gene variant polymorphisms are linked to respiratory outcome in premature infants. *J Pediatr*, 165, 683-9.
- SPENCE, K. L., MURPHY, D., KILIAN, C., MCGONIGLE, R. & KILANI, R. A. 2007. High-flow nasal cannula as a device to provide continuous positive airway pressure in infants. *J Perinatol*, 27, 772-5.
- SREENAN, C., LEMKE, R. P., HUDSON-MASON, A. & OSIOVICH, H. 2001. High-flow nasal cannulae in the management of apnea of prematurity: a comparison with conventional nasal continuous positive airway pressure. *Pediatrics*, 107, 1081-3.
- STEFANESCU, B. M., MURPHY, W. P., HANSELL, B. J., FULORIA, M., MORGAN, T. M. & ASCHNER, J. L. 2003. A randomized, controlled trial comparing two different continuous positive airway pressure systems for the successful extubation of extremely low birth weight infants. *Pediatrics*, 112, 1031-8.
- STEIN, H., ALOSH, H., ETHINGTON, P. & WHITE, D. B. 2013a. Prospective crossover comparison between NAVA and pressure control ventilation in premature neonates less than 1500 grams. *J Perinatol*, 33, 452-6.
- STEIN, H., HALL, R., DAVIS, K. & WHITE, D. B. 2013b. Electrical activity of the diaphragm (Edi) values and Edi catheter placement in non-ventilated preterm neonates. J Perinatol, 33, 707-11.
- STEIN, H. & HOWARD, D. 2012. Neurally adjusted ventilatory assist in neonates weighing <1500 grams: a retrospective analysis. *J Pediatr*, 160, 786-9 e1.
- STEIN, H. M., WILMOTH, J. & BURTON, J. 2012. Electrical activity of the diaphragm in a small cohort of term neonates. *Respir Care*, 57, 1483-7.
- STENSON, B., BROCKLEHURST, P., TARNOW-MORDI, W., TRIAL, U. K. B. I., AUSTRALIAN, B. I.
 I. T. & NEW ZEALAND, B. I. I. T. 2011. Increased 36-week survival with high oxygen saturation target in extremely preterm infants. N Engl J Med, 364, 1680-2.
- STENSON, B. J. 2016. Oxygen Saturation Targets for Extremely Preterm Infants after the NeOProM Trials. *Neonatology*, 109, 352-8.
- STERN, L., RAMOS, A. D., OUTERBRIDGE, E. W. & BEAUDRY, P. H. 1970. Negative pressure artificial respiration: use in treatment of respiratory failure of the newborn. *Can Med Assoc J*, 102, 595-601.
- STEVENS, T. P., FINER, N. N., CARLO, W. A., SZILAGYI, P. G., PHELPS, D. L., WALSH, M. C., GANTZ, M. G., LAPTOOK, A. R., YODER, B. A., FAIX, R. G., NEWMAN, J. E., DAS, A., DO, B. T., SCHIBLER, K., RICH, W., NEWMAN, N. S., EHRENKRANZ, R. A., PERALTA-CARCELEN, M., VOHR, B. R., WILSON-COSTELLO, D. E., YOLTON, K., HEYNE, R. J., EVANS, P. W., VAUCHER, Y. E., ADAMS-CHAPMAN, I., MCGOWAN, E. C., BODNAR, A., PAPPAS, A., HINTZ, S. R., ACARREGUI, M. J., FULLER, J., GOLDSTEIN, R. F., BAUER, C. R., O'SHEA, T. M., MYERS, G. J., HIGGINS, R. D., HEALTH, S. S. G. O. T. E. K. S. N. I. O. C. & HUMAN DEVELOPMENT NEONATAL RESEARCH, N. 2014. Respiratory outcomes of the surfactant positive pressure and oximetry randomized trial (SUPPORT). *J Pediatr*, 165, 240-249 e4.
- STOLL, B. J., HANSEN, N. I., BELL, E. F., SHANKARAN, S., LAPTOOK, A. R., WALSH, M. C., HALE, E. C., NEWMAN, N. S., SCHIBLER, K., CARLO, W. A., KENNEDY, K. A., POINDEXTER, B. B., FINER, N. N., EHRENKRANZ, R. A., DUARA, S., SANCHEZ, P. J., O'SHEA, T. M., GOLDBERG, R. N., VAN MEURS, K. P., FAIX, R. G., PHELPS, D. L., FRANTZ, I. D., 3RD, WATTERBERG, K. L., SAHA, S., DAS, A., HIGGINS, R. D., EUNICE KENNEDY SHRIVER NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF CHILD, H. & HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

NEONATAL RESEARCH, N. 2010. Neonatal outcomes of extremely preterm infants from the NICHD Neonatal Research Network. *Pediatrics*, 126, 443-56.

- STOLL, B. J., HANSEN, N. I., BELL, E. F., WALSH, M. C., CARLO, W. A., SHANKARAN, S., LAPTOOK, A. R., SANCHEZ, P. J., VAN MEURS, K. P., WYCKOFF, M., DAS, A., HALE, E. C., BALL, M. B., NEWMAN, N. S., SCHIBLER, K., POINDEXTER, B. B., KENNEDY, K. A., COTTEN, C. M., WATTERBERG, K. L., D'ANGIO, C. T., DEMAURO, S. B., TRUOG, W. E., DEVASKAR, U., HIGGINS, R. D., EUNICE KENNEDY SHRIVER NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF CHILD, H. & HUMAN DEVELOPMENT NEONATAL RESEARCH, N. 2015. Trends in Care Practices, Morbidity, and Mortality of Extremely Preterm Neonates, 1993-2012. JAMA, 314, 1039-51.
- STROUSTRUP, A. & TRASANDE, L. 2010. Epidemiological characteristics and resource use in neonates with bronchopulmonary dysplasia: 1993-2006. *Pediatrics*, 126, 291-7.
- SUN, H., CHENG, R., KANG, W., XIONG, H., ZHOU, C., ZHANG, Y., WANG, X. & ZHU, C. 2014. High-frequency oscillatory ventilation versus synchronized intermittent mandatory ventilation plus pressure support in preterm infants with severe respiratory distress syndrome. *Respir Care*, 59, 159-69.
- THOMAS, M. R., RAFFERTY, G. F., LIMB, E. S., PEACOCK, J. L., CALVERT, S. A., MARLOW, N., MILNER, A. D. & GREENOUGH, A. 2004. Pulmonary function at follow-up of very preterm infants from the United Kingdom oscillation study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 169, 868-72.
- THOME, U. H., CARROLL, W., WU, T. J., JOHNSON, R. B., ROANE, C., YOUNG, D. & CARLO, W. A. 2006. Outcome of extremely preterm infants randomized at birth to different PaCO2 targets during the first seven days of life. *Biol Neonate*, 90, 218-25.
- THOME, U. H., GENZEL-BOROVICZENY, O., BOHNHORST, B., SCHMID, M., FUCHS, H., ROHDE, O., AVENARIUS, S., TOPF, H. G., ZIMMERMANN, A., FAAS, D., TIMME, K., KLEINLEIN, B., BUXMANN, H., SCHENK, W., SEGERER, H., TEIG, N., GEBAUER, C., HENTSCHEL, R., HECKMANN, M., SCHLOSSER, R., PETERS, J., ROSSI, R., RASCHER, W., BOTTGER, R., SEIDENBERG, J., HANSEN, G., ZERNICKEL, M., ALZEN, G., DREYHAUPT, J., MUCHE, R., HUMMLER, H. D. & GROUP, P. S. 2015. Permissive hypercapnia in extremely low birthweight infants (PHELBI): a randomised controlled multicentre trial. *Lancet Respir Med*, 3, 534-43.
- TOBIN, M. J., PEREZ, W., GUENTHER, S. M., LODATO, R. F. & DANTZKER, D. R. 1987. Does rib cage-abdominal paradox signify respiratory muscle fatigue? *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 63, 851-60.
- TORCHIN, H., ANCEL, P. Y., GOFFINET, F., HASCOET, J. M., TRUFFERT, P., TRAN, D., LEBEAUX,
 C. & JARREAU, P. H. 2016. Placental Complications and Bronchopulmonary
 Dysplasia: EPIPAGE-2 Cohort Study. *Pediatrics*, 137, e20152163.
- TREMBLAY, L., VALENZA, F., RIBEIRO, S. P., LI, J. & SLUTSKY, A. S. 1997. Injurious ventilatory strategies increase cytokines and c-fos m-RNA expression in an isolated rat lung model. *J Clin Invest*, 99, 944-52.
- TREMBLAY, L. N. & SLUTSKY, A. S. 1998. Ventilator-induced injury: from barotrauma to biotrauma. *Proc Assoc Am Physicians*, 110, 482-8.
- TREVISANUTO, D., CAMILETTI, L., DOGLIONI, N., CAVALLIN, F., UDILANO, A. & ZANARDO, V. 2011. Noise exposure is increased with neonatal helmet CPAP in comparison with conventional nasal CPAP. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand, 55, 35-8.
- TREVISANUTO, D., GRAZZINA, N., DOGLIONI, N., FERRARESE, P., MARZARI, F. & ZANARDO, V. 2005. A new device for administration of continuous positive airway pressure in preterm infants: comparison with a standard nasal CPAP continuous positive airway pressure system. *Intensive Care Med*, 31, 859-64.
- TRZASKI, J. M., HAGADORN, J. I., HUSSAIN, N., SCHWENN, J. & WITTENZELLNER, C. 2012. Predictors of successful discontinuation of supplemental oxygen in very low-birth-

weight infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia approaching neonatal intensive care unit discharge. *Am J Perinatol*, 29, 79-86.

- TULLUS, K., NOACK, G. W., BURMAN, L. G., NILSSON, R., WRETLIND, B. & BRAUNER, A. 1996. Elevated cytokine levels in tracheobronchial aspirate fluids from ventilator treated neonates with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Eur J Pediatr*, 155, 112-6.
- VAN MARTER, L. J., DAMMANN, O., ALLRED, E. N., LEVITON, A., PAGANO, M., MOORE, M., MARTIN, C. & DEVELOPMENTAL EPIDEMIOLOGY NETWORK, I. 2002.
 Chorioamnionitis, mechanical ventilation, and postnatal sepsis as modulators of chronic lung disease in preterm infants. J Pediatr, 140, 171-6.
- VENTO, M., MORO, M., ESCRIG, R., ARRUZA, L., VILLAR, G., IZQUIERDO, I., ROBERTS, L. J., 2ND, ARDUINI, A., ESCOBAR, J. J., SASTRE, J. & ASENSI, M. A. 2009. Preterm resuscitation with low oxygen causes less oxidative stress, inflammation, and chronic lung disease. *Pediatrics*, 124, e439-49.
- VESALIUS, A. 1543. De Humani Corporis Fabrica Libri Septem.
- VIGNAUX, L., GRAZIOLI, S., PIQUILLOUD, L., BOCHATON, N., KARAM, O., LEVY-JAMET, Y., JAECKLIN, T., TOURNEUX, P., JOLLIET, P. & RIMENSBERGER, P. C. 2013. Patientventilator asynchrony during noninvasive pressure support ventilation and neurally adjusted ventilatory assist in infants and children. *Pediatr Crit Care Med*, 14, e357-64.
- VOLLSAETER, M., ROKSUND, O. D., EIDE, G. E., MARKESTAD, T. & HALVORSEN, T. 2013. Lung function after preterm birth: development from mid-childhood to adulthood. *Thorax*, 68, 767-76.
- VOLSKO, T. A., FEDOR, K., AMADEI, J. & CHATBURN, R. L. 2011. High flow through a nasal cannula and CPAP effect in a simulated infant model. *Respir Care*, 56, 1893-900.
- VRIJLANDT, E. J., GERRITSEN, J., BOEZEN, H. M., DUIVERMAN, E. J. & DUTCH, P.-C. S. G. 2005. Gender differences in respiratory symptoms in 19-year-old adults born preterm. *Respir Res*, 6, 117.
- WALSH, M. C., WILSON-COSTELLO, D., ZADELL, A., NEWMAN, N. & FANAROFF, A. 2003. Safety, reliability, and validity of a physiologic definition of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. J Perinatol, 23, 451-6.
- WALSH, M. C., YAO, Q., GETTNER, P., HALE, E., COLLINS, M., HENSMAN, A., EVERETTE, R., PETERS, N., MILLER, N., MURAN, G., AUTEN, K., NEWMAN, N., ROWAN, G., GRISBY, C., ARNELL, K., MILLER, L., BALL, B., MCDAVID, G., NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF CHILD, H. & HUMAN DEVELOPMENT NEONATAL RESEARCH, N. 2004. Impact of a physiologic definition on bronchopulmonary dysplasia rates. *Pediatrics*, 114, 1305-11.
- WALTER, E. C., EHLENBACH, W. J., HOTCHKIN, D. L., CHIEN, J. W. & KOEPSELL, T. D. 2009. Low birth weight and respiratory disease in adulthood: a population-based casecontrol study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 180, 176-80.
- WANG, H., ST JULIEN, K. R., STEVENSON, D. K., HOFFMANN, T. J., WITTE, J. S., LAZZERONI, L.
 C., KRASNOW, M. A., QUAINTANCE, C. C., OEHLERT, J. W., JELLIFFE-PAWLOWSKI, L.
 L., GOULD, J. B., SHAW, G. M. & O'BRODOVICH, H. M. 2013. A genome-wide association study (GWAS) for bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatrics*, 132, 290-7.
- WARD, P. A. & LENTSCH, A. B. 1999. The acute inflammatory response and its regulation. *Arch Surg*, 134, 666-9.
- WATTERBERG, K. L., CARMICHAEL, D. F., GERDES, J. S., WERNER, S., BACKSTROM, C. & MURPHY, S. 1994. Secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor and lung inflammation in developing bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *J Pediatr*, 125, 264-9.
- WATTERBERG, K. L., DEMERS, L. M., SCOTT, S. M. & MURPHY, S. 1996. Chorioamnionitis and early lung inflammation in infants in whom bronchopulmonary dysplasia develops. *Pediatrics*, 97, 210-5.

- WEBB, H. H. & TIERNEY, D. F. 1974. Experimental pulmonary edema due to intermittent positive pressure ventilation with high inflation pressures. Protection by positive end-expiratory pressure. *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 110, 556-65.
- WILKINSON, D., ANDERSEN, C., O'DONNELL, C. P. & DE PAOLI, A. G. 2011. High flow nasal cannula for respiratory support in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD006405.
- WILKINSON, D., ANDERSEN, C., O'DONNELL, C. P., DE PAOLI, A. G. & MANLEY, B. J. 2016.
 High flow nasal cannula for respiratory support in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev,* 2, CD006405.
- WILKINSON, D. J., ANDERSEN, C. C., SMITH, K. & HOLBERTON, J. 2008. Pharyngeal pressure with high-flow nasal cannulae in premature infants. *J Perinatol*, 28, 42-7.
- YODER, B. A., HARRISON, M. & CLARK, R. H. 2009. Time-related changes in steroid use and bronchopulmonary dysplasia in preterm infants. *Pediatrics*, 124, 673-9.
- YODER, B. A., STODDARD, R. A., LI, M., KING, J., DIRNBERGER, D. R. & ABBASI, S. 2013. Heated, humidified high-flow nasal cannula versus nasal CPAP for respiratory support in neonates. *Pediatrics*, 131, e1482-90.
- YONG, S. C., CHEN, S. J. & BOO, N. Y. 2005. Incidence of nasal trauma associated with nasal prong versus nasal mask during continuous positive airway pressure treatment in very low birthweight infants: a randomised control study. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 90, F480-3.
- YOON, B. H., ROMERO, R., JUN, J. K., PARK, K. H., PARK, J. D., GHEZZI, F. & KIM, B. I. 1997. Amniotic fluid cytokines (interleukin-6, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-1 beta, and interleukin-8) and the risk for the development of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 177, 825-30.
- YOON SH, Y.-H. K., PARK HK 2011. High flow nasal cannula versus nasal CPAP in preterm infants. *J Korean Soc Neonatol*, 293-300.
- ZARAMELLA, P., FREATO, F., GRAZZINA, N., SARACENI, E., VIANELLO, A. & CHIANDETTI, L.
 2006. Does helmet CPAP reduce cerebral blood flow and volume by comparison with Infant Flow driver CPAP in preterm neonates? *Intensive Care Med*, 32, 1613-9.
- ZEITLIN, J., DRAPER, E. S., KOLLEE, L., MILLIGAN, D., BOERCH, K., AGOSTINO, R., GORTNER, L., VAN REEMPTS, P., CHABERNAUD, J. L., GADZINOWSKI, J., BREART, G., PAPIERNIK, E. & GROUP, M. R. 2008. Differences in rates and short-term outcome of live births before 32 weeks of gestation in Europe in 2003: results from the MOSAIC cohort. *Pediatrics*, 121, e936-44.
- ZIMMERMAN, J. J. 1995. Bronchoalveolar inflammatory pathophysiology of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Clin Perinatol*, 22, 429-56.
- ZIVANOVIC, S., PEACOCK, J., ALCAZAR-PARIS, M., LO, J. W., LUNT, A., MARLOW, N., CALVERT, S., GREENOUGH, A. & UNITED KINGDOM OSCILLATION STUDY, G. 2014. Late outcomes of a randomized trial of high-frequency oscillation in neonates. N Engl J Med, 370, 1121-30.

Appendices

A1.1 Patient information sheet and Consent form for Chapter 3



INFORMATION SHEET (19/10/2013, Version 6)

Optimisation of neonatal ventilation – proportional assist ventilation (PAV)

We are inviting you to consider allowing your baby to take part in a research study. Before you decide it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with friends, relatives and your GP if you wish. Take time to decide whether or not you wish your baby to take part.

Why are we doing it?

A significant proportion of babies admitted to the neonatal unit require help via a machine (ventilator) for their breathing. The survival of such babies has improved dramatically over the years, but complications such as chronic oxygen dependency and other breathing problems at follow-up remain unchanged. New types of ventilation have been developed in the hope their use may reduce the breathing problems. It is important these new types of ventilation are used in the best possible way. One is called proportional assist ventilation (PAV), which delivers support in proportion to the infant's breathing efforts. Our aim is to determine whether PAV offers any advantages for the baby over assist controlled ventilation (patient triggered ventilation), a form of pressure-limited ventilation, during which ventilator breaths are delivered at a pre-set pressure.

How will we do it?

We will assess babies that are still requiring support from the breathing machine at over a week of age who are receiving assist controlled ventilation. Babies will be randomly assigned to either assist controlled ventilation or PAV and they will spend four hours each on PAV and assist controlled ventilation. At the end of each four hour period we will measure your baby's muscle strength and the work associated with breathing (work of breathing). To measure the work of breathing we will use a tube similar to your baby's nasogastric (feeding) tube. Once the measurements are made on both the ventilator modes, your baby will go back to the same mode he/she was on before the study.

Are there any disadvantages of taking part in the study?

There are no known risks to your baby from taking part in this study.

How will the information be shared?

All information that is collected will be kept strictly confidential. We will, with your consent, inform your GP of your child's involvement in this study.

Giving Consent

It is important you understand that this study is voluntary and for research purposes. You may choose not to allow your child to participate in this study and you may withdraw your child at any time without their medical care or legal rights being affected. If you require any further information please ask. There are no harmful side effects associated with this study. No indemnity is available, although, normal NHS procedures apply in the unlikely event of any adverse outcome of the study.

If you decide to allow your child to take part in the study, you will be given a copy of the information sheet and consent form to keep. All information that is collected during the course of the research will be kept strictly confidential and if the results are published then anonymity will be maintained. This study was reviewed and approved by the Research Ethics Committee of King's College Hospital NHS Trust.

Thank you very much for considering your child for enrolment into this project. If you are happy to participate please sign below. If you have any further questions or would like to meet with a member of the research team to discuss this further, please do not hesitate to contact us on the telephone number below.
CONSENT FORM

(19/10/2013, Version 6)

King's College Hospital

Patient Identifier number for this trial:

..... (1) patient, (2) researcher, (3) hospital notes

Title of Project: Optimisation of neonatal ventilation

					Please	initial
box 1.	I confirm that I have read and sheet dated 19/10/2013 for th had the opportunity to ask qu	d understand the info ne above study and h lestions.	rmation nave			
2.	I understand that my child's pa am free to withdraw at my chil reason, without my child's me	articipation is volunta ld at any time, withou dical care or legal rig	rry and that I It giving any Ihts being affecte	d.		
3.	I understand that sections of a be looked at by responsible in authorities where it is relevant I give permission for these inc records.	any of my child's mea idividuals or from reg t to my taking part in lividuals to have acc	dical notes may julatory research. ess to my child's			
4.	I agree to allow my child to tal	ke part in the above	study.			
Nan	ne of Child	Date	-			
Nan	ne of Person giving consent	Date		Signature		
Res	earcher	Date		Signature		

A 1.2 Patient information sheet and Consent form for Chapter 4

King's College Hospital

INFORMATION SHEET (01/10/2015, Version 3)

Neurally Adjusted Ventilator Assist (NAVA) versus Assist control ventilation

We are inviting you to consider allowing your baby to take part in a research study. Before you decide it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with friends, relatives and your GP if you wish. Take time to decide whether or not you wish your baby to take part.

Why are we doing it?

Many babies admitted to the neonatal unit require help via a breathing machine (ventilator). The survival of such babies has improved over the last twenty years, but long-term complications such as chronic oxygen dependency and chronic breathing problems remain unchanged.

Modern ventilators attempt to match the patient's needs as much as possible but are not capable of knowing exactly when a patient wants a breath. The ventilator may give breaths even when the patient is not ready and this may cause some discomfort.

A new monitoring tool called NAVA is now available that measures exactly how much "breath" a baby needs to be comfortable. This is a special computerised module that attaches to the ventilator that can work out exactly how much power the diaphragm is generating or needs (the diaphragm is the main respiratory muscle that does all the breathing). The tool is very simple in that it is a special nasogastric tube (one that we ordinarily use to feed babies) that has electrodes in it that measure the power of the diaphragm. It is very much like an ECG for the heart, but only for the breathing muscles. This special nasogastric tube provides an instant feedback to the ventilator of how much breath is required and the ventilator then delivers every breath as demanded by the patient every second. NAVA has been used in adults and children including premature babies and has proven very useful in optimising patient comfort on ventilators.

Our aim is to determine whether NAVA offers any advantages over standard pressure limited ventilation.

How will we do it?

We wish to assess babies who are born prematurely and remain supported by a breathing machine one week after birth because of their breathing problems. Babies will be randomly assigned to either assist controlled ventilation or NAVA and they will spend one hour each on NAVA and assist controlled ventilation. At the end of each one hour period we will measure the baby's muscle strength and the work associated with breathing (work of breathing). To measure the work of breathing we will use an additional tube similar to the baby's nasogastric (feeding) tube. A small blood sample will be taken at the end of each hour from the baby's indwelling catheter, that is there are no extra pricks, to assess the levels of oxygen and carbon dioxide (the waste gas). Once the measurements are made on both the ventilator modes, your baby will go back to the same mode he/she was on before the study.

Are there any disadvantages of taking part in the study?

There are no known risks to your baby taking part in this study. The procedure may cause some disturbance when changing the breathing apparatus, but every effort will be taken to minimise this. If at any point during the study, researcher feels that your child is not ready for the study, and then your child will be put back onto the original ventilator.

What happens if something goes wrong?

Your baby will be closely monitored throughout the study in case any issues do arise. If you do have any concerns about any aspect of this study, you should speak to the researchers, using the contact details below, who will do their best to answer your questions. If you remain unhappy and wish to complain formally, you can do this by contacting the Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) via phone (0203 299 3601) or email (<u>kch-tr.PALS@nhs.net</u>).

How will the information be shared?

All information that is collected will be kept strictly confidential. We will, with your consent, inform your GP of your child's involvement in this study, by stating it in your baby's discharge summary.

Who has reviewed the study?

This study was reviewed and received favourable opinion by the West Midlands - Solihull Research Ethics Committee.

Giving Consent

It is important you understand that this study is voluntary and for research purposes. You may choose not to allow your child to participate in this study and you may withdraw your child at any time without their medical care or legal rights being affected. If you require any further information please ask. There are no harmful side effects associated with this study. In the event that something does go wrong and your baby is harmed during the research and this is due to someone's negligence then you may have grounds for a legal action for compensation against King's College London or King's College Hospital NHS Trust, but you may have to pay your legal costs.

If you decide to allow your child to take part in the study you will be given a copy of the information sheet and consent form to keep. All information that is collected during the course of the research will be kept strictly confidential and if the results are published then anonymity will be maintained. This study was reviewed and approved by the West Midlands – Solihull Research Ethics Committee.

Thank you very much for considering your child for enrolment into this project. If you are happy to participate please sign below. If you have any further questions, or would like to meet with a member of the research team to discuss this further, please do not hesitate to contact us on the telephone number below.



CONSENT FORM

(01/10/2015, Version 3)

Patient Identifier number	Identifier number NB Three copies should be made, fe	
for this trial:		(1) patient, (2) researcher, (3) hospital notes

Title of Project: Neurally Adjusted Ventilator Assist (NAVA) versus Assist control ventilation

b					Please	initial
2.	I confirm that I have read and sheet dated 01/10/2015 for had the opportunity to ask qu	d understand the info the above study and uestions.	ormation have			
3.	I understand that my baby's p am free to withdraw at my bal reason, without my baby's me	articipation is volunt by at any time, witho edical care or legal ri	ary and that I ut giving any ghts being affect	ed.		
4.	I understand that sections of a be looked at by responsible in authorities where it is relevan I give permission for these ind records.	any of my baby's me ndividuals or from req t to my taking part in dividuals to have acc	dical notes may gulatory research. ess to my baby's	3		
5.	I consent for my GP to be info	ormed of my baby's i	nclusion into the	study		
6.	I agree to allow my baby to ta	ke part in the above	study.			
Nar	me of Baby	Date	-			
Nar	me of person giving consent	Date	-	Signature		
Res	searcher	Date	-			

A 1.3 Survey Questionnaire in Chapter 5

		Exit this survey
Humidified High Flow	Nasal Cannula Oxygen (HHFNC)	
* 1. Please provide the fol	owing information	
Name		
Job Title		
Hospital		
* 2. What level of Neonata	Care is provided at your unit?	
○ 1		
<u>2</u>		
3		
* 3. Is HHFNC used at you	r unit?	
◯ Yes		
O No		
	Prev Next	

	Exit this survey
Humidified High Flow Nasal Cannula Oxygen (HHFNC)	
* 4. What equipment is used at your unit?	
Vapotherm	
Optiflow	
Other (please specify)	
* 5. Do you have a guideline/policy for HHFNC use at your unit?	
○ Yes	
○ No	
* 6. For which indications is HHFNC used at your unit? Please select all that apply.	
Initial respiratory support- alternative to CPAP	
Weaning from CPAP	
Post-extubation	

* 7. V	What starting flow rate is used at your unit?	
0) 8l/min	
0) 6l/min	
0	Other (please specify)	
* 8. V	What is the lowest flow rate used at your unit?	
\bigcirc	41/min	
\bigcirc) 31/min	
\bigcirc) 2l/min	
\bigcirc) 11/min	
\bigcirc	Other (please specify)	
* 9. F	For babies with decreasing requirements, what increment of flow is	typically used when weaning?
\bigcirc	0.51/min	
\bigcirc) 11/min	
\bigcirc	Other (please specify)	

* 10. When weaning, what would typically be the duration of each step at your unit?	
12 hourly	
O 24 hourly	
◯ 48 hourly _	
Other (please specify)	
* 11. How are the nasal cannulae sized to fit when using HHFNC at your unit?	
Snug fit	
Cover >50% of nostril but not snug to nostril	
Cover <50% of nostril	
* 12. Is HHFNC used for particular gestations of babies at your unit?	
Preterm babies only	
C Term babies only	
All gestations	
* 13. Please describe any weight criteria for the use of HHFNC on your unit	

A 1.4 Patient information sheet and Consent form for Chapter 6

INFORMATION SHEET (11/03/2014, Version 2)

King's College Hospital NHS

Comparison of the work of breathing during humidified high flow nasal cannula oxygen (HHFNC) and continuous positive airways pressure (CPAP).

We are inviting you to consider allowing your baby to take part in a research study. Before you decide, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with friends, relatives and your GP if you wish. Take time to decide whether or not you wish your baby to take part.

Why are we doing it?

This study is being carried out to determine whether babies have to work less hard to breathe (work of breathing) on HHFNC or CPAP. Both forms of breathing support are used as a step down when babies no longer need help from the breathing machine (extubated), but still need some support for their breathing. During HHFNC, the breathing gas is delivered at high flows, during CPAP lower flows are used and higher pressures can be given. Both techniques are delivered via nasal cannulae, that is small tubes inserted just inside the nostrils. When babies are taken off the ventilator they have to work harder to breathe and it is not clear whether HHFNC or CPAP better supports babies, that is they have a lower work of breathing. The work of breathing support beyond two weeks after birth, if the baby is working hard to breathe this can slow down their weight gain. We, therefore wish to determine whether HHFNC or CPAP better supports and which is associated with the lower work of breathing.

How will we do it?

Much of the information we need for this study can be obtained from the medical and nursing teams caring for your baby, but we do need to make some additional measurements. On two successive days, babies will be studied for two hour periods on the two types of breathing support, CPAP and HHFNC. The order in which they will be studied will be chosen by random, that is as tossing a coin. The order in which the breathing support modes will be studied will be reversed on the next day. For the last five minutes at the end of each two hour period we will measure the work associated with breathing (work of breathing) and how well the chest and abdomen move up and down together as your baby breathes. To measure the work of breathing we place a tube similar to your baby's nasogastric (feeding) tube through his/her mouth into the stomach. This allows us to measure the main breathing muscle, the diaphragm. To measure how well the chest and the abdomen move together as your baby breathes, we will put elasticated bands around his/her chest and the abdomen. You are welcome to be present during the procedure.

Why has my baby been invited?

Your baby is still requiring support for their breathing and is over two weeks old.

Are there any disadvantages of taking part in the study?

There are no known risks to your baby taking part in this study, indeed it will help us see which of the two methods of supporting your baby's breathing is more helpful to your baby. The procedure may cause some discomfort and there may be some disturbance when changing the breathing apparatus, but every effort will be taken to minimise this.

How will the information be shared?

The results of the study will be given to the clinical staff looking after your baby and this will be one of the ways they to decide which method of breathing support will be better for your baby. We will, with your consent, inform your GP of your baby's involvement in this study by stating it in your baby's discharge summary.

What will happen to the results of the study?

The results of the research from all the babies that have been taken part will be analysed and the results made available to practitioners such as doctors, nurses and physiotherapists and may be used to guide the management of babies in the future. The results may be presented at national and international meetings and in peer reviewed medical journals for wider distribution. At no point will any information revealing your baby's identity be made available to anyone outside the research team or the clinical team caring for him/her.

What if there is a problem?

There are no harmful side effects associated with this study. In the unlikely event that there is a problem King's College, London and King's College Hospital indemnity will apply.

What happens when the research stops?

Once the required information has been collected from your baby, there is nothing further that you or your baby is required to do. Your baby would continue to receive their medical care as usual

Who has reviewed the study?

A regional Ethics committee (NRES London - Westminster Research Ethics Committee) has reviewed and approved the study.

Giving Consent:

It is important you understand that this study is voluntary and for research purposes. You may choose not to allow your baby to participate in this study and you may withdraw your baby at any time without their medical care or legal rights being affected. If you require any further information, please ask.

If you decide to allow your baby to take part in the study, you will be given a copy of the information sheet and consent form to keep. All information that is collected during the course of the research will be kept strictly confidential and if the results are published then anonymity will be maintained. This study was reviewed and approved by the Research Ethics Committee of King's College Hospital NHS Trust.

Thank you very much for considering your baby for enrolment into this project. If you are happy to participate please sign below. If you have any further questions or would like to meet with a member of the research team to discuss this further, please do not hesitate to contact us on the telephone number below.

CONSENT FORM

(15/01/2014, Version 1)

Patient Identifier number	NB Three copies should be made, for
for this trial:	 (1) patient, (2) researcher, (3) hospital notes

Title of Project: Work of breathing during HHFNC and CPAP

- 3. I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet dated 11/03/2014 for the above study and have had the opportunity to ask questions.
- 4. I understand that my baby's participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at my baby at any time, without giving any

reason, without my baby's medical care or legal rights being affected.

 I understand that sections of any of my baby's medical notes may be looked at by responsible individuals or from regulatory authorities where it is relevant to my taking part in research.

I give permission for these individuals to have access to my baby's

records.

7. I consent for my GP to be informed of my baby's inclusion into the study

8. I agree to allow my baby to take part in the above study.











Name of Baby	Date	
Name of person giving consent	Date	Signature
Researcher	Date	Sign

A3 Publications arising from this thesis

ORIGINAL ARTICLE	
Proportional assist versus assist co in premature infants Sandeep Shetty ¹ · Prashanth Bhat ² · Ann Hickey ¹ · Janet I Anthony D Milner ² · Anne Greenough ^{2,4}	Peacode ^{3,4} •
Received: 31 March 2015 / Revised: 6 July 2015 / Accepted: 8 July 2015	
Abstract During proportional assist ventilation (PAV), the applied pressure is serve-controlled based on continuous input from the infant's breathing. In addition, elastic and resistive unloading can be employed to compensate for the abnormal- ties in the infant's lung mechanics. The aim of this study was to test the hypothesis that in very prematurely bom infants remaining ventilated beyond the first week, PAV compared to assist control ventilation (ACV) would be associated with superior oxygenation. A randomised crossover study was un- dertaken. Infants were studied for 4 hours each on PAV and ACV in random order; at the end of each 4-h period, the oxygenation index (OI) was calculated. Eight infants, median gestational age of 25 (ange 24–33) weeks, were studied at a median of 19 (ange 10–105) days. It had been intended to study 18 infants but as all the infants had superior oxygenation on PAV (p=0.0039), the study was terminated after recruit- ment of eight infants. The median inspired oxygen concentra- tion (p=0.049), mean airway pressure (p=0.012) and OI (p= 0.012) were all lower on PAV.	Conclusion: These results suggest that PAV compared to ACV is advantageous in improving oxygenation for prema- turely born infants with evolving or established BPD. What is knowe: *Drate proportional assist verifiation (PAV), the applied pressure is servo controlled throughout each spontace ous breach. *Hastic and resistive unloading can compensate for the infant's abnormalities in lung mechanics. What is new: *Hast is new: *The oxygenation index was significantly lower on PAV in all infants studied Keywords Proportional assist ventilation - Assist control ventilation - Oxygenation
Ame Greenough anne, greenough@kcla.cuk Sandeep Shetty andeep, shetty1@nhs.net Pushanh Bhat prashanh Bhat prashanh bhat@kcl.ac.uk Ann Hikkey annhickey@nhs.net Innet I. Peacock jaret peacock@kclac.uk Anthony D Milner anthony milner@kcl.ac.uk	 ¹ Neonatal Intensive Care Centre, King's College Hospital, London, UK ² Division of Asthma, Allergy and Lung Biology, MRC Centre for Allergic Mechanisma in Asthma, King's College London, London, UK ³ Division of Health and Social Care Research, King's College London, London, UK ⁴ NIHR Biomedical Research Centre at Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Tust and King's College London, London, UK

Abbreviations

ACV Assist control ventilation

- BPD Bronchopulmonary dysplasia
- FiO2 Fraction of inspired oxygen concentration
- MAP Mean airway pressure OI Oxygenation index
- PAV Proportional assist ventilation
- PCV Patient controlled ventilation
- PEEP Positive end expiratory pressure
- PIP Peak inspiratory pressure
- SIMV Synchronised intermittent mandatory ventilation

Introduction

During proportional assist ventilation (PAV), the applied pressure is servo controlled, based on continuous input from the infant's breathing throughout each spontaneous breath. In addition, the ventilator can provide inflation pressure in phase with the tidal volume change in order to reduce the compliance load (i.e. the load due to the stiffness of infant's lungs) and in phase with the flow change to reduce the resistance load (i.e. the load due to airflow obstruction), termed elastic and resistive unloading, respectively [6]. Very prematurely born infants developing or with established bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) will have stiff lungs (that is non-compliant) despite a very compliant chest wall, so may be particularly likely to benefit from elastic unloading. PAV has only been assessed in neonates in a few studies. In a previous crossover study, we demonstrated that infants with evolving or established bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) on PAV compared to assist control ventilation (ACV) had better oxygenation indices, a lower work of breathing and better respiratory muscle strength. The infants, however, were only studied on each ventilator mode for 1 h [1]. The longest infants have been studied on PAV is 4 h [7], but during that study, only changes in pulse oximetry results were assessed. During PAV, the applied pressure is servo controlled throughout each breath, whereas during ACV, only the initiation of inflation is syonchronised to the start of inspiration; hence, we hypothesised that oxygenation would be superior on PAV compared to ACV. During PAV, however, we have demonstrated a trigger delay of 60 ms using an in vitro model [4]; hence, it was important to assess blood gases over a longer period that studied previously [1]. The aim of this study, therefore, was to test the hypothesis that infants with evolving or established BPD would have superior oxygenation index results after 4 h on PAV compared to after a similar period on ACV

🐑 Springer

Methods

A randomised, crossover study was undertaken. Prematurely born infants remaining ventilated after the first week after birth were eligible for entry into the study if they were being supported by ACV. Evolving BPD was defined as ventilator dependence beyond 14 days and established BPDas ventilator dependence beyond 28 days. Infants were ineligible for inclusion in the study if they had a major congenital cardiac abnormality or were receiving a neuromuscular blockade agent. Infants were entered into the study if their parents gave informed written consent. The study was approved by the South East London Research Ethics Committee and King's College Hospital Research Ethics Committee. During the 8-h study period, no other changes were made to the infant care than the changes in ventilator mode.

Infants at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust are routinely supported by the SLE 5000. The infants were transferred from the SLE 5000 ventilator to ACV on the Stephanie ventilator using the same ventilator settings (baseline). All infants as per the unit's routine policy were ventilated via shouldered endotracheal tubes which have been shown to have minimal or no leaks [2]. One hour was allowed for stabilisation of the infant on the Stephanie ventilator. A blood gas analysis was then performed and the baseline ventilator settings were noted. During the stabilisation period, the venfilator displayed compliance and resistance settings were noted every 10 min and the six results meaned. The ventilator calculated the compliance from the inflation pressure (PIP-PEEP) and the resultant tidal volume. The value of the reciprocal of the compliance, elastance, was used to set the level of the elastic unloading. Each infant was then randomised to receive first either PAV or ACV mode for 4 h and for the second 4 h received the alternative mode. During ACV, the peak inspiratory pressure (PIP), positive end expiratory pressure (PEEP) and the inflation time were kept the same as at baseline. During PAV, the maximum PIP was set at 5 cm H2O above the PIP on ACV. The PEEP level during PAV was the same as at baseline, and the PEEP and the inflation time during back up ventilation were the same as at baseline. Whenever cessation of spontaneous breathing occurred for more than 5 s during PAV, mandatory backup inflations were automatically delivered by the ventilator. The backup rate set at 40 breaths per minute was delivered to the infant for 10 s with a backup inflation peak pressure of 5 cm H2O above the PIP used during ACV. Elastic unloading, which was used only during inspiration, was initially set at 75 % of full unloading. Full unloading was the level of unloading which increased the infant's compliance to the expected 'normal', that is, 2.0 mL/ cm H2O/kg. If after 10 min the infant remained stable and no airway pressure waveform abnormalities were observed [4], the unloading was increased to 100 %. If airway pressure waveform abnormalities were then noted by looking at the

pressure display, the unloading was to be reduced back to 75 %. Resistive unloading was not used as, an in vitro model, oscillations in the airway pressure waveforms appeared when the resistive unloading was greater than 100 cm H₂O/L/s [4].

The number of desaturations (an oxygen saturation less than 88%) on each mode was noted. An attential blood sample was obtained at the end of each 4-h period, the ventilatory settings were noted and the oxygenation index (OI) was calculated. Respiratory rate, tidal volume and mean airway pressure were obtained from the ventilator. The results from the last 5 min of the 4-h study period were averaged. All the infants had continuous oxygen saturation monitoring. During the study, the inspired oxygen concentration was adjusted as necessary to maintain the oxygen saturation level in the range 92-96%.

Sample size

In our previous study, the mean OI in the PAV group was 6.0 (SD \pm 2.4) and in the ACV group was 9.8 (SD \pm 3.7) [1]. The planned sample size was 18 infants to allow detection between the two ventilator modes of a within patient difference of 0.7 SD in the oxygenation index results with 80 % power and a two-sided significance of 5 %.

Analysis

Differences were assessed for statistical significance using the paired Wilcoxon signed rank test using IBM SPPS statistical software, V.21 (IBM Corporation, USA).

Re sults

Recruitment to the trial was stopped at eight infants as all the OI results were in favour of PAV (Table 1). The decision was taken by the dimical team and the study statistician in the knowledge that the probability of all 8/8 results in the same direction (hence favouring PAV) if both modes were in fact equally effective was extremely small ($0.5^8-0.0039$).

Table 1 Oxygenation infex results by	INFANT	BAV	ACV
entilatory mode. Individual data are siven	1	8.1	15.2
	2	7.0	8.3
	3	17.4	21.6
	4	12.6	20.3
	5	5.2	8.4
	6	10.0	14.1
	7	5.9	11.3
	8	9.9	11.7

The median birth weight of the infants was 767 (range 650-1926) g, gestational age 25.7 (range 24.4-33.5) weeks and postnatal age at measurement 19 (range 10-105) days; seven of the eight infants were male. All the infants had been exposed to antenatal steroids, received postnatal surfactant and were receiving caffeine at the time of study. None were receiving sedation at the time of study or had received postnatal steroids. Their median baseline compliance was 0.4 (range 0.3-1.1) mL/cmH2O and resistance was 155 (range 66-252) cmH2O/L/s. All infants tolerated 100 % elastic unloading throughout the study. The median FiO2 (p= 0.049), the median mean airway pressure (p=0.012) and the median oxygenation index (p=0.012) were all lower on PAV compared to ACV (Table 2). There was no significant difference in the median number of desaturation episodes between the two modes.

Discussion

We have demonstrated that PAV compared to ACV in prematurely born infants ventilated beyond the first week after birth resulted in superior oxygenation index results. Those results are in keeping with those of Schulze et al. [7] who compared PAV to SIMV or ACV in infants with evolving BPD. The 22 infants had a median gestational age of 25.6 weeks and were studied at a mean postnatal age of 22.9 days. They found after a 4-h period of PAV that despite a lower MAP, the inspired oxygen concentration and pulse oximetry readings were not significantly different between the two groups. All the infants in our study had arterial blood gas measurements, and hence, we were able to calculate their oxygenation index. We compared PAV to ACV as both modes provide respiratory support for all the infant's breaths. During SIMV, only a preset number of the infant's breaths are supported by the ventilator and hence this might at least partially explain why PAV was superior to SIMV/ACV in the earlier study [7]. We have previously demonstrated that during PAV [1], the inspiratory tidal volume and inflation pressures are closely phase-matched and the oesophageal pressure is out of phase as a result of the proportionality. This does not occur in ACV and likely leads to more efficient support during PAV. We did not record whether compliance was improved on PAV compared to ACV, but in our previous paper [1] demonstrated there was an almost significant (p=0.05) reduction in thoraco-abdominal asynchrony which could improve oxygenation. In our previous study [1], the respiratory rate was significantly lower during PAV, but the medians were 54 bpm on PAV and 57 bpm on ACV, so unlikely to be of clinical significance. In this study, we did not demonstrate any significant differences in the respiratory rates or delivered tidal volumes. PAV compared to ACV support was not associated with any significant reduction in PaCO₂ but the mean airway pressure was significantly lower during

🙆 Springer

Table 2 Comparison of airway pressures and blood gas exchange		PAV	ACV	p value
by ventilator mode. The results are expressed as the median	FiO ₂	0.48 (0.31-0.65)	0.57(0.40-0.72)	0.049
(mnge)	PaO ₂ (kpa)	5.6 (5.4-8.6)	5.6 (50-68)	0.327
	PCO ₂ (kpa)	8.0 (5.5-93)	7.2 (5.5-11)	0.889
	Oxygenation index	9.0 (5.2-17.4)	12.9 (83-21.6)	0.012
	Mean airway pressure (cm H2O)	8.5 (6.7-10.0)	9.5 (8.1 -13)	0.012
	Respiratory rate (bpm)	56.6 (47.5-76.7)	57.4 (49.5-66)	0.401
	Tidal volume (mL/kg)	7.5 (3.7-10.0)	5.8 (3.5-10.3)	0.234
	Desaturation episodes (a)	1(0-2)	0(0-2)	0.429

PAV, suggesting the PIP was lower and hence that PAV might have resulted in greater CO2 clearance.

In a previous 4-h cross-over study [7], although the incidence of arterial oxygen desaturations was not significantly different, the desaturations lasted longer when infants were supported by PAV. In that study, however, the infants had a history of frequent apnoeas and arterial oxygen desaturations. None of the infants in this study had been ventilated because of a history of apnoea. In addition, in the previous study [7], a time of 10 s was used during which the ventilator softw identified cessation of breathing, whereas we used an updated version of the Stephanie software in which a 5-s period was used during which the ventilator software identified the cessation of breathing. It is likely then that this updated version enabled better support during PAV when the infant was apnoeic. We did not demonstrate any significant difference in the number of desaturations; indeed, the infants in both groups experienced very few desaturations.

Our study was terminated before our calculated sample size. We were mindful that all 12 infants in our 1-h cross-over study had lower OI results on PAV compared to ACV [1]. Hence, we wished to stop this study as early as possible if all the PAV results were again superior to the ACV results.

In our previous study [1], we also reported that on PAV, the median pressure time product level was significantly lower than on ACV indicating a lower work of breathing, which may reflect more synchronised support by the ventilator throughout inspiration. Neurally adjusted ventilatory assist (NAVA) also applies airway pressure throughout inspiration. During NAVA, the pressure applied is proportional to the electrical activity of the diaphragm. In a cross-over study of 14 preterm infants [3], asynchrony was significantly lower during 12 h on NAVA than during 12 h on pressure regulated, volume controlled ventilation. In addition, amongst ten in fants recovering from severe acute respiratory distress syndrome, oxygenation was superior after 8 h of NAVA compared to after 8 h of pressure support ventilation (PSV) [5]. These data [1, 3, 5] and the results currently reported suggest ventilation modes which apply airway pressure in proportion to the infant's respiratory effort throughout inspiration may be superior to those modes in which synchronisation is only at the start of

🐑 Springer

inspiration (ACV) or the start and end of inspiration (pressure support ventilation).

Conclusion

In conclusion, we have demonstrated in a short-term crossover study, PAV compared to ACV was associated with significantly superior oxygenation which likely reflects the better synchronisation of the inflation pressure and tidal volume throughout inspiration. We, therefore, feel these data emphasise the need now for a randomised controlled trial.

Acknowledgements AG, ADM and PB designed the study. SS under-took all the assessments. JLP advised on the analysis. All authors were involved in the production of the manuscript.

Funding PB was supported by the Charles Wolfson Charitable Trust. The research was supported by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Biomedical Research Centre based at Guy's and St Thomas NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London. The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health. AG is an NIHR Senior Investigator.

Competing interests AG has held grants from various ventilator man-ufacturers; AG and A DM have received honomria for giving lectures and advising various ventilator manufactures.

References

- Bhat P, Patel DS, Hannam S, Rafferty GF, Peacock JL, Milner AD et al (2015) Crossover study of proportional assist versus assist con-trol ventilation. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 100:F35-F38
- Hird M, Greenough A, Gamau HR (1990) Gas trapping during high frequency positive pressure ventilation using conventional ventila-tors. Early Hum Dev 22:51–56 2
- Longhini F, Ferrero F, De Luca D, Cosi G, Alemari M, Colombo D et al (2015) Neurally adjusted ventilatory assist in preterm neonates
- with acute respiratory failure. Neonatology 107:60–67 Patel DS, Rafferty GF, Hamam S, Lee S, Milner AD, Greenough A (2010) In vitro assessment of proportional assist ventilation. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neomata1Ed 95:F331-F337
- Piastra M, De Luca D, Costa R, Pizza A, De Sanctis R, Marzano L 5. et al (2014) Neurally adjusted ventilatory assist vs pressure support

	ventilation in infants recovering from severe acute respiratory dis- tress syndrome: nested study. J Crit Care 312:e1-e5	7.	Schulze A, Rieger-Fackeldey E, Gerhardt T, Claure N, Everett R, Bancalari E (2007) Randomized crossover comparison of propo-
6	Schulze A (2002) Respiratory mechanical unloading and proportion- al assist ventilation in infants. Acta Paediatr Suppl 437:19–22		toonal assist vent aton and patient-triggered ventilation in extremely low birth weight infants with evolving chronic lung disease. Neonatology 92:1-7

	DRIGINAL ARTICLE	
C	Crossover study of assist control v djusted ventilatory assist	ventilation and neurally
Sa	ndeep Shetty ¹ • Katie Hunt ¹ • Janet Peacock ^{2,3} • Kamal /	Ali ⁴ • Anne Greenough ^{1,3,5} 🕞
te D	ceived: 23 November 2016/Revised: 22 January 2017/Accepted: 25 Jr Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2017	imaary 2017
Alt re (N rig pro inc A the the	estract Some studies of infants with acute respiratory dis- as have demonstrated that neurally adjusted ventilator assist (AVA) had better short-term results compared to non- ggred or other triggered models. We determined if very emature by born infants with evolving or established onchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) had a lower oxygenation law (OI) on NAVA compared to assist control ventilation CV). Infants were studied for 1 h each on each mode. At a end of each hour, blood gas analysis was performed and c OI calculated. The inspired oxygen concentration (FiO ₂), muunioated by Parick Van Reempts	the peak inflation (PIP) and mean airway pressures (MAP) and compliance were averaged from the last 5 min on each mode. Nine inflarits, median gestational age of 25 (range 22- 27) weeks, were studied at a median postnatal age of 20 (nange 8-84) days. The mean OI after 1 h on NAVA was 7.9 com- pared to 11.1 on ACV ($p = 0.0007$). The FiO ₂ (0.36 versus 0.45, $p = 0.007$), PIP (16.7 versus 20.1 cm H ₂ O, $p = 0.017$) and MAP (9.2 versus 10.5 cm H ₂ O, $p = 0.004$) were lower on NAVA. Compliance was higher on NAVA (0.62 versus 0.50 ml/cmH ₂ Okg, $p = 0.005$). <i>Condusion:</i> NAVA compared to ACV improved oxy gena- tion in prematurely born inflants with evolving or established
	Ame Greenough	BPD.
	anne greenough @kelacukV Sandeep Shetty andeep.lshetty@kelacukV Katie Hunt	What is Known: • Neurally assist ventilator adjust (NAVA) uses the electrical activity of the disphragm to serve control the applied pressure. • In infiniti with actus RDS, use of NAVA was associated with lower peak infinite womene on the lobbar tidel use lowers
	katie a hunt@kolac.ukV Ianet Peacook jaret peacook @ke lac.ukV	 What is New: This study uriquely reports infants with evolving or established BPD, and their results were compared on 1 k each of NAVA and assist
	Kamal Ali kamalali@nhs.net	controlled venilation. • On NAVA, infants had superior (lower) oxygen indices, lower inspired aygen concentrations and peakand mean airway pressures and higher compliance.
	Division of Asthma, Allengy and Lung Hology, MRC & Asthma UK Centre in Allengic Mechanisms of Asthma, King's College London, London, UK	Keywords Assist control ventilation - Neurally adjusted
	Division of Health and Social Care Research, King's College London, London, UK	ventilatory assist - Prematurity
1	NIHR Biomedical Research Centre at Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London, London, UK	
2	NIHR Biomedical Research Centre atGuy's and St. Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London, London, UK Neonatal Intensive Care Centre, King's College Hospita1NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK	Abbreviations ACV Assist control ventilation
2	NIHR Biomedical Research Centre atGig/'s and St.Thomae' NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London, London, UK Neonatal Intensive Care Centre, King's College HospitalNHS Foundation Trust, London, UK Neonatal Intensive Care Unit, 4th Floor Golden Jubilee Wing, King's College Hospital, Denmark Hil, London SE5 9RS, UK	Abbreviations ACV Assist control ventilation BPD Bronchopulmonary dysplasia Edi Electrical activity of the diaphragm

- FiO2 Inspired oxygen concentration
- MAP Mean airway pressures
- NAVA Neurally assist ventilator adjust
- OI Oxygenation index
- PEEP Positive end expiratory pressure
- PIP Peak inflation pressure
- RDS Respiratory distress syndrome

Introduction

Whilst the survival of babies born very prematurely has improved, many will develop bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) and chronic respiratory morbidity. New modes of ventilation have been developed with the aim of reducing lung injury and improving respiratory outcomes. One such mode is neurally adjusted ventilatory assist (NAVA). NAVA uses the electrical activity of the diaphragm (Edi), captured by a specialised nasogastric tube with an array of electrodes (the Edi catheter), to servo control the applied ventilator pressure. The Edi is used both to trigger each inflation and also to determine the level of support proportional to the infant's neural drive to breathe throughout each inflation [11]. Inflations are off-cycled when the Edi falls by a prespecified amount. The clinician sets the NAVA level or gain factor by which the Edi signal at each point in time is "translated" into airway ure provided. The change in electrical activity of the pres diaphragm that triggers inflation is earlier in the respiratory cycle than the change in flow which is used in other trigger modes; hence, the trigger delay is shorter on NAVA [4]. Edi may be a more accurate method to detect the infant's inspiratory efforts and hence, there would be less ineffective or wasted effort and auto or double triggering.

In infants with acute respiratory distress, in randomised and non-randomised crossover studies. NAVA has been shown to have superior results compared to non-triggered and other triggered modes, but only with regard to pressure levels and lung function. Studies have not addressed clinically important outcomes such as the length of intubation or mortality. In a randomised crossover study of 4-h periods comparing synchronised intermittent mandatory ventilation (SIMV) with pressure support, NAVA was shown to have a lower peak airway pressure in preterm infants born between 24 and 36 weeks [8]. In a non-randomised study, five premature infants with a mean gestational age of 26 weeks were studied at a median postnatal age of 7 days [13]. They were ventilated for consecutive 4-h periods on NAVA followed by pressure controlled ventilation, and the sequence was repeated three times. The peak inflation pressure (PIP) was lower and the tidal volumes and compliance were higher on NAVA [13]. A non-randomised, crossover study of two 12h periods of pressure-regulated volume control ventilation followed by NAVA was performed on 19 infants with a median gestational

Springer
 Springer

age of 31.8 weeks. NAVA resulted in lower peak inspiratory pressures and the tidal volumes of the infants were lower on NAVA [9]. In addition, on NAVA, the asynchrony index was lower and there were no neural apnoeas. [9].

Infants with evolving or established bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) have a high resistance of the respiratory system which means flow triggering can be challenging. During NAVA, flow triggering is not used [4]. Previous studies have assessed infants with acute respiratory distress who have very different hung function to those with evolving or established BPD. Hence, it cannot be assumed that similar results from those with acute respiratory distress would be achieved in those with acute respiratory distress would be achieved in those with acute respiratory distress would be achieved in those with acute respiratory distress would be achieved in those sit control vertilation (ACV) would result in a lower OI in infants with evolving or established BPD.

Methods

The study was undertaken at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust between December 2015 and June 2016. Infants were eligible for this randomised, crossover study if they were born at less than 32 weeks of gestation and remained ventilated at 1 week of age on assist control ventilation (ACV). Eligible infants were identified on a daily basis by a researcher by discussion with the clinical team. A local audit of 100 consecutive infants born at less than 32 weeks of gestation had demonstrated 95% of those who remained ventilator dependent at 1 week of age developed BPD, that is oxygen dependency beyond 28 days. Those with major congenital abnormalities (that is requiring surgical correction) or receiving neuromuscular blockade were excluded. All infants were clinically stable with assessed. The study was approved by the West Midlands - Solihull Research Ethics Committee. Written, informed parental consent was obtained.

Infants at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust are routinely supported by the SLE 5000 (software versions 4.3; SLE Ltd., South Croydon, UK). All infants were ventilated with Coles shouldered endotracheal tubes which have been shown to have minimal or no leaks [7]. Volume targeting was not used. On entry into the study, the infants were transferred from ACV on the SLE 5000 to ACV (named 'Pressure Control' on the Servo-n ventilator, Maquet Critical Care, Solna, Sweden). The same ventilator settings and backup rate were used. In particular, the positive end expiratory pressure (PEEP) was kept at 4-5 cm H₂O as had been used prior to the study and the inflation time was set, as previously, at 0.36 to 0.4 s. The approve time was set to 2 s and the upper pressure limit at least 5 cm H2O higher than the baseline settings, but did not exceed 30 cm H2O. A six French Edi catheter was inserted and correct positioning confirmed as per the instructions of the manufacturer using the Edi catheter positioning

waveform closely matched the pressure waveform on the baseline settings.

We have previously demonstrated that proportional assist ventilation (PAV), when compared to ACV, resulted in improved oxygenation [2, 12] and a reduced work of breathing [2] in infants with evolving or established bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Both PAV and NAVA provide support in proportion to the respiratory effort throughout each breath. Our results suggest that such modes are superior to ACV. As yet, there are no randomised controlled trials with long-term outcomes assessing either NAVA or PAV and therefore, any potential long term benefit remains unknown.

In conclusion, we have demonstrated in a randomised crossover study that NAVA, compared to ACV, resulted in improved (lower) oxygenation index and this was associated with lower peak and mean airway pressures.

Authors' contributions Professor Greenoush and Dr. Ali designed the study and approved the final manuscript as submitted. Dr. Shetty and Dr. Hunt collected the data and approved the final manuscript as submitted. Professor Peacock designed the statistical analysis and analysed the data and approved the final manuscript as submitted. All authors were in-volved in the preparation of the manuscript and approved the final manuscript as subm ined

Campliance with ethical standards All procedures performed in stud-ies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable

Funding Dr. Hurt is supported by a grant from the Charles Wolfson Charitable Tust. Dr. Sherty was supported by fanding from Kirag's College Hospital NHS Foundation Tust in recognition of Professor Greenough's NIHR Senior Investigator Award. The reaeach was supported by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Biomedical Research Centre based at Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London. The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health

Conflict of interest AG has held grants from various ventilator manufacturess and has received honoraria for giving lectures and advising various ventilator manufacturess. The Servo-n ventilator was loaned to us by Maquet Critical Care, Soina, Sweden. They were not involved in the study design, data collection, data analysis or production of the useript

Informed consent Infants whose parents gave informed written connt were recruited

References

- Beck J, Reilly M, Gnaselli G, Minbella L, Slutsky AS, Dunn MS, 1. Sinderby C (2009) Patient-ventilator interaction during neurally adjusted ventilatory assist in low birth weight infants. Pediatr Res 65:663–668
- Bhat P. Patel D-S. Hannam S. Rafferty GF. Peacock JL, Milner A.D. 2 Greenough A (2015) Crossover study of proportional assist versus assist control ventilation. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 100: F35-F38
- Bland JM, Altman DG (1996) Statistics notes. Logarithms BMJ З. 312:700
- Bordessoule A, Emeriaud G, Momeau S, Jouvet P, Beck J (2012) 4. Neurally adjusted ventilatory assist improves patient-ventilat teraction in infants as compared with conventional ventila Pediatr Res 72:194-202
- Breatnach C, Conlon NP, Stack M, Healy M, O'Hare BP (2010) A 5. prospective crossover comparison of neurally adjusted ventilat assist and pressure-support ventilation in a pediatric and neonatal intensive care unit population. Pediatr Crit Care Med 11:7-11
- 6. de la Oliva P. Schüffelmann C. Gómez-Zamora A. Villar J. Kaemarek RM (2012) Asynchrony, neural drive, vertilatory vas-ability and COMFORT: NAVA versus pressure support in pediatric patients. A non-madomized cross-over trial. Intensive Care Med 38:338-846
- Hird M, Greenough A, Gamsu HR (1990) Gas trapping during high 7. frequency positive pressure ven tors. Early Hum Dev 22:51-56 using co
- Lee J, Kim H-S, Sohn JA, Lee JA, Choi CW, Kim EK, Kim BL, Choi JH (2012) Randomized crossover study of neurally adjusted ventilatory assist in preterm infants. J Pediatr 161:808-813
- Longhini F, Ferrero F, De Luca D, Cosi G, Alemani M, Colombo D, mota G. Berni P. Corti G. Bona G. Della Corte F. Navalesi P Con Cammarota G, Berni P, Coetti G, Bona G, Della Cotte F, Navalesi P (2015) Neumlly adjusted verifiatory assist in preterm meonates with acute respiratory failure. Neonatology 10760-67 McLain BL, Evans J, Dear PR (1988) Comparison of capillary and attential blood gas measurements in neonates. Arch Dis Child 63: 2520-2527
- 10 743-747
- Navalesi P, Longhini F (2015) Neurally adjusted ventilatory assist. 11. Curr Opin Crit Care 21:58-64
- 12 Shetty S, Bhat P, Hickey A, Peacock JL, Milner AD, Greenough A (2016) Proportional assist versus assist control ventilation in pre-mature infants. Eur J Pediatr 175:57-61
- Stein H, Alosh H, Ethington P, White DB (2013) Prospective cross-13. over comparison between NAVA and pressure control ventilation in premature neonates less than 1500 grams. J Perinatol 33:452-456

guide function on the ventilator (Magnet Servo-n User Manual Version 1.1). The guide function displays the retrocardiac echocardiograph. Correct positioning was when the P waves and QRS complexes were visible in the uppermost leads and then decreased in size until the P waves disappeared in the lowest lead. Coloured highlighting of the central two leads appeared once the catheter was in the correct place. Once correct positioning was confirmed, the catheter was securely attached to the infant's face using an adhesive dressing. After 1 h of stabilisation on the Servo-n ventilator using the settings described above, blood gas analysis was performed. Infants were then randomised to receive either ACV or NAVA first for 1 h and then to receive the alternative mode for a subsequent hour. The order in which the infants received the two modes was randomised between each baby using a sequential opaque sealed envelope system. Before the infant was changed to NAVA mode, the NAVA level was adjusted so that the displayed pressure waveform on NAVA dosely matched the actual pressure waveform on the baseline settings, aiming for the peak Edi to be between 5 and 15 µVas per the recommendations of the manufacturer. The baseline ventilator settings were used to determine the backup settings to be used on NAVA in the absence of an Edi signal.

The initial ventilator settings were noted, and the number and duration of desaturations (defined as oxygen saturation less than 88%) were noted on each ventilator mode. The FiO₂ was adjusted with the aim of maintaining oxygen satuations between 92 and 96%. At the end of each hour, capillary blood gas analysis was performed and the oxygenation index (OI) calculated as the inspired oxygen concentration (FiO₂) x mean airway pressure (MAP) × 100/pO₂. The FiO₂, the PIP, MAP, tidal volume and respiratory system compliance (calculated from the tidal volume divided by the PIP) were recorded from the ventilator displays and averaged from the last 5 min of each 1-h period. The data were down-loaded into excel via a USB stick.

Sample size

The planned sample size was 18 infinits, as this would allow detection of a difference in oxygenation index between the two modes of one standard deviation, with 80% power and 5% significance. An interim analysis was planned to take place half way through, i.e. after nine patients, as our stadies with proportional assist ventilation (PAV), a ventilation mode which also provides tailored support throughout the infant's inspiratory cycle, demonstrated the OI on PAV was better in all patients than on ACV [2, 12]. In order to preserve the type I error at 5%, the interim analysis was conducted at 0.01 with the final analysis conducted using 0.04. This gave an overall type 1 error rate (significance level) of 5% [(1-0.01) × (1-0.04) = 0.95 = 1-0.05]. If the interim analysis showed p < 0.01, then the trial was to stop and the final analyses conducted using the nine patients treated to that point.

Analysis

The results were positively skewed and, therefore, logtransformed for analysis so that a paired t test could be used. Using that method, the results including the mean and confidence intervals are on the ratio scale [3]. Results were back-transformed to give geometric means for each mode of ventilation. The ratio of geometric means and the corresponding 95% confidence intervals for the ratio are presented. The ratio of the geometric means can be interpreted as the percentage difference between a result on NAVA compared to on ACV. The desaturation data were discrete and analysed using the Wikoxon signed-rank test. Data were analysed using Stata v 14.

Results

At the interim analysis, the comparison of the OI on NAVA versus ACV was statistically significant using the modified cut-off for significance described above. The OI was lower on NAVA for all infants (Table 1). Hence, the clinical and statistics team agreed that the trial be stopped at that point and the data analysed.

Nine infants had been assessed, seven males and two females. Their median gestational age was 25 (range 22–27) weeks and median birthweight 750 (range 545–830) grammes. The infants were studied at a median postnatal age of 20 (range 8–84) days. All had received at least one dose of antenatal steroids and postnatal surfactant and were on caffeine at the time of the study. Only one infant was receiving sedation and this was at the same dose throughout the study. Five of the infants were studied first on NAVA and four on ACV. There was no suggestion that the size of difference in OI was greater with order (i.e. with either ACV then NAVA or

Table 1	Individu	ual baæ in	e PIP an	dFiO ₂	at the start	of the	study and
individual	OI data	at the end	ofeach	mode.	The mode	which	was used
first in cac	h in Set	is given in	the fifth	colum	n		

IP (cm H ₂ O)	FiO ₂	ACV	NAVA	Mode first
7	1	30.3	17.4	ACV
6	0.44	92	8	N AVA
8	0.63	7.6	5.7	N AVA
8	0.27	6.7	4.6	ACV
4	0.87	26.8	16.0	ACV
9	0.41	7.4	6.6	N AVA
9	0.7	24.1	13.4	N AVA
8	0.45	6.4	5.4	N AVA
3	0.4	5.7	4.5	ACV

🐑 Springer

	Mean ACV	Mean NAVA	Ratio of geometric means (NAVA/ACV)	95% confidence interval for ratio	P value
01	11.06 (5.7-30.3)	7.92 (4.7-17.4)	0.72	0.62-0.83	0.0007
Peak airwa y pressure (cmH2O)	20.13 (14.8-27.1)	16.72 (12.7-28.6)	0.83	0.72-0.96	0.017
Mean airway presure (cmH ₂ O)	10.53 (8.8-14.2)	9.20 (7.8-12.7)	0.87	0.81-0.94	0.004
RO ₂	0.45 (29.2-91.0)	0.36 (23-54.9)	0.81	(0.71-0.93)	0.007
Peak Edi (µV)	14.04 (6.1-47.0)	11.10 (7.4-22.0)	0.79	0.60-1.05	0.089
Expiratory tidal volume (ml/kg)	7.06 (5.1-8.6)	6.24(3.9-10)	0.88	0.76-1.02	0.87
Compliance (mk/cmHzOkg)	0.50 (0.30-0.68)	0.62(0.34-0.91)	1.24	1.09-1.41	0.005
Respiratory rate (breaths/min)	51.63 (40-65)	50.51 (38-67)	0.98	0.89-1.08	0.616
Oxygen saturation (%)	94.8 (90-98)	97.9 (95-100)	1.03	1.01 = 1.05	0.016
Desatura tions* (n)	3 (0-12)	1 (0-5)	N/A	N/A	0.70

*Medians presented as the data were discrete and assessed using the Wilcoxon signed-mark test hence, the ratio and 95% CI were not available

NAVA then ACV). Neither was there any suggestion that the order (by chance) was related to the size of value, i.e. no suggestion that all those with a high starting OI received the modulities in the same order (p = 0.66).

The ratio of the geometric means for the OI, the primary outcome, was 0.72 (NAVA/ACV), showing that the mean OI was 28% lower on NAVA compared to ACV with corresponding 95% CIs from 62 to 83% (Table 1). Infants who had the highest OIs on ACV tended to have a larger reduction in OI when studied on NAVA (Table 1). The mean PIP (p = 0.017) and mean MAP (p = 0.004) were significantly lower on NAVA, as was the mean FiO₂ (p = 0.007). The mean compliance (p = 0.005) and oxygen saturation (p = 0.016) were significantly higher on NAVA. The means for the tidal volume, respiratory rate and peak Edi and the number of desaturations were not significantly different between the two modes (Table 2).

Discussion

We have demonstrated that in infants born very prematurely and with evolving or established BPD, NAVA compared to ACV resulted in a significantly lower oxygenation index. This was associated with significantly lower PIPs and MAPs, likely reflecting that during NAVA the applied pressure is servocontrolled throughout each inflation. On ACV, although inflation is triggered by the beginning of the infant's inspiratory effort, the start of inflation may have been delayed as a flow trigger was used. Furthermore, after the inflation is triggered during ACV, neither the inflation pressure nor time is tailored to the infant's inspiratory efforts. The higher compliance on NAVA compared to ACV reflects the lower PIPs with similar tidal volumes. A higher compliance on NAVA has been proviously reported in neonatal and paediatric patients [1, 5, 6]. Our results suggest that infants with the highest OIs, i.e. the most severe lung disease, had the greatest reduction in OI

Springer

during NAVA. This may reflect, as above, the shorter trigger delay on NAVA which means more of the infant's breath is pressure supported.

Eur J Pediate

There are strengths and some limitations to our study. As the same ventilator was used for each mode, the significant differences demonstrated are due to the differences in the modes, rather than differences in the ventilator performance. Although infants were only studied for an hour on each mode, we have demonstrated significant differences between the two modes. The infants included had a wide range of severity of respiratory disease as suggested by their PIP and FiO2, yet we saw a positive effect of NAVA in all infants. The infants had also had a wide range of postnatal ages, but we have shown in an audit of 100 consecutive prematurely born infants, 95% of those who remained ventilator dependent at 1 week developed BPD. Thus, we feel our results demonstrate that compared to ACV, NAVA use was associated with superior results in infants with evolving or established BPD. We used capillary blood samples to calculate the OIs. We used this method at the end of each of the two periods in all infants, thus the use of capillary blood sampling did not bias our results. The infants were all clinically stable when assessed and none were seriously ill, had shock, hypotension or peripheral vasoconstriction at the time of assessment [10]. Thus, we feel it was appropriate to calculate the OIs from the capillary blood samples. Only one infant was receiving sedation and this was at the same dose throughout the study, so this did not influence the results. We used a crossover design as this removes the variability between patients by looking at effects within them. As we have demonstrated no order effect, the design gives more precision. We stopped the trial at the planned interim analysis as in all infants the OI was lower on NAVA. We did not demonstrate a significant difference in the peak Edi between the two modes, although there was a trend for it to be lower on NAVA. This may have been due to insufficient redistribution of work from the patient to the ventilator, as the NAVA level was only adjusted so that the estimated pressure

Downloaded from http://fn.bmj.com/ on October 3, 2016 - Published by group.bmj.com

LETTER

Changes in the use of humidified high flow nasal cannula oxygen

Hamilta GAygen Humilti GAygen (HHPNC) has gained populatity in neo-natal care. A systematic review¹ of the msuks of nine trials, which included a total of 1112 infants, however, demon-trated that HHPNC was not superior to other modes of non-invasive ventilation in infants of >28 weeks greational age. We, therefore, sought to determine whether clinical practice regarding HHPNC had changed since 2012 when al UK units were surveyed¹ and also to identify why practitioners preferred HHPNC or con-tinuous positive sirway persure (CRAP). In 2015, lead clinicians of all 194 UK normatal units were identified from the

in 2013, itsia conceans or all 194 OK neonatal units were identified from the National Neonatal Audit Programme, British Association of Perinatal Medicine Bersh Autocation of Hennaud Medicine directory and a departmental database from previous aulits. In 2012, practitionen from the then 203 UK monstal units had been contacted.² Both surveys included quotions on the level of neonatal care, the indicaon the level of nonziral care, the indica-tions for use of HHRNC and the flow mass used. The 2015 survey also constained qua-tions regarding mass provide the second pro-policies and HHFNC or CPAP performer (practitiones were given a list of possible reasons to choose from). There was 100% response rate to both surveys. Use of HHFNC was significantly increased in 2015 compared with 2012 (pc-0.001) (pable 1). Atmos all local neo-maal and neomatal intensive care units were using HHFNC in 2015. Every units were using HHFNC in 2015. Forever units

were using HHFNC in 2015. Fewer units were using HHFNC as an alternative to CPM or waring from CFM (p=0.001), but a greater proportion were using it as the primary support mode post extubation (p=0.001). The 2015 survey highlighted that in 25% of units, the proog size was chosen to fit snugly and occlude the mostri, whereas it is recommended that the fit should be <50% of the nates.³ Thirty-size cent of units were using HHFNC without guidelines. The highest and lowest flow rans used varied in both survey, but the maminked of channe of and lowce flow rates used varied in both surveys, but the magnitude of change of the motor and the two surveys. This significantly in the two surveys. In the two surveys are surveys to the two surveys. In the 2015 survey, weaking the flow in increments of between 0.5 and 1 L/min and 24 hourly was more construst. This likely mellectist hat there is currently no evidence the two particular, almost all the constructions and 24 hourly was more construction. The majority of practitioners patients and the cost of popular, but there was no consensus. This likely mellectist hat there is currently no evidence the two particular, almost all the cost of the majority of the majority of the more construction. The majority of practitioners patients are as the structure of the more construction of the more construction. The majority of practicioners patients are as more construction of the more con

	2012	2015	p Valu
ernc			
Total number of units	203	1946	
Using HH/INC	113 (56%)	169 (67%)	<0.001
Unit I wel			
Special care unit	12/52 (23%)	22/02 (52%)	0.003
Local repraibl unit	(D/S2 (\$4%)	8468 (93%)	<0.001
Neoratal Intensive care unit	41/38 (70%)	6364 (98%)	<0.001
Date are subsequently displayed only for units using HMINC			
ndication of use			
Alternative to CRV/wearing from CRVP	(E (58%)	65 (18%)	0.001
Primary mode of respiratory support post estudation	47 (82%)	104 (52%)	0.001
lighest flow all			
1	35 (12%)	78 (86%)	0.011
7	12 (11%)	6 (876)	0.017
6	38 (14%)	77 (86%)	0.000
5	27 (23%)	8 (87Q)	<0.001
izvent flow rate			
4	11 (10%)	18 (11%)	0.485
3	40 (05%)	40 (24%)	0.023
2	(60%)	97 (57%)	0.003
1	17 (15%)	14 (0%)	0.08
ize of change in flaw when wearing (Umin)			
0.5	30 (27%)	51 (00%)	0.301
1	35 (14%)	58 (05%)	0.504
05-1	@ (80%)	60 (06%)	0.271
ine between changes in flow rates			
24 hoursy		79 (87%)	
24-48 hearty		21 (12%)	
48 budy		17 (10%)	
Depends on the infant's condition		52 (01%)	
ton in			
Snug fit to occlude the natril		42 (05%)	
Frong size selected to allow air leak		127 (75%)	
a did instruction			

	(DAP	HHFNE	p Value
Which is better	10 (11%)	109 (\$4%)	<0.001
letter access to the infant	1 (1%)	145 (06%)	<0.001
Dasier to set up	13 (0%)	138 (02%)	<0.001
Better access for skin to skin case	0 (0%)	162 (96%)	<0.001
Quicker to achieve full bottle feeding	0 (0%)	105 (56%)	<0.001
Quicker to achieve full beaut fixeding	0 (0%)	165 (99%)	<0.001
Les naué trauma	0 (0%)	162 (96%)	<0.001
Non- confortable for the infant	1 (1%)	165 (96%)	<0.001
Rental petrence	0 (0%)	102 (96%)	<0.001

Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal El July 2016 Vol 101 No 4

RCP H F371

. Cashed

BMJ

Downloaded from http://fn.bmj.com/ on October 3, 2016 - Published by group.bmj.com

PostScript

Sandeep Shetty,^{1,2} Adesh Sundaresan,¹ Katie Hunt,² Prakash Desai,³ Anne Greenough^{12,4}

Anne Greenough **** ¹Division of Asthma, Mergy and Lung Biology, MRC and Asthma UK Centre in Alergic Mechanisms of Asthma, Mind's College London, London, UK ²Department of Child Health, Neonstal Intensive Care Centre, King's College Hospital, London, UK ³Neonstal Intensive Care Link, Chekes and Westminister Hospital, London, UK ⁴NIR Biometical Centre at Gay's and St Thomas NHS Supportion Trade Mink Cheke Landon, LM

Foundation Trust and King's College London, London, UK

Correspondence to Profesor Ame Gremough, NICU, 4th Roor Golden Jublee Wing, King's Callege Hospital, Denmark Hill, London SES 985, UK; anne greenough@kcl.ac.uk

Contributors AG and SS designed the study SS, AS and KH collected the data for 2015 survey. SS and PD collected data for the 2012 survey. All the authors were involved in the production of the final momentum manuscript.

Hochwaid D, Osovich H, High Tow read cannuls in Institute for Health Rusearch Biomedical Research Institute for Health Rusearch Biomedical Rusearch Institute for Health Rusearch Ins

Competing interests None declared.

Provenance and peer review Not commissioned; internally peer reviewed.



To cite Shetty S, Sundaresan A, Hunt K, et al. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neoretal Ed 2016;101:F371-F372.

Accepted 24 April 2016 Aubiched Online First 12 May 2016 Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2016;101:F371– F372. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2016-310497

REFERENCES

REFERENCES
 Koteha SL, Adappa R, Gupta N, et al. Safety and efficacy of high-flow nasal camula therapy in preterm infants: a meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*. 2015;18:6524–53.
 Desa P, Shethy S, Singh N, et al. Current practice regarding the use of Humidfield high flow nasal camulae (HeRNC) in UK non-natal units. *Ach DE CHH* 2012;97:31116.
 Hochwald O, Oslovich H, High flow nasal camulae in experimental camulae in extention.

Work of breathing during CPAP and heated humidified high-flow nasal cannula

Sandeep Shetty, ^{1,2} Ann Hickey, ¹ Gerrard F Rafferty, ² Janet L Peacock, ^{3,4} Anne Greenough^{2,4}

"Neonatal Intensive Care Cantre, King's College Hesphal, London, UK "Division of Asthma, Allengy and Lung Biology, MRC Centre for Allergic Mechanisms in Asthma, King's College London, London, UK "Division of Heath and Sodal Care Research, King's College London, London, UK "NHR Biomedical Research Centre at Gay's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London, London, UK ABSTRACT

Correspondence to Professor Anne Greenough, Neonatal Intersive Care Cantre, 4th Floor Golden Jubilee Wing, King's College Hospital, Denmark Hill, London SES 9RS, UK; annegreenough GK d.ac.uk

Received 7 July 2015 Revised 26 November 2015 Accepted 7 December 2015 Objective To determine whether continuous positive ainway pressure (CPAP) compared with heated humidified, high-flow nasal cannula (HHFNQ) in infants with evolving or established bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) reduced the work of breathing (WOB) and thora cobidominal asynchrony (TAA) and improved oxygen saturation (SaO₂). Design Randomised cossover study. Setting Tertiary neonatal unit.

Patients 20 infants (median gestational age of 27.6 weeks (range 24.6–31.9 weeks)) were studied at a median postnatal age of 30.9 weeks (range 28.1– 39.1 weeks).

Interventions Infants were studied on 2 consecutive days. On the first study day, they were randomised to either CPAP or HHFNC each for 2 h, the order being reversed on the second day.

Main outcome measures The WOB was assessed by measuring the pressure time product of the diaphragm (PTPd), PTPdi, TAA and SaO₂ were assessed during the final 5 min of each 2 h period and the results on the two study days were meaned.

Results There were no significant differences in the results on CPAP versus HHFNC: mean PTPdI 226 (range 126-294) versus 224 cm H₂O/simin (95% Cl for difference: -27 to 22; p=0.85) (range 170-318) (p=0.82), mean TAA 13.4° (range 4.51°-23.32″) versus 14.01° (range 4.25°-23.88″) (95% Cl for difference: -3.9 to 2.8: p=0.73) (p=0.63) and mean SaO₂ 95% Cl for difference -1.8 to 0.5; p=0.25) (p=0.45). Conclusion In infants with evolving or established BPD, CPAP compared with HHFNC offered no significant advantage with regard to the WO8, degree of asynchrony or oxygen saturation.

INTRODUCTION

Heated and humidified gas delivered at flow rates between 2 and 8 L/min via nasal cannulae (humidified, high-flow nasal cannula (HHFNC) is increaingly being used as an alternative to continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP). About 63% of Australian/New Zealand units were reported to be using HHFNC in 2010¹ and a survey of 57 level 2 or level 3 UK neonatal units in 2013 highlighted that HHFNC is used in 77% of units.² This is despite the distending pressure delivered by HHFNC being dependent on prong size, nasal prong-to-nares ratio, flow rate and whether the infant's mouth is open.³ ⁴ In addition, it has been reported that even when flows of up to 61/min were used during HHFNC, pressures over 5 cm Shetty S, et al. Ach De Chilf Fetal Neonatal Ed 2016;0:F1-F4. doi:10.1136/artidschild-2015-309310

What is already known on this topic

- Humidified, high flow nasal cannula (HHFNC) is increasingly being used as an alternative to nasal continuous positive airway pressure (nCPAP).
- The distending pressure during HHPNC is dependent on prong size, nasal prong to nares ratio, flow rate and whether the infant's mouth is open.
- Studies comparing the work of breathing (WOB) on HHFNC or nCPAP have given conflicting results.

What this study adds

- In infants with evolving or established bronchopulmonary dysplasia, we have compared WOB on HHRNC and CPAP.
- In this randomised crossover trial we demonstrated no significant differences in the WOB between the two modes.
- In addition, we highlight that there were no significant differences in the degree of asynchrony or oxygen saturation levels.

H2O were rarely achieved.5 A lower distending pressure would seem likely to result in an increase in the work of breathing (WOB); however, three studies in which the infant's WOB during HHFNC and CPAP was compared have given conflicting results.5-7 In a crossover study of 18 preterm infants with a birthweight of less than 2.0 kg who had mild respiratory illness, no significant difference was found in the WOB when the infants were supported by 6 cm H₂O CPAP or HHFNC delivered at 3, 4 and 5 L/min.6 The infants, however, had a diverse range of postnatal ages 1-67 days and a variety of diagnoses including mild respiratory distress syndrome (RDS), bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) or apnoea of prematurity. In a subsequent study of 20 infants with moderate respiratory distress (fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₃) between 21% and 32%), the WOB was higher during HHFNC (delivered at 3 or 5 L/min) than on CPAP (5-6 cm H2O).7 In addition, the degree of asynchrony as assessed by the phase angle measured by respiratory inductance plethysmography (RIP) and the laboured breathing index was greater

RCPEH F1

To citte: Shetty S, Hickey A, Raferty GF, et al. Anch Dis Child Reta/Neonatal Ed Published Online First: [pinase include Day Month Year] doi:10.1136/ anthdischild-2015-309310

RMI

203

Original article

during HHFNC.⁷ In a third study of 20 infants with mild or moderate RDS less than 96 h old, no significant differences were found in the WOB and lung mechanics during periods of support on nasal CPAP (nCPAP) (2, 4 cm H₂O) and HHFNC (2, 4 L/min).⁵

Respiratory management of infants with evolving or established BPD is particularly challenging. Whether CPAP or HIHPNC provides more effective respiratory support has not been assessed specifically in such a population. The aim of this study, then, was to determine whether CPAP compared with HIHPNC reduced the WOB and thoracoabdominal asynchrony (TAA) and improved oxygen saturation (SaO₂) in infants with evolving or established BPD.

METHODS

Infants born at less than 32 weeks of gestation at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK, requiring CPAP and more than 40% of oxygen at or beyond 2 weeks of age were eligible for entry into this study between April 2014 and February 2015. Those infants with a postnatal age greater than 14 days but less than 28 days were diagnosed as having evolving BPD and those aged 28 days or older as established BPD. Infants whose parents gave informed written consent were entered into the study. The study was approved by the London —Westminster Research Ethics Committee and King's College Hospital Research Ethics Committee.

Infants were studied on 2 days for 2 h each on CPAP (SLE 2000, 5000 infant ventilator) and HHFNC (Fisher and Paykel using optiflow neonatal and infant nasal prongs). Infants were randomised on the first day to be first supported by either CPAP for 2 h and then by HHFNC for 2 h. On the second day, they received HHFNC and CPAP in the reverse order. The CPAP level was 6 cm H₂O and during HHFNC a flow rate of 8 L/min was used for infants with a weight more than 1 kg and 6 L/min for infants with a weight less than 1 kg. The flow levels were chosen after reviewing protocols from other units and discussion at our departmental guideline development meeting.

During the last 5 min of each 2 h period, physiological assessments were made. To assess the WOB, the transdiaphragmatic pressure time produce (PTPdi) was assessed. Oesophageal (Poes) and gastric (Pgas) pressures were measured using a dual pro transducer tipped catheter (Gaeltec, Dunvegan, Scotland, UK). Correct positioning of the catheter was indicated by a positive deflection in Pgas and a negative deflection in Poes. Pressure signals were amplified (CD 280, Validyne) and recorded on a computer (Dell Optiplex 170L) running Labchart software (N7.3.7 27, Powerlab 16SP, ADInstruments, Sydney, Australia) with analogue to digital sampling at 100 Hz (Powerlab 1652 ADInstruments, Sydney, Australia). Transdiaphragmatic pressure (Pdi) was calculated by the acquisition software using digital subtraction of Poes from Pgas. PTPdi was obtained from the area subtended by the Pdi trace during inspiration (figure 1). As respiratory flow was not measured directly, the beginning of inspiration was determined by the rise in Pdi and end of inspiration was determined from rib cage (RC) movement using uncalibrated RIP (Respitrace Model 10.92.30, Ambulatory Monitoring, New York, USA) in AC-coupled mode used to assess RC and abdomen (ABD) movement (figure 1). TAA was determined from 10 artefact-free breaths during the 5 min measurement period. For each breath, the RC and ABD movements were measured and a Lissajous figure was plotted (figure 2). Asynchrony between RC and ABD movements were quantified by determining the phase angle by comparing the difference between inspira-tory and expiratory abdominal positions at mid-RC excursion



Figure 1 Calculation of transdiaphragmatic pressure time produce during inspiration is shown. The shaded area represents the area subtended by the transdiaphragmatic pressure (Pdi) tace during inspiration. The beginning of inspiration was determined by the rise in Pdi and end of inspiration was determined from rib cage movement using uncalibrated respiratory inductance plethysmography.

(ABdiff) with the maximum abdominal excursion (ABmax). The phase angle φ was calculated as sin φ =AB diff/ABmax. PTPdi and TAA were assessed from the last 5 min of each 2 h period. During the study, respiratory rate, heart rate and oxygen saturation were continuously recorded (Intelli Vue MP70 Philips patient monitor) and averaged for the 2 h period. The results from the two study days were meaned.

Sample size

A sample size of 20 infants allowed detection between the two respiratory support modes of a difference in the results of the physiological assessments of 1.0 SD with 80% power with 5% significance.

Analysis

The data were tested for normality and found to have a normal distribution, hence a paired t-test was used to assess whether differences were statistically significant. Regression models were used to examine the effect of the order of modes of respiratory support (CPAP/HHPNC or HHFNC/CPAP). Since there was no evidence for any effect of the order or of the day, the measurements for each of the two respiratory support modes were averaged over the 2 days. The residuals from the regression model were checked for their fit to a normal distribution. Due to the relatively small sample size and the difficulty in ensuring a normal distribution, the analysis examining mode was also run using a rank test (Wilcoson matched pairs), which gave similar using a rank test (Wilcoson software (V22; IBM Corporation, USA) was used. Analyses were conducted using Stat (V12).

RESULTS

Parents of 30 eligible infants were approached and 20 agreed to recruitment. The infants who were recruited compared with those who were not did not differ significantly with regard to their gestational age (27 weeks (range 2.5-29 weeks) vs 28 weeks (range 2.5-32 weeks) (p=0.47)) or median birthweight (median 834 g (664-1020 g) vs 880 g (range 512-1500 g) (p=0.94)).

virginar article



Higher 2 Example of rotatised no cage (NL) and aboomen (VA) motion and X Y plot (Lissajous figure) used in determining phase angle is shown. In the example shown, the RC and ABD are 45° out of phase.

The 20 infants who were included in the study had a median gestational age of 27.6 weeks (range 24.6-31.9 weeks) and birthweight of 880 g (range 512-1500 g) (table 1) When studied they required a median FiO₂ of 0.42 (range 0.4-0.58). There were no significant differences in the results of any of the physiological measurements between the two groups (table 2).

Gestational age (weeks)	28 (2.4-32)
Birthweight (g)	888 (512-150
Anteniatal steroids	
Surfactanit	
Caffeine	
Post conceptional age (weeks) at assessment	31 (2.8–39)
Male (%)	11/20 (55%)
Ethnikity	
Caucasian	8 (40%)
Afro-Caribbean	5 (2.5%)
Asian	5 (2.5%)
Other	2 (10%)

Shetty S. et al. Arch Dis Child Fetal Ne onatal Ed 2016;0:F1-F4. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2015-309310

Table 2 Physiological assessment results by respiratory support

	(PAP	HHENC	p Valu
PTP on H ₂ Q/s/min	244 (126-294)	220 (169.5-318)	0.85
TAA (degrees)	12.6 (4.5-23.3)	13.1 (4.2-23.8)	0.73
Oxygenation Saturation (%)	95 (93-1 00)	96 (94-99)	0.48

DISCUSSION

We have demonstrated that in prematurely born infants with evolving or established BPD, there were no significant differences in the WOB, TAA or SaO₂ when the infants were supported by CPAP or HHFNC. We exclusively studied infants with evolving or established BPD, unlike previous studies.^{5–7} Interestingly, in the one study which did include infants with BPD, and other pathologies, no significant difference was found in the WOB between CPAP and HHFNC.⁶ We used higher flow rates during HHINC (8 Lµmin for infants with weights more than 1 kg) than employed in the previous studies.^{5–7} which may also explain our findings.

There have now been several randomised trials of HHFNC versus CPAP. In one study, 60 infants born at \geq 28 weeks gestational age stable on nCPAP (5 cm H₂O) for at least 24 h with an FiO2<0.30 were randomised to stay on nCPAP or be transferred to HHFNC at 2 L/min. The latter group required significantly more days of supplementary oxygen and total respiratory support.⁸ The 5 cm H₂O CPAP compared with 2 L/min of HHFNC may have resulted in the differences in the results. In a larger study of 132 infants all less than 32 weeks of gestational age, infants were randomised to HHFNC at 8 L/min or nCPAP at 7-8 cm H2O post extubation. Although a similar proportion failed extubation defined as intubation with 7 days, the nasal trauma score was significantly lower in the HHFNC group.⁹ In a study of 432 infants of gestational age between 28 and 42 weeks with planned nOPAP support (recommended starting pressure 5-6 cm H2O) either as a primary mode or post extuba tion, early failure and need for intubation was similar in the two groups.¹⁶ Infants randomised to HHFNC received an initial flow dependent on gestational age (3 L/min for those weighing 1000–1999 g; 4 L/min for those weighing 2000–2999 g and 5 L/min for those weighing $\geq\!3000$ g). The duration of the study mode was significantly longer on HHFNC (median 4 vs 2 days, p<0.01), but there were no significant differences between the groups in the duration of supplementary oxygen, rate of BPD or length of stay. Hence, the authors concluded that HHFNC appeared to have similar efficacy and safety to nCPAP when applied immediately post extubation or as initial, non-invasive support for respiratory dysfunction.¹⁰ Our results suggest that HHFNC using the flow rates we employed provides similar support as nCPAP in infants with evolving or established BPD.

Our study has a number of strengths and some limitations. We used a dual pressure tip transducer to assess the WOB as assessed by measurement of the PTPdi. Changes in Poes may not accurately reflect change in pleural pressures when chest wall distortion results in an uneven distribution of pleural pressure changes. In our study, there were no differences in the TAA between the two respiratory support modes and hence the comparison of the WOB results is valid. We used a crossover design, hence we cannot comment on long-term outcomes. Previous

Downloaded from http://fn.bmj.com/ on January 15, 2016 - Published by group.bmj.com

Original article

studies investigating the WOB were also of a crossover design⁵⁻⁷ but were of single crossover design and did not analyse the effect of the order in which the infants were studied on a particular respiratory mode. We studied infants on 2 successive days with the order of respiratory support studied being reversed on the subsequent day and then we meaned the results of 2 days, hence we feel our results are robust. It is possible that had the infants been exposed to longer periods of HHFNC and CPAP different results may have been obtained. Assessment of 10 very low birthweight infants in a crossover design study of 2 h on HHFNC (mean flow rate of 4.8 or 5.4 L/min) or CPAP (5 cm H2O) demonstrated greater diaphragmatic activity on HHFNC, thus suggesting that nCPAP was providing more effective respiratory support. Of note, however, there was no significant difference in the oxygen saturation levels between the two modes.¹¹ We used higher flow rates during HHFNC than in the previous study.¹¹ We recruited 20 of 30 eligible infants, but those recruited did not differ significantly with regard to gestational age or birthweight from those not recruited, hence we feel our results are generalisable.

In conclusion, we have demonstrated that CPAP did not provide superior respiratory support compared with HHFNC in infants with evolving or established BPD. Infants supported by HHPNC rather than nCPAP are reported to have less nasal trauma⁹ and are more accessible to parents and staff.² BPD infants are often intolerant of nCPAP and thus we suggest HHFNC to be an appropriate alternative.

Contributors AG and GFR designed the study. SS collected the data. JLP advised on the analysis. All authors were involved in production of the final manuscript.

Funding The research was supported by the National Institute for Health Research (NHR) Biomedical Research Centre based at Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London.

Competing interests AG has held grants from various ventilator manufacturers and has received honoraria for giving lectures and advising various ventilator manufacturers.

Ethics approval London-Westminster Research Ethics Committee and King's College Hospital Research Ethics Committee.

Provenance and peer review. Not commissioned; externally peer reviewed.

REFERENCES

- Kerniki I, Mageray J. What is the evidence for the use of high flow nacal cannula oxygen in adult patients admitted to critical care units? A systematic review. Avst Crit Care 2010;23:53-70.
- Cinit Land 2011 (25:35-70).
 Ojha S, Gridlay E, Dorling J. Use of heated humid filed high-flow nasal cannula oxygon in neonates: a UK wide survey. Acta Pandatr 20 13; 10:2:249-63.
 Sivier EM, Gerdes S, Abbad S. Effect of HFNC flow neto, cannula site, and nares diameter on generated airway pessares: an in vitro study. Parlatr Pulmon of 2013;48:356-74.
 Welferer G, Factoria E, Andre J, Standar J, Standar Z, Standar Z, Standar Z, Standar J, Stan
- 4
- 2013)#8:506-14. Wilkinson D., Andersan CC, Smith K, et al. Phayngeal presare with high-flow naai camulae in premature infants. J *Perintedl* 2008;28:42-7. Lavitzari A, Veneroni C, Colnaghi M, et al. Repiratory mechanics during NCPAP and HH-FINC. at equal detending presares. *Ach De Child Reta Neonatal Ed* 5 2014/99/B 15-20
- 2014 prints 15–20. 5 Saclow XS, Aghai ZH, Nakhla TA, et al. Work of breathing using high-flow resail canula in proteom infants. J Perinatel 2006;26:476–80. 7 de longh BE, Lecke R, Maddiey A, et al. Work of breathing indices in infants with
- bet ongrine to use of the second s 8
- 9 Control Constant of the second second
- 10 versus nasal CPAP for respiratoly support in neonates. Pediatrics 2013;131: e1482-90.
- Elevanov. Nacef N, El-Gouhary E, Schurr P, et al. High flow nasal cannulae are associated with instead dispinage activation compared with nasal continuous positive aitway pessure in peterm infants. Acta Paedarr 2015;104:x337–48. 11



1. Introduction

Chronic respiratory morbidity is a common outcome of very premature birth, particularly in those who had developed bronchopul monary

 Corresponding authorat: NICIJ, 4th Floor-Golden Jublies Wing, King's College Hospital, Denmark Hill, London, SE5 9K, United Kingdom. Te1: + 44 208 299 33037; fax: +44 208 299 38284.

E-mail addresses: sandeep. LshettyØkcLac.uk (S. Shetty), annegre enoughØkcLac.uk (A. Greenough).

¹ NIDJ, 4th Roor Golden Jubilee Wing King's College Hospital, Denmark Hill, London, SE5 985. Tel.: +44 208 299 33037; fax: +44 203 299 38284. dysplasia (BPD), chronic oxygen dependency beyond 28 days after birth BPD was initially described in infants who had severe lung disease, so-called old BPD. Affected infants usually required high inspired oxygen concentrations and intermittent positive pressure ventilation with high peak inflating pressures. It can, however, occur in very prematurely born infants who had minimal or even no initial respiratory distress, so-called new BPD. The latter has been suggested to be a maldevelopment sequence resulting from interruption/interference of the normal development signalling for terminal maturation [1]. Unfortunately, infants with BPD suffer chronic respiratory morbidity. They may require supplementary oxygen for many months,

S Shitty, A. Greenough / Early Human Development xxx (2014) xxx-xxx

al though few remain oxygen dependent beyond two years of age [2]. Hospital readmission is common, particularly for respiratory problems [3]. Troublesome respiratory symptoms requiring treatment can occur in childhood [4] and persist into adulthood [5]. Children and adults who had BPD have lung function abnormalities. In the first two years, they may have high altways existance, gas trapping and ventilation inhomogeneity. Lung growth and remodelling resultsin a progressive improvement in lung function, but airflow limitation persists [6], such that airway obstruction and impaired gas transfer is seen in adults who had BPD [7].

BPD has a multifactorial actiology, which includes volutrauma and oxygen toxicity. As a consequence, there has been much research in developing and optimizing new mechanical ventilation and nonimasive replicatory support techniques with the hope of reducing the occurrence of BPD and chronic respiratory morbidity. The aim of this review is, by examining the literature, to determine how successful the newer ventilator strategies have been in decreasing BPD and, more importantly, if their introduction has influenced long-term respiratory outcomes, it should also be noted that infants born at term and who required mechanical ventilation can also suffer chronic adverse effects [8]. Unfortunately, as this review will also highlight there have been few studies investigating respiratory support techniques in that population.

2. Noninvasive respiratory support

2.1. CPAP

An early meta-analysis of RCTs of prophylactic trials demonstrated no advantage in outcomes of prophylactic nCPAP [9]. Subsequently, there have been RCTs of differing design with differing results. The COIN trial [10] (early CPAP versus intubation and ventilation) demonstrated a significantly lower risk of death from need for supplementary oxygen at 28 days, but there was no significant difference in the need for supplementary oxygen at 36 weeks PMA and the CPAP group had a significantly higher incidence of pneumothorax. The SUPPORT trial (intubation and early surfactant versus early CPAP) [11] reported no differences in death or BPD and the CURPAP trial (prophylactic surfactant followed by CPAP versus early CPAP) reported no significant differences in the primary outcome of need for mechanical ventilation within five days. The Breathing Outcomes Study [12], a secondary study to SUPPORT, compared respiratory morbidities at six-month intervals from hospital discharge to 18–22 months corrected age (CA); infants randomized to CPAP had significantly fewer episodes of wheezing without a cold, respiratory illnesses diagnosed by a doctor, and physi-cian or emergency room visits for breathing problems. Further studies are required to determine the optimal technique for delivering nCPAP. It has been suggested that wearing from CPAP by reduction in time rather than pressure might increase the likelihood of BPD [13]. The Cochrane review of three trials [14] highlighted that one trial in which nCPAP was just stooped had shown a significant decrease in the duration of oxygen therapy and a decreased length of stay. Thats are re-quired to determine whether simply stopping nCPAP versus a reduction in pressure might influence long-term outcomes.

2.1.1. Nasal intermittent positive pressure ventilation

Non-randomized or short-term studies have demonstrated advantages of nasal intermittent positive-pressure ventilation (NIPPV) compared to nCPAP, A RCT [15] in which 1009 ELBW infants were enrolled, however, demonstrated no significant differences in death or survival with BPD between NIPPV and CPAP.

2.1.2. Heated, humidified, high-flow nasal cannula

Heated, humidified and high-flow n asal cannula (HHFNC) technique has become popular, as highlighted by 63% of units in Australia and New Zealand being reported to be using HHFNC in 2010 [16]. In addition, a survey of 57 level 2 or 3 neonatal units in the UK reported in 2013 that HHPNC was used in 77% of units [17]. In a multicentre trial of 303 infants less than 32 weeks of gestational age, however, infants randomized to HHPNC compared to those randomized to nCPAP did not differ significantly with regard to the primary outcome—treatment failue within seven days. There were no significant differences in the rates of death before discharge, need for oxygen supplementation at 36 weeks PMA pneumothorax, PDA requiring the atment, NEC, retinopathy of prematurity (ROP) or IVH [18]. In another randomized trial of 432 infants of 2816 42 weeks of gestational age, no significant difference was seen in early (<72 hours) extubation failure between infants on HHFNC (1038) compared to nCPAP (8.23) [19]. Infants remained on HHFNC longer than on nCPAP (median, 4 versus 2 days, p = 0.01). There were no significant differences with regard to days on supplemental lowygen (median, 10 versus 8 days) or the incidence of BPD (20X versus 163). There is insufficient evidence to support the mutine use of HHNC (for premature infants and further research is required [20].

2,2, Pressure-limited ventilation

Pressure-limited ventilation (PLV) remains a popular mode of ventilation (21,22). During intermittent positive pressure ventilation (IMV) or intermitten to positive pressure ventilation (IBV), or intermitten the positive pressure ventilation (IBV) are expiratory efforts. This can lead to asynchrony, active expiration and air leake [23]. Asynchrony and air leaks can be reduced by the administraleake [23]. Asynchrony and air leaks can be reduced by the administration of neuromuscular blocking agents [24], but then higher peak pressures are required and infants can become oedematous. An alternative approach to abolish asynchrony isto use fast ventilator rates (60–120/ min high-frequency positive pressure ventilation, HFPPN), which more closely reflects the infant's spontaneous respiratory rate; metaanalysis of the results of RCTs [25] show that HFPPV compared to slower rate PLV significantly reduces air leaks (RR,0.69);95% Cl, 0.51–0.93), but only in prenaturely born infants [9, 11].

2.3. Permissive hypercapnia

Permissive hypercaps ia, defined as partial pressure of blood carbon dioxide (pCO₂) of more than 7 kPa, may be routinely practiced in neonatal intensive care units in Rurope [26]. In a cross-sectional survey of 173 units, hypercaps ia was present in 31% of blood gases. Yet, systematic review of two randomized trials that enrolled 26 infants did not demonstrate any overall benefit of hypercarbia, with no significant reductions in death, BPD at 36 weeks PMA, IVH or PVL [27]. Indeed, one trial [28] was terminated prematurely as there were trends towards a higher mortality and incidence of neurodevelopmental impairment in the "minimal" ventilation arm in which the pCO₂ target was 55 to 65 mmHg compared to 35 and 45 mmHg and the combined outcome of mental impairment or death was significantly greater in the minimal ventilation arm.

2.4. Patient-triggered ventilation (PTV)

2.4.1. Assist control and synchronised intermittent ventilation

PTV was reintroduced into neonatal intensive care in the 1980s, initially as axist-control (AC, inflations are triggered by every spontaneous breath that exceeds the critical trigger threshold) and synchronised intermittent mandatory ventilation (SIMV, only the preset number of inflations are triggered regardless of the infant'ss pontaneous respiratory rate.). It was hoped that these ventilation modes would be morelikely to promote synchrony between the infant and ventilator inflations and hence reduce air leaks and bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD). Although improvements in oxygenation and reductions in asynchrony were demonstrated in physiological studies, meta-analysis of BCTs comparing AC/SIMV to FIV [25] demonstrated no significantid fferences in the rates of BPD, severe ICH, air leaks or mortality. The duration of

Please cite this article as: Shetty S, Greenough A, Neonatal ventilation strategies and long-term respiratory outcomes, Early Hum Dev (2014), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.earthum.dev.2014.08.020

ARTICLE IN PRESS

S. Sheity, A. Geomough / Early Human Development 30x (2014) 332-33

ventilation, however, was shorter (weighted mean difference, 34.8 hours) with AC/SIMV. There have been no studies that have adequately tested whether AC/SIMV improves long term outcomes. There have been two studies that have included term bom infants comparing SIMV to IMV, no significant differences in the duration of ventilation, need for reintubation or the rates of pneumothorax or mostality [13,14].

2.42 Pressure support

During pressue support ventilation (PSV), the infant's inspiratory efforts determine both the initiation and termination of ventilator inflation. Ventilator inflation is terminated when the infant's inspiratory flow declines to a predefined level, which varies according to the type of ventilator. A recent Cochanne review (6) analyzed available trials com paring PSV and time-cycled ventilation. Only two randomized trials were eligible for analysis in volving a total of 19 patients and addressing only short-term impact of PSV [1,7]. Notrials addressed the impact of PSV on rate of BPD or other long-term outcomes. PSV with SIMV compared to SIMV alone has been shown to be more effective in ELBW infants ventilated beyond the first week after birth in that it was associated with a smaller proportion of infants being ventilatordependent at 28 days, and in the sub-group with birth weights of 700–1000 g, a reduction in the duration of oxygen dependency [29]. The likely explanation for the success of PSV with SIMV versus SIMV alone is that, in the former ventilator strategy, all the infant's breaths are supported and this reduces their work of breathing [30], whether this affects long-term outcomes has not been assessed. There are few studies in term born infants and again only with short-term outcomes [31].

2.42.1. Proportional assist ventilation. During proportional assist ventilation (PAV), the applied pressure is servo-controlled throughout each spontaneous breakh, and the frequency, timing and rate of lung inflation are controlled by the patient. The applied pressure increases in proportion to the tidal volume and inspiratory flow generated by the patient, which can be enhanced to reduce the work of breakhing. There are, however, only limited data on the efficacy of PAV infants and only short-term results have been reported. In a andomized crossover comparison of PAV and PTV (ACV or SIMV), which included 22 ventilatory adjent infants with evolving BPD, gas exchang was successfully maintained at significantly lower mean and peak pressures on PAV, but with longer desaturations [32]. In another short-term, randomized crossover study [33], 12 infants with a median gestational age of 25 (24-26) weeks were studied at a median of 42 (8–86) days, PAV compared with ACV was associated with a 32 infantly reduced work of breathing at a bover roxycenation index (01).

2.422. Neurally adjusted ventilatory assist. During neurally adjusted ventilatory assist (NWA) is the electrical activity of the diaphragm (EdI) is used to trigger, set the amount of pressure delivered and cycle off the ventilator [34]. In a retrospective analysis of the results of 52 neonates converted to NWA from conventional ventilation, peak pressures and supplementary oxygen levels were lower during NAVA [20]. In older infants (mean age, 4.3 months), NAVA was also shown to improve patient-ventilator interaction [35]. In comparison to SIMV with PSV, amongst the 19 infants who completed a nine-hour protocol, the work of breathing was lower on NAVA and blood gases were main tained despite the use of lower peak pressure [36]; improvements in lung function have also been described [37], NAVA has also heen shown to be feasible in infants with a postero-lateral diaphragmatic defect [38]. These encouraging results should prompt RCB with clinically relevant long-term outcomes.

2.4.2.2.1. Volume-targeted ventilation (VTV). Excessive volume, even for a short period after birth, can compromiselung function [39]. Studies in an animal model have indicated that it is large volumes ather than large pressures that cause ventilator-induced lung injury (VIII) [40]. During volume-targeted ventilation (VTV), a constant volume set by the practitioner is delivered to the infant regardless of changes in the in fant's lung function and hence theoretically it should be possible to identify a volume-targeted level that is associated with the least chronic respiratory morbidity. The manufacturers use different mechanisms to achieve volume targeting and, as a consequence, there are differences in the airway pressure waveform, peak pressure and inflation time, and hence different mean airway pressure at apparently the same VT setting according to ventilator type [41], whether this influences long-term outcome has not been tested. Different names have been given to VTV and include volume limited, volume guaranteed, volume controlled or volume support ventilation. At least 18 randomized or quasi-randomized trials have been undertaken to compare VTV to pressure-limited ventilation in prematurely born infants and have been included in the most recent systematic reviews and metaanalyses [42]. This demonstrated that VTV modes were associated with a reduction in the incidence of BPD at 36 weeks PMA (RR, 0.65; 95% CL0.39 to 0.99; nine trials) and significant reductions in all IVH. grades 3–4 IVH, PVL, pneumothorax and hypocarbia. In addition, the d rations of mechanical ventilation (mean difference, 2 days; 95% CI, 0.86-3.14) and supplementary oxygen (1.68 days, 953Cl, 0.88 to 2.47) were shorter with VTV modes. There was, however, no significant reduction in mortality and no long-term outcomes were reported. Difficulties in generalizing these results are that different ventilators were used in the two arms in some of the trials and different volume targeting ventilators were used in the various trials (see above). In addition different levels of volume targeting were used and studies have shown that the VT level significantly affects the work of breathing both in infants with acute respiratory distress [43] and in the recovery stage [43]. Follow-up of 94 of 109 infants to two years of age has been performed from one of the RCTs [44] included in the meta-analysis. There were no significant differences in hospital readmission rates or frequency of respiratory illness between the two groups; however, fewer children in the VTV arm required treatment with inhaled steroids or bronchodilators (p = 0.04) [45]. In infants born at term, a VT level of 6 ml/kg was associated with a significantly lower work of breathing ventilation without volume targeting, whether this improved long m outcomes was not investigated [46].

2.5. High-frequency jet ventilator (HFJV)

During high-frequency jet ventilation (HFJV) brief pulses of gas at high pressures are delivered through a small hore injector cannula in a triple lumen endotracheal tube or via an adaptor attached to the proximal end of an endotracheal tube. Rates of 200-600 bpm are used and the high-velocity pulses of gas entrain humidified gas down the endotracheal tube. In a RCT, which included term-born infants, there were significant improvements in oxygenation in those supported with rescue HFJV. There were no significant differences in longer term outcomes, that is, duration of ventilation, oxygen ation or hospitalization, but the study was undernowered to test such outcomes [47].

2.6 High-frequency oscillatory ventilation

During high-frequency oscillatory ventilation (HROV) small tidal volumes are delivered at rapid rates, usually in the range of 10–15 Hz. There have been many RCTs assessing pupplylatic HROV, which commenced in the first 24 hours after birth. The meta-analysis in the Cochranedatabase [48] concluid ed that the use of HFOV resulted in asignificant, but modest reduction in the risk of BRD, but a meta-analysis of patient level data [49] did not show any advantage of HFOV over conventional ventilation with respect to short-term outcomes including BPD. There are problems in interpreting the data from the metaanalyses in that the trials were of very different design, different ventilators were used and some used a low volume strategy during HFD. In addition, different comparator ventilation techniques were used, so it is not clear whether positive results reflected the superiority of HROV.

Hease dite this article as: Shetty S, Greenough A, Neonatal ventilation strategies and long-term respiratory outcomes, Early Hum Dev (2014). http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2014.08.020

ARTICLE IN PRESS

S Shitty, A. Greenough / Early Human Development xax (2014) xxx-xxx

- Kapaoi M, Pujino Y, Kimme M, Catlin EA, Karmarek RM. Effort and work of broathing in neonates during assisted patient-triggered ventilation. Prediate Crit Gare Med in neonation 2001;2:9-16 [2]]0
 - 2001;2001;20-10. John smAR, Pranck JL, Gremough A, et al. High Inquency and Jatory ventilation for the provention of theorie lung disease of prematurity. N Engl J Med 2002;247: 633–62.
- os preventaria or circante fung diastase of promaturity. N Engl J Med 2002;547: 633-42.
 [3] Coultern JJ, Pathelogy of hemethopaleneous y dysplasia. Semin P or inated 2010;30: 773-44.
 [4] John AJ, The nave BPC an a rest of lang davelopment. Pathet Ben 1929;46:341-3.
 [5] Genema DA, Miltor AJ, Doold R, Pathet SK, Thome Database Ray 2008;1-5:2000486.
 [6] Schuld AS, Miltor AJ, Doold R, Pathet SK, Thome-yeded variation for meginatory support in newbrain infants. Cachasen Database Ray 2008;1-5:2000486.
 [7] De Luca D, Kultiko J, Pathet SK, Thome-yeded variation time-cycled synchro-thotowic militation for memorators. Cachasen Database Ray 2008;1-5:2000486.
 [7] De Luca D, Centi G, Pateta KJ, Mortlin M, Milwe-Cycled versus time-cycled strong time-traded with BIOS: a breath-t-a-breath randomized come-overtrial Arch Dis Child Feld Neonatal Ed 2008;44:99 --0.
 [8] Ramadan G, Patai IM, Morton M, Pataexk JJ, Gramma ghA, Outcome d vencilatin in-fants born at term without major comprising abnormalities. In: J Pediet 2012;171: 331-6.
 [9] Sada garantigar P. Bayelower, Bayelow T, Marine T, Marine M, Pataexer J, Jan M, Orton M, Pataexer J, Jan M, Darlon T, Milano T, Marine M, Pataexer M, Jan M, Andres M, Dia Child PM, Handrin J, Marine M, Pataexer J, Jan M, Andres M, Dia Child PH, Jan J, Jan M, Jan J, Jan M, Jan J, Jan M, Jan

- 331–6.
 [9] Substammian P, Henderson-Smart DJ, Davis PG. Prophylactic nasal continuous prohive airways prosare for preventing mobility and motality in very perterm infects. Cofer are Database Syst Rev 2005;3:100143.
 [10] Mori NG, Davis PG, Davis PG, Davis UW, et al. Nasal COV et instability and bit in for very perterm infants. N Engl J Med 2000;3:20:00–8.
 [11] Sup pot Saudy Gonay of the Unice Na mody Sir iver NCHD Neonatal Research Network. Early CVV versus suffactant in extremely perterm infants. N Engl J Med 2010; 3:20:00–8.
- Verek, Eady CPW versus surfactant in externinely preterm infants. N Engl J Med 2010; 362:1707–6.
 Stevern IP, Florer NN, Cach WA, et al. Registatory Oxforomo of the Staffactant Pretive Pressure and Oxformizing Readminist Tail (3207007). J Pelline's 2014. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeb.2014/02.094 [jpub dri and ed print].</u>
 So BC, Tomana M, Aldening J, Wasanbar T, Kannohita S. Application: of n ad continu-tions pretive airway pressure to analy eschabation in very low birthweight infants. Are this Collik Presi Anneal Id 1980;7:27191-3.
 Jankine LA, higlis COT, Davins NW. Strangias for the with deavail of neural continuous protitive airway pressure (NOMP) in pret or minfants, Cochan e Datab are Syst Rev 2011;2:CD000070.
 Singaland H, Millar D, Lemyne B, et al. A toid compaining non-invalve vanilation strategies in pretorm infants. Ning J Med 2013;202:011-20.
 Hong J, Shaamman AD, Lemyne B, et al. A toid compaining non-invalve vanilation receptore in a Australian maximum, a survey. J Part like: Child Health 2012; data: ciprent and the Australian maximum, a survey. J Part like: Child Health 2012; data: ciprent strate in a Australian maximum, a survey. J Part like: Child Health 2012; data: ciprent strate in a Australian maximum, a survey. J Part like: Child Health 2012; data: ciprent strate in a Australian maximum, a survey. J Part like: Child Health 2012; data: ciprent strate in a Australian maximum, a survey. J Part like: Child Health 2012; data: ciprent strate in the Australian maximum and a survey. J Part like: Child Health 2013; data and receptor in in protectors at UK works answey. Area Particle 2013; data and receptor in mometers at UK works answey. Area Particle 2013; data and receptor in mometers at UK works answey. Area Particle 2013; data and receptor in strates in Australian maximum and an and as in very preterm

- Lase: current practice in Australian massering, a survey, J Parlistic Child Holdt. 2012; 418:106–13.
 [117] Ojha S, Goldiny R, Dorling J, Dar of hearted humidified high-flow nanal currents in memoties: a UW wide survey. Acta Parelistic 2012;02:249–25.
 [118] Manley B, Owen LS, Doyle DV, et al. High-flow mand currents in very proterm minima internetination. Neight Mod 2013;202:142–33.
 [119] Yuder B, Stockland R, Li M, Ning J, Darobryre D, Abhavi S. Hoated, humidified high-flow mand currents are non-control 10:2309:1425–33.
 [120] Shuty S, Gennough A, Roviewilinsh insufficient evidence to support the matine use of Pheaten(humidified high-flow mand currents are non-control 10:290:1425–33.
 [121] Shuty S, Gennough A, Roviewilinsh insufficient evidence to support the matine use of Pheaten(humidified high-flow mand currents are in mematers. Acta Pardistr 2013; 13:144 402–90.
 [121] Shuty S, Gennough A, Roviewilinsh insufficient evidence to support the matine use of Pheaten(humidified high-flow mand currents are a state wide survey. Acta Pardistr 2014; [Eputh aband of print].
 [221] Shuty S, Gennough A, Sarvey of non-tatal mapiratory support inturburgies. Acta Pardistr 2017;96:113–7.
 [232] Alan der M, Pittoniemi O, Saareke T, Anttike P, Pokka T, Kontikker T, Current turen dein pardiatr and non-tatal ventilitatry curre—a nation wide survey. Acta Pardistr 2013; 10:2123–8.
 [233] Generoggh A, Morley C, Davie J, Interaction of no chances are plantion with actificial weight and participal A. Morley AD, Jantenson AR, Bieney PP, Network Blay Genes, Incidence of Humidi 1032; 10:30269–73.
 [24] Generom gh A, Ganty AD, Dirintins G, Synchennined no chancial ventilation for re-plantary support in navborn infints. Cafrane Unidates 10:19; 19:21–29.
 [24] Wan Kaman AR, Die Jengen AD, Brinnenberger PP, Network Blay Genes, Incidence on follows. Achine AN: Participative payses and hyper-curriation in a curre an-entional Europatin evolutin

- const at birth to different PaCO2 targets during the fint seven days of the Nenotate 2006;90:218-25.
 [23] Reyn XZ, Claure N, Tasccher MK, et al. Randomised cast tolled trial comparing chronical intermitiant mandatory writilation and synchronizad intermitiant datary ventilation plus preasure support in preterm infants. Pediatrics 200 1409-17.
- Maza-17.
 Patori DS, Raffirty GP, Lon S, Harmann S, Grennzagh A, War Koll Insuthing charing SBAY with and without pressure support. Arch Dis Child 2000;54:454-6.
 Chowdhary O, Raffirty GP, Lon S, Hannam S, Milmer AD, Genen caph A. Volume targeted within in in information born at one near terms. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatali tol 2012;97:2294-6.
 Schular A, Biogen-Pacheldey E, Gerhard ET, Guare N, Eveneti R, Bancafari R, Random-inad creasure comparison of proportional assist ventilation and patient-reggered wen failednin incotexney lytow bith weight infan's with working dressic lange disease. Neonatology 2007;52:1-7.

Please cite this article as: Shetty S, Greenough A, Neonatal ventilation strategies and long-term respiratory outcomes, Early Hum Dev (2014), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev2014.08.020

fants born prior to 29 weeks of gestation from 25 centres, were ran-domized uniquely within an hour of birth to HFOV or conventional ventilation [50]; no significant differences in short-term outcomes were demonstrated. There were also no signific ant differences in lung function results at one year of age [51], but the results were only from a subset who lived close to the London centre and small airway function was only assessed by measurement of gas trapping. In retrospect, this was an important limitation, as a follow-up study [52] demonstrated was an important limitation, as a follow-up study [52] demonstrated that small already function, as assessed by maximal flow at function al residual capacity (V'max FRC) at 12 months corrected, was significantly better in BPD infants who had been supported by HROV rather than CMV. Those results [52] were not from a randomized trial, but suggested that HFOV might preserve small airway function. That hypoth proven by an assessment of 319 children entered into the UKOS when aged 11 to 14 years, which demonstrated significant differences in small airway function in favor of H FOV (z score for FEF75, -0.97 with

HEOV versus - 1.19 with conventional therapy). There were significant differences in favor of several other measures of respiratory fi nction including FEV1, forced vial capacity, peak expiratory flow, diffusing capacity and inpulse oscillometry. In addition, the HRVV group had sig-nificantly higher ratings from teachers in three of eight school subjects assessed

or the inferiority of the other technique; none of the trials used VTV for comparison. In the United Kingdom Oscillation Study (UKOS), 797 in-

2.6.1. Branchapulmonary dysplasia and prediction of long-term outcome BPD has been used as a surrogate for long-term outcome in neonatal ventilation RCTs, it has become increasingly apparent that this is inappropriate. In a RCT of placebo or vitamin A, asmall but significant reduction in BPD was demonstrated [35], but no benefits were demonstrated in respiratory outcomes at one year [36]. Furthermore, in a RCT of human superoxide dismutase, there was no reduction in the combined outcome of death or BPD at 36 weeks PMA, but a follow-up study demonstrated significant reductions in episodes of respiratory liness severe enough to require the use of respiratory medications and reductions in hospital admissions and emergency room visits in the highest risk infants [37].

Key guidelines

- CPAP should be used following extubation of prematurely born infants, but how CPAP should be stop ped needs further study. Volume-targeted ventilation may reduce BPD, VT levels of 6 ml/ig
- rather than lower levels reduce the work of breathing, but whether this influences long-term outcomes needs investigation

Research directions

- It is essential to determine whether significant differences in the re-sults of addiescents who had been entered in to UKOS are maintained after puberty, those results would inform neonatal ventilation
- All new ventilator strategies should be assessed in trials that are appropriately powered to assess long-term outcomes,

Acknowledgements

Competing interests: AC has held grants from various ventilator manufactures and received honoraria for giving lectures and advising various ventilator manufacturers. The research was supported by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Biomedical Research Centre based at Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London. The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health.

Funding: AC is an NIHR Senior Investigator.

ARTICLE IN PRESS

S. Shetty, A. Gromough / Early Human Development 30x (2014) xmc-xm

- 2084-8.
 [41] Sharma A, Canon ough A, Sarway of non-natal respiratory support strategies. Acta Paul der 2007;29:1115-7.
 [42] Josh VH, Bhata T, Rucate Jigh Fugarony jet versibilitien versan can ven timul verbla-tion in swere pathwaray dynfunction in perterm infants. Cachesen Database Syst Rev 2009;1:52000437.
 [43] PatelDS, Raffersty CP, Lee S, Hann am S, Geon ough A, Work of breaching and volume targeted werblation in respiratory distress. Arch Dis Child Petal Nematol E d 2010; 95:5443-6.

.

- Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment as (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment as (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment as (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment as (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment as (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment as (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment as (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment as (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment as (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment as (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment as (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment as (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment as (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment as (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment as (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment and (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment and (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment and (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment and (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment and (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment and (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment and (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment and (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment and (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment and (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment and (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment and (2014) arc-ast
 Shrit, A. Concogh / Endy HananDovignment and (2014) arc-ast
 Shri

Hease cite this article as: Shetty S, Greenough A, Neonatal ventilation strategies and long-term respiratory outcomes, Early Hum Dev (2014), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2014.08.020

Acta Rediatrica ISSN 0803-5253

REVIEW ARTICLE

Review finds insufficient evidence to support the routine use of heated, humidified high-flow nasal cannula use in neonates

S Shetty, A Greenough (anne.greenough@kd.ac.uk)

Division of Asthma, Allergy and Lung Biology, MRC & Asthma UK Centre in Allergic Mechanisms of Asthma, King's College London, London, UK





Keyword

Continuous positive airways pressure, Heated humidified high-flow nasal cannula, Neorates, Oxygen, Respiratory support

Correspondence

Pofestor Anne Greenough, NICU, 4th Floor Golden Jublee Wing, King's College Haspital, Denmark Hill, London SES 9RS, UK. Tel: +44 203 299 3037 | Re:: +44 203 299 8284 | Bmail: anne.greenough@kd.acuk

Receive d

18 February 2014; ravised 16 April 2014; accepted 15 May 2014. D01:10.1111/apa.12695

ABSTRACT

A literature review was carried out following concerns about the use of heated, humidified, high-flow nasal cannulae (HHFNC) in premature infants. Randomised trials following extubation showed that HHFNC was associated with similar or greater reintubation rates than nasal continuous positive airway pressure, but significantly better nasal trauma scores. Infections with Ralstonia bacteria were an issue.

Conclusion: There is insufficient evidence to support the routine use of HHFNC for premature infants and further research is required.

INTRODUCTION

During heated, humidified, high-flow nasal cannula (HHFNC), heated and humidified gas is delivered at highflow rates between 1-8 L/min via nasal cannulae. It has been suggested that HHFNC may be effective by eliminating the dead space (1), reducing the work of breathing (2), improving lung compliance at higher flow rates (2) and delivering some degree of continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) (1,3). There are, however, concerns about the unpredictability of the positive airway pressures generated (4-6) and the possibility of increased risk of infection, particularly due to Ralstonia spp. (7) and gram-negative organisms (8). Nevertheless, the technique has become popular, with 63% of units in Australia and New Zealand reportedly using HHFNC in 2010 (9). A survey of 214 neonatal units in the UK, with a 100% response rate, highlighted that 55% of units used high-flow oxygen therapy

57 level two or three neonatal units in the UK reported that HHFNC was used in 77% of units (11). The survey highlighted that HHFNC was used mainly as an alternative to, or weaning from, CPAP and following extubation, but many other uses were reported (11). HHFNC was penceived to be easier to use and allow greater access to the baby. It

Key notes

- A literature review was carried out following concerns about the use of heated, humidified, high-flow nasal cannulae (HHRNC) in premature infants.
- Randomised trials following extubation showed that HHFNC was associated with similar or greater reintubation rates than nasal continuous positive airway pressure, but significantly better nasal trauma scores.
- There is insufficient evidence to support the routine use of HHFNC for premature infants and further research is

was demonstrated, however, that 39% of units used HHFNC without policies. The authors of the survey concluded that the current use of HHFNC appeared to be without clear criteria and mostly based on individual preference and that there was an urgent need for research to evaluate its use in newborns. Our aim, therefore, was to critically review the literature to determine whether there was sufficient evidence to support the routine use of HHFNC in certain circumstances for prematurely born infants.

DELIVERY OF DISTENDING PRESSURE

The distending pressure delivered by HHFNC is dependent on prong size. There have been several attempts to produce a formula to calculate the pressure generation during HHFNC at different flow rates on the basis of infant weight, but inconsistent results have been produced (1,12). Airway pressure increases with the nasal prong to nares ratio (13). In an in vitro system (5), and in 18 infants (14), the pressure increased with increased flow (5). In 15 patients with respiratory distress syndrome (RDS), the presence of a leak as small as 30% reduced the pressure to <3 cm H₂O (5). Among infants with a postmenstrual age of between 29 and 44 weeks, and a birth weight (BW) of 835-3735 g, no pressure was generated when the infants' mouths were open, regardless of whether flow rates of up to 5 L/min were used (4). When the infants' mouths were closed, the oral cavity pressure was related to both flow rate and weight. For the subgroup of infants with birth weights ≤1500 g, there was a linear relationship between flow rate and oral cavity pressure (4). In a model, small, medium and large nares were simulated by holes drilled in a plastic fixture, which was connected to a lung simulator that simulated spontaneous breathing (15). Nasal cannulae were inserted in the nares of the model, ensuring that the occlusion of the nares did not exceed 50%. Flow was adjusted from 2 to 6 L/min in 1 L/min increments. Not surprisingly, the greatest effects on tidal volume (VT) and pressure change as flow was increased, occurred with the smallest cannula. Collins et al. (16) compared pharyngeal pressures using two commonly used HHFNC devices, the Fisher & Pavkel Healthcare HHFNC (Auckland, New Zealand) and the Vapotherm 2000 (Vapotherm Inc., Stevensville, MD, USA), in nine infants at flow rates of 2-8 L/min. There was no difference in pharyngeal pressures recorded between devices at flow rates of 2-6 L/min. At flow rates of 7 L/min, the Vapotherm delivered a mean pharyngeal pressure of 4.7, with a standard deviation (SD) of 2.2 cm H₂O, compared with a mean of 4.23 (SD 2.2) cm H2O by the Fisher & Paykel device (p = 0.04). At a flow of 8 L/min, the mean pharyngeal pressure via the Vapotherm was 4.9 (SD 2.2) cm H₂O, compared with 4.1 (SD 2.3) cm H₂O with the Fisher & Paykel device (p = 0.05). Whether such differences are clinically important remains to be determined, and further studies are required to assess the relationship between flow and pressure in a variety of patient groups.

WORK OF BREATHING (WOB)

In a crossover study (2), 18 infants with a birth weight <2 kg and a mean gestational age (GA) of 28 weeks were rando mised to 6 cm H2O nCPAP or HHFNC delivered at 3, 4 and 5 L/min. No significant differences in the work of breathing (WOB) on the two respiratory support modes were reported (2). In another study, (17) the WOB was compared in a crossover study involving 20 infants (mean GA 28 weeks and BW 1.5 kg) at two levels of nCPAP settings 5 and 6 cm H2O and two levels of HFNC settings 3 and 5 L/min (17). The WOB was assessed using respiratory inductive plethysmography (RIP). Infants on nCPAP had significant greater chest and abdomen synchrony on CPAP compared with HHFNC, but there was overlap of the confidence intervals; hence, the authors suggested the results were unlikely to be of clinical significance. The use of different devices to deliver CPAP complicates interpretation of the comparisons of the WOB of infants on HHFNC or nCPAP.

RESPIRATORY DISTRESS SYNDROME

No evidence of barotrauma, CPAP belly, nosocomial infection, nasal trauma, or nasal mucus plugging was found among 109 prematurely born neonates when the Vapotherm was used as the primary treatment for mild to moderate RDS or postextubation, rather than CPAP (18) (Table 1). Shoemaker et al. (8) performed a retrospective database review of 101 infants with RDS admitted to two regional referral centres over two eras. HHFNC usage increased in infants of all gestational ages and the use of NCPAP decreased (p = 0.001). The increased use of HHFNC was not associated with significant differences in death or bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD), but ventilator days per patient were decreased (19.4-9.9; p = 0.03). In addition, more infants born at <30 weeks of gestational age were intubated for failing early NCPAP, compared with early HHFNC (40-18%; p = 0.001), but there was no a priori sample size calculation. Nair et al. (19) reported the outcomes of 67 infants with RDS randomised in the first 6 h after birth to HHFNC or bubble CPAP. The trial was stopped prematurely because of the temporary recall of the Vapotherm 2000i oxygen delivery device (Vapotherm Inc.) related to reports of Ralstonia infections. Iranpour et al. (20) randomised 70 relatively mature, prematurely born infants (gestational age 30-35 weeks) with RDS to receive NCPAP of 6 cm H2O from birth or NCPAP for the first 24 h, then HHFNC. Flow rates during HHFNC were determined from the formula of Sreenan et al. (12). There were no significant differences between the groups with regard to short-term morbidities, but the nasal trauma score was significantly lower in the HHFNC arm (20).

WEANING FROM NCPAP

Sixty infants who were 28 weeks of gestation or more, and were stable on nCPAP at 5 cm H₂O with an inspired oxygen of <0.3 for at least 24 h, were randomised to either continue on nCPAP until they required no supplementary oxygen for

Reference	Study design	Comparison	Sample size	Patient characteristics	Result
Sun and Tero (18)	Observational HHRNC crossover	Vapotherm used as primary treatment for mild to moderate RDS or postextubation rather than CPNP	109	Prematurely born neonates of BW between 500 and 1500 g	No statistically significant evidence of barotrauma, CPAP belly, nosocomial infection, nasal trauma or nasal mucus plugging
Shoemaker (8)	Retrospective database review	HHFNC (n = 65) nCPAP (n = 36)	101	Era one: mean GA 28.1 weeks, mean BW 1050 g Era two: mean GA 27.6 weeks, mean BW 1017 g	No statistically significant difference in adverse outcomes following the introduction of HHRNC and lower days ventilated (9.9 versus 19.4) with HHRNC (0 = 0.03)
Nair (19)	RCT	HHFNC (5–6 L/min) versus 'bubble' nCPAP (5–6 cm H ₂ O)	67	HHFNC group; mean GA 32 weeks BW 1675 g nCPAP group: mean GA 31 weeks, BW 1493 g	Premature closure due to recall of HHRVC devices due to reports of Ratitonia infection Four infants in each group (approximately 12%) met predetermined failure citteria and were reintubated
hanpour (20)	RCT	nCPAP (n = 6 cm H ₂ O) from birth or CPAP for the first 24 h then HHRNC	70	HHFNC (mean GA 32.3 weeks BW 1820 g) nCPAP: (mean GA 32.5 weeks, BW 2210 g)	There were no significant differences in the occurrence of necrotising enterocolitis (NEC), patent dudus anteriosus (PDA), intraventricular haemorth age (IVH), chronic lung disease (ICLD), pneumothorax, pulmonay, haemorthage, apnoea, sepsis and duration of hospitalisation

24 h or nasal cannula oxygen at 2 L/min, described as highflow nasal cannula (21). During high-flow nasal cannula, the flow rate was maintained until no supplemental oxygen was required, then decreased by 0.5 L/min every 6 h to 0.5 L/min. The nCPAP group required less days in supplementary oxygen (median 14 versus 5 days; p = 0.001) and less total duration of respiratory support (18 versus 10.5 days; p = 0.03). Relatively low flow rates (2 L/min) were used and higher flow rates usually employed HHFNC might have resulted in a different outcome. In a recently reported, nonrandomised study, weaning from nCPAP by either low flow nasal cannula (<0.3 L/min) or HHFNC (initially 8 L/min) was compared. Use of HHFNC was associated with an approximately 50% reduction in the number of nCPAP days (median 13 versus 25 days), but no significant reduction in the total days of noninvasive respiratory support (37 versus 34 days, p = 0.1) (22).

EXTUBATION FAILURE

Comparison of prematurely born infants intubated for RDS extubated on to HHFNC to historical controls extubated on nCPAP revealed no significant differences in extubation failure rate, PDA, IVH, PVL and BPD (23) (Table 2).

In a multicentre trial, infants randomised to HHFNC compared with those randomised to nCPAP did not differ significantly with regard to the primary outcome, which was treatment failure within 7 days. If HHFNC failed, the infants could then be transferred to nCPAP and if nCPAP failed, infants were reintubated. Almost half of the infants not successfully supported by HHFNC were subsequently successfully treated with CPAP without reintubation. The incidence of nasal trauma was lower in the HHFNC group than in the CPAP group (p = 0.01). There were no significant differences in the rates of death before discharge, need for oxygen supplementation at 36 weeks of postmenstrual age (PMA), pneumothorax, patent ductus arteriosus (PDA), requiring treatment, necrotising enterocolitis (NEC), retinopathy of prematurity (ROP) or IVH (24).

In a randomised trial of 432 infants of 28-42 weeks of gestational age, no significant difference was seen in early (<72 h) extubation failure between infants on HHFNC (10.8%) compared with nCPAP (8.2%) (25). There was also no significant difference in the subsequent need for intubation or in adverse outcomes including air leak between the two groups. Infants remained on HHFNC longer than on nCPAP (median 4 versus 2 days, p = 0.01). There were no significant differences with regard to days on supplemental oxygen (median: 10 versus 8 days) or the incidence of BPD (20% versus 16%).

Collins et al. (26) randomly assigned 132 infants <32 weeks of gestational age to receive either HHFNC or nCPAP postextubation. The primary outcome of extubation failure in the subsequent 7 days was defined as at least one of

Reference	Study design	Comparison	Sample size	Eligibility and patient characteristics	Result
Holleman- Duray (23)	Historical comparison	HHFNC (4-6 L/min) (n = 65) versus nCPAP (8 cm H ₂ O) (n = 49)	114	GA 25-29 weeks HHENC group: mean GA 27.6 weeks, BW 1060 g n CPAP group: mean GA 31.0 weeks BW 1000 g	No significant differences in estubation failure rate, PDA, IWH, PM, BPD
Manley (24)	Multicentre RCT	HHFNC (5–8 L/min) (n = 152) versus nCPVP (5–8 cm H ₂ O) (n = 151)	303	GA < 32 weeks and receiving mechanical vertilation HHFNC mean GA 27.6 weeks, BW 1041 g nCPAP: mean GA 31.0 weeks BW 1044 g	Primary outcome: treatment failure (apnoea, increase in ROa, respiratory acidosis, urgent need for reintubuation) within 7 days did not differ significantly between the two groups (34.2% HHRNC, 25.8% nCPAP)
Yoder (25)	RCT	HHFNC (n = 212) versus nCPNP (n = 220)	432	HHENC group: mean GA 33.5 weeks, BW 2201 g nCPAP group: mean GA 33.2 weeks BW 2108 g	No significant difference in early (<72 hrs) estubation failure (HHFNC 10.8% and nCPAP 8.2%) (p = 0.344)
Colins (26)	RCT	HHFNC (8 L/min) (n = 67) vesus nCPAP (7–8 cm H ₂ O) (n = 65)	132	<32 weeks GA requiring mechanical ventilation and deemed ready to extubate HHFNC mean GA 27.9 weeks, BW 1105 g nCPAP: mean GA 27.6 weeks, BW 1105 g	Estubation failure in the first seven days occurred in 2.2% (HHENC) and 3.4% (nCRMP) [p = 0.14]. There was no significant difference in the number of infants reintubated in the first week (17% HHENC; 24% nCRMP) [p = 0.48]
Campbell (27)	RCT	HHFNC (unheated) mean flow rate 1.8 L/min (n = 20) versus nCPAP (5–6 cm H ₂ O) (n = 20)	40	HHRVC group: mean GA 27.4 weeks, BW 1008 g. nCPAP group: mean GA 27.6 weeks BW 925 g	More HENC infants required reintubation (60% versus 15%) (p = 0.003). The HHENC group required more supplementary oxygen and had more episodes of apnoea and bradycardia per day.

the following: apnoea (respiratory pause >20 sec), more than six episodes in 6 h or one requiring intermittent positive pressure ventilation, acidosis, pH<7.25 and arterial carbon dioxide levels >66 mmHg and more than a 15% sustained increase in the inspired oxygen concentration. No significant differences were found in the primary outcome or in the number of infants reintubated in the first week. The mean nasal trauma score, however, was lower in the HHFNC group (3.1 versus 7.4, p < 0.001). Among 40 infants with a mean gestational age of 27 weeks, who were randomised at extubation to receive either HHFNC or variable flow CPAP, 12 of the 20 infants randomised to HHFNC were reintubated, compared with only three of 20 on CPAP (p = 0.003) (27). In addition, those supported by HHFNC required more supplementary oxygen and had more episodes of apnoea and bradycardia per day (6 ± 8 versus 2 ± 3, p = 0.045). Digital photograph was used to score the nasal mucosa on days 1,7 and 30 following extubation, and no nasal damage was noted in either group (27).

Four studies, including three postextubation studies, were considered in a Cochrane review, which concluded that, postextubation, HHFNC may be associated with a higher rate of intubation than nCPAP. In addition, the review highlighted that there was insufficient evidence to establish the safety or efficacy of HHFNC as a form of respiratory support for prematurely born infants (28).

COMPARISON OF METHODS OF DELIVERING HHFNC

A randomised comparison (29) was made of two methods that deliver high-flow gas therapy by nasal cannula following extubation. Group one (n = 15) was supported on Vapotherms for the first 24 h after extubation and then received standard high-flow nasal cannula ($\geq 1 \ L/min$) for the next 24 h. Group two (n = 15) received standard high-flow therapy for the first 24 h and then Vapotherm for the next 24 h. At 24 and 48 h after extubation, a neonatologist unaware of which modality the patient had been receiving examined the infant's nasal mucosa and a research nurse, unaware of the modality, noted the respiratory rates and respiratory effort scores from the randomised study's bedside record. After 24 h, infants on Vapotherms had better nasal mucosa (2.7 \pm 1.2 versus 7.8 \pm 1.7, p < 0.0005) and lower respiratory effort (1.2 \pm 0.6 versus 2.0 \pm 0.9,
p < 0.05) scores. No patients failed extubation – required reintubation or rescue by the other mode – while on a Vapotherm, but seven failed while on high-flow. Of these, two were reintubated and five were transferred to a Vapotherm, p < 0.005. In another study, HHFNC was compared using the Fisher and Paykel and Vapotherm to prevent reintubation either within 72 h (primary outcome) or 7 days (secondary outcome) after extubation of prematurely born infants. Forty infants with a gestational age of between 26 and 29 weeks of gestational age were randomised, and no significant differences were found in the primary or secondary outcome (30).

ADVERSE EVENTS

Nasal trauma has been reported to be less problematic with HHFNC than CPAP (20,26,29). In a recent study, a nasal trauma score for prematurely born infants receiving noninvasive respiratory support was devised and used to compare the incidence of nasal trauma in a subset of infants, born before 32 weeks of gestation, who had been entered into a randomised trial comparing nCPAP and HHFNC (26). Use of HHFNC was associated with significantly lower nasal trauma scores than nCPAP, and the difference was particularly marked in infants born <28 weeks of gestation (31). A randomised, crossover comparison of 24 h of treatment with nCPAP or HHFNC, followed by 24 h of the alternative therapy in infants with mild respiratory illness, demonstrated that parents preferred HHFNC, but highlighted no significant differences in a patient comfort score (32).

In 2005, six patients aged between 21 days and 8 years, who were supported by HHFNC in a healthcare facility in Pennsylvania, were reported to have Ralstonia species (gram-negative bacilli) (7). Surveillance then identified 10 hospitals where Ralstonia species were recovered from clinical specimens and/or Vapotherm devices. Four of the 10 hospitals cultured the organisms from the Vapotherm systems and reusable filter cartridges after they had been disinfected according to the manufacturer's previously recommended reprocessing protocol. A total of 18 paediatric patients with positive Ralstonia respiratory or blood cultures were reported from five hospitals in five states in the United States, including 17 who had been supported by a Vapotherm system. In response, Vapotherm developed new infection guidelines, including that the machines should be reprocessed after each patient and that the delivery circuit should be cleared using sterilisation rather than tap water.

The noise generated by two HHFNC devices (Fisher & Paykel NHF[™]; Vapotherm Precision Flow[®]) using flows of 4-8 L/min and a CPAP device (Dräger Babylog[®] 8000 plus, Drager Medical, Lubeck, Germany) at pressures of 4-8 cm H₂O and a flow 8 L/min have been compared (33). The noise was measured in the oral cavity of a newbom manikin in an incubator in a quiet environment. The Vapotherm HHFNC generated the highest noise level (81.2-91.4 dBAw). The Fisher & Paykel HHFNC noise levels were between 78.8 and 81.2 dBA and the CPAP device between 73.9 and 77.4 dBA. In a recently reported randomised crossover trial, the noise generated by HHFNC and nCPAP were similar (mean 70 versus 74 dBA, p = 0.18) (32). All noise levels were above the current recommendations of the American Academy of Pediatrics (34).

CONCLUSION

There is insufficient evidence to support the routine use of HHFNC for premature infants and further research is required.

CONTRIBUTOR STATEMENT

Both authors were involved in the conception and writing of the article.

COMPETING INTERESTS

AG has held grants from various ventilator manufacturers and received honoraria for giving lectures and advising various ventilator manufacturers. The research was supported by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Biomedical Research Centre based at Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London. The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the National Health Service, the NIHR or the Department of Health.

FUNDING

AG is an National Institute for Health Research Senior Investigator.

References

- Dysart K, Miller TL, Wolfson MR, Shaffer TH. Research in high flow therapy: mechanisms of action. *Respir Med* 2009; 103: 1400-5.
- Saslow JG, Aghai ZH, Nakhla TA, Hart JJ, Lawrysh R, Stahl GE, et al. Work of breathing using high-flow nasal cannula in preterm infants. J Perinatol 2006; 26: 476–80.
- Spence KL, Murphy D, Kilian C, McGonigle R, Kilani RA. High-flow nasal cannula as a device to provide continuous positive airway pressure in infants. J Perinatol 2007; 27: 772-
- Kubicka ZJ, Limauro J, Darnall RA. Heated, humidified highflow nasal cannula therapy: yet another way to deliver continuouspositive airway pressure? *Pediatrics* 2008; 121: 82–8.
- Lampland AL, Plumm B, Meyers PA, Worwa CT, Mammel MC. Observational study of humidified high-flow nasal cannula compared with nasal continuous positive airway pressure. *J Pediatr* 2009; 154: 177–82.
- Finer NN, Mannino FL. High-flow nasal cannula: a kinder, gentler CPAP? J Pediatr 2009; 154: 160–2.
- Centre for Disease Control Prevention (CDC). Ralstonia associated with Vapotherm oxygen delivery device. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2005; 54: 1052–3.
- Shoe maker MT, Pierce MR, Yoder BA, DiGeronimo RJ. High flow nasal carnula versus nasal CPAP for neonatal respiratory disease: a retrospective study. J Perinatol 2007; 27: 85–91.

Shetty and Greencugh

- Hough JL, Shearman AD, Jardine LA, Davies MW. Humidified high flow nasal cannulae: current practice in Australian nurseries, a survey. J Paediatr Child Health 2012; 48: 106–13.
- numeries, a survey. J Paramatr Critica Heatan 2012; 48: 106–15.
 Nath P, Ponnusamy V, Willis K, Bissett L, Clarke P. Current practices of high and low flow oxygen therapy and humidification of UK neonatal units. Padiatr Int 2010; 52:893–4.
- Ojha S, Gridley E, Dorling J. Use of heated humidified high-flow nasal cannula oxygen in neonates: a UK wide survey. *Acta Paediatr* 2013: 102: 249–53.
- Sreenan C, Lemke RP, Hudson-Mason A, Osiovich H. High-flow nasal cannulae in the management of apnea of prematurity: a comparison with conventional nasal continuous position a impurpressure. *Bediated* 2001;107:1001.
- positive airway pressure. Padiatrics 2001; 107: 1081-3.
 13. Sivieri EM, Gerdes JS, Abbasi S. Effect of HFNC flow rate, cannula size, and nares diameter on generated airway pressures: an in vitro study. Padiatr Pubmonol 2013; 48: 506-14.
- In Vito study. Future Futurosci. 2015; 40: 500–14.
 Wilkinson DJ, Andersen CC, Smith K, Holberton J. Pharyngeal pressure with high-flow nasal cannulae in premature infants. *I Britistical* 2008: 28: 42-7.
- J. Perinatol 2008; 28: 42–7.
 Volsko TA, Fedor K, Amadei J, Chatburn RL. High flow through a nasal cannula and CPAP effect in a simulated infant model. *Respir Care* 2011; 56: 1893–900.
- Collins CL, Holberton JR, König K. Comparison of the pharyngeal pressure provided by two heated, humidified high-flow nasal cannulae devices in premature infants. *J Paediatr Child Health* 2013; 49: 554–6.
- DeJongh BE, Locke R, Mackley A, Emberger J, Bostick D, Stefano J, et al. Work of breathing indices in infants with respiratory insufficiency receiving high-flow nasal annula and nasal continuous positive airway pressure. J Pertnatol 2014; 34:27–32.
- Sun S, Tero R. Safety and efficacy of the Vapotherm 2000i in the neonatal population. *Respir Care* 2004; 49:1384.
- Nair G, Karna P. Comparison of the effects of vapotherm and nasal CPAP in respiratory distress. PAS 2005; 57: 2054.
- Iranpour R, Sadeghnia A, Hesaraki M. High-flow nasal cannula versus nasal continuous positive airway pressure in the management of respiratory distress syndrome. J Isfahan Med Sch 2011; 29: 761–71.
- Abdel-Hady H, Shouman B, Aly H. Early weaning from CPAP to high flow rasal cannula in preterm infants is associated with prolonged oxygen requirement: a randomized controlled trial. *Early Hum Dev* 2011; 87: 205–8.
- Fernandez-Alvarez JR, Gandhi RS, Amess P, Mahoney L, Watkins R, Rabe H. Heated humidified high-flow nasal cannula versus low-flow nasal cannula as wearing mode from nasal CPAP in infants <28 weeks of gestation. Eur J Pediatr 2014; 173: 93-8.

Heated humidified high-flow nasa I cannulae

- Holleman-Duray D, Kaupie D, Weiss MG. Heated humidified high-flow nasal cannula: use and a neonatal early extubation protocol. J Parinatol 2007; 27: 776–81.
- Manley BJ, Owen LS, Doyle LW, Andersen CC, Cartwright DW, Pritchard MA, et al. High-flow nasal cannulae in very preterm infants after extubation. N Engl J Med 2013; 369: 1425-33.
- Yoder B, Stoddard R, Li M, King J, Dimberger D, Abbasi S. Heated, humidified high-flow nasal cannula versus nasal CPAP for respiratory support in neonates. *Padiatrics* 2013; 131: e1482–90.
- Collins CL, Holberton JR, Barfield C, Davis PG. A randomized controlled trial to compare heated humidified high-flow nasal cannulae with nasal continuous positive airway pressure postextubation in premature infants. J Pediatr 2013; 162: 949-54.
- Campbell DM, Shah PS, Shah V, Kelly EN. Nasal continuous positive airway pressure from high flow cannula versus Infant Flow for preterm infants. *J Parinatol* 2006; 26: 546–9.
 Wilkinson D, Andersen C, O'Donnell CP, De Paoli AG. High
- Wilkinson D, Andersen C, O'Donnell CP, De Paoli AG. High flow nasal cannula for respiratory support in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2011; 5: CD006405.
- Woodhead DD, Lambert DK, Clark JM, Christensen RD. Comparing two methods of delivering high-flow gas therapy by nasal cannula following endotracheal extubation: a prospective, randomized, masked, crossover trial. J Perinatol 2006; 26: 481–5.
- Miller SM, Dowd SA. High-flow nasal cannula and extubation success in the premature infant: a comparison of two modalities. J Parinatol 2010; 30: 805–8.
- Collins CL, Barfield C, Horne RS, Davis PG. A comparison of nasal trauma in preterm infants extubated to either hented humidified high-flow nasal cantulae or nasal continuous positive airway pressure. *Eur J Pediatr* 2014; 173: 181-6.
 Klingenberg C, Pettersen M, Hansen EA, Gustavsen LJ,
- Klingenberg C, Pettersen M, Hansen EA, Gustavsen LJ, Dahl IA, Leknessund A, et al. Patient comfort during treatment with heated humidified high flow rasal cannulae versus nasal continuous positive airway pressure: a randomized cross-over trial. Arch Dis Child Retal Noonatal Ed 2014; 99: F134-7.
- König K, Stock EL, Jarvis M. Noise levels of neonatal high-flow nasal cannula devices - an in-vitro study. Neonatology 2013; 103: 264–7.
- American Academy of Pediatrics. Committee on Environmental Health. Noise: a hazard for the fetus and newborn. Padiatrics 1997; 100: 724–7.